

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies
Collection

2019

Effective Manufacturers' Strategies for Service Innovations

Zebulon Fox Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the <u>Business Administration</u>, <u>Management</u>, and <u>Operations Commons</u>, and the <u>Management Sciences and Quantitative Methods Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Zebulon Fox

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Denise Land, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Rocky Dwyer, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Neil Mathur, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2019

Abstract

Effective Manufacturers' Strategies for Service Innovations

by

Zebulon P. Fox

MA, Trident University, 2010

BA, American InterContinental University, 2006

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2019

Abstract

In the United States, more than 50% of managers offering services in the manufacturing industry report failed service initiatives. The purpose of this multiple case study was to explore strategies that manufacturing managers used to sustain their business for longer than 5 years. The population consisted of 3 manufacturing organization managers offering business services to support petroleum and coal companies who have sustained their business operations in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States for longer than 5 years. Data were collected from semistructured interviews and organization documents were analyzed through the perspective of the strategic service innovation theory conceptual framework. Yin's 5-step process for data analysis: compiling, disassembling, reassembling, interpreting, and concluding was used to identify multiple themes through data saturation. Multiple themes emerged from data analysis, including service innovation strategies such as strategic innovation and competitive advantage, customerfocus strategies including customer's needs and providing solutions, resource strategies consisting of internal resources and knowledge resources, and external network strategies including external market and relationships. Managers in the manufacturing industry can use the findings of this study to improve business practices by implementing strategies to offer services through service innovation processes, developing customer focus, considering resources, and leveraging external networks. The findings of this study may be used to affect positive social change to improve socioeconomic conditions by increasing employment opportunities for residents of communities with petroleum and coal manufacturing companies in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States.

Effective Manufacturers' Strategies for Service Innovations

by

Zebulon P. Fox

MA, Trident University, 2010

BA, American InterContinental University, 2006

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2019

Dedication

This research is dedicated to the ladies who always pushed me to be a better man, in order of age: Grandma Fox, Aunty Shirley, Auntie Pauline, Mom, Mrs. Evangelina Melo, Auntie Cheryl, my wife Stephanie, and my baby girl Eva. Also, I am dedicating this research to the gentlemen who drove me to work hard to earn a place in this world, in order of age: Grandpa Fox, Uncle Danny, Uncle Roy, Dad, Mr. Januario Melo, Brian, Kyle, and my son Bronson. Scott, in your own way drove me to this day, too. Thank you to the ladies and gentlemen in my family for your love and support over the past 40 years. You inspired me to be better even when I struggled!

It is not the critic who counts; not the man who points out how the strong man stumbles, or where the doer of deeds could have done them better. The credit belongs to the man who is actually in the arena, whose face is marred by dust and sweat and blood; who strives valiantly; who errs, who comes short again and again, because there is no effort without error and shortcoming; but who does actually strive to do the deeds; who knows great enthusiasms, the great devotions; who spends himself in a worthy cause; who at the best knows in the end the triumph of high achievement, and who at the worst, if he fails, at least fails while daring greatly, so that his place shall never be with those cold and timid souls who neither know victory nor defeat. - Theodore Roosevelt.

Acknowledgments

So many people contributed to my completion of this academic journey. First, I need to thank my wife Stephanie, thank you for all you did out of love to support my academic pursuits. I thought of you in every step of this journey, foot by foot. I love you for eternity!

Thank you to my chair, Dr. Denise Land, for her mentorship. I am blessed by Dr. Land's willingness to guide me through this rigorous academic confidence course. Thank you to my second chair Dr. Rocky Dwyer and URR Dr. Neil Mathur. Thank you to the participants. I appreciate your valuable time and contributions to this research study! I would not have completed this study without your support.

Thank you to all the people who took the time to mentor me, thank you for taking a chance on me and teaching me to learn from my mistakes. Thank you to some key mentors, including Coach Quigley, Bob LaCasse, Chris Jackson, Bryce, COL Carra (US Army Retired), Captian Sella (US Coast Guard Retired), LTC Maddry, CCJ4-O-JPO staff, and all my mentors at VA. Thank you to our Nation's Veterans, without your defense of our constitutional rights, we lack the freedom required for academic pursuit.

Mom and Dad thank you for initiating my academic journey. My completion of this degree was rooted in your exhaustive labors and work ethics. I love you both! I owe my completion of this degree to the support and love of my wife, Stephanie, and children, Bronson and Eva. I earned this degree only with their support, encouragement, snacks and coffee, good-night kisses, hugs, patience, prayers, and sacrifices of time without me. I love you with all I am! I earned this degree to make the best life I can for us.

Table of Contents

Lis	st of Tables	V
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem Statement	2
	Purpose Statement	3
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	5
	Interview Questions	5
	Conceptual Framework	6
	Operational Definitions	6
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
	Assumptions	7
	Limitations	8
	Delimitations	8
	Significance of the Study	9
	Value to Businesses	9
	Contribution to Business Practice	. 10
	Implications for Social Change	. 10
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	11
	Foundational Conceptual Framework	. 12
	Competing Theories	. 14

	Managers Control Innovation Based on Strategy	21
	Managers' Role in Strategy	23
	Managers Role in Service Innovation	30
	Employees' Relationships	32
	Dual Organization	33
	Informal Interaction for Ideas	34
	Service Innovation as a Strategic Process	34
	Integrated Product and Service Offerings	44
	Strategy Inspired Employees	46
	Standardization	48
	Transition	51
Se	ection 2: The Project	54
	Purpose Statement	54
	Role of the Researcher	55
	Participants	57
	Research Method and Design	59
	Research Method	59
	Research Design.	62
	Population and Sampling	63
	Sampling	63
	Data Saturation	64
	Interview Setting	65

	Ethical Research	67
	Data Collection Instruments	69
	Data Collection Technique	71
	Data Organization Technique	75
	Data Analysis	77
	Reliability and Validity	79
	Reliability	79
	Validity	81
	Transition and Summary	84
Se	ction 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	87
	Introduction	87
	Presentation of the Findings	87
	Theme 1: Service Innovation Strategies	88
	Theme 2: Customer-Focus Strategies	100
	Theme 3: Resources Consideration Strategies	112
	Theme 4: External Networks Strategies	119
	Applications to Professional Practice	127
	Implications for Social Change	130
	Recommendations for Action	131
	Recommendations for Further Research	135
	Reflections	137
	Conclusion	138

References	140
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	173
Appendix B: Interview Questions	177

List of Tables

Table 1. Findings for Theme 1, Service Innovation	89
Table 2. Findings for Theme 2, Customer-Focus	100
Table 3. Findings for Theme 3, Resources Consideration	112
Table 4. Findings for Theme 4, External Networks	120

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Often, managers in the manufacturing industry seek new strategies to overcome globalized market threats of increased product price competition and the need to add value to products to sustain business operations (Sakyi-Gyinae & Holmlund, 2018).

Some manufacturing managers seek opportunities to enter services markets as a strategy to sustain business operations (Ha, Lee, & Kim, 2016). Manufacturing managers take advantage of service-based innovation strategies to successfully offer business services to sustain business operations (Yang & Hou, 2015). Many manufacturing managers seek strategic service innovations to overcome barriers to gaining a competitive advantage in the manufacturing industry as well as services offerings.

Background of the Problem

Manufacturing managers strategically innovate to overcome severe economic decline challenges by leaving traditional product offerings to change to new services offerings (Martin-Rios & Parga-Dans, 2016). Additionally, manufacturing managers changed organizational structure, organizational culture, and customer relationships to sustain a competitive advantage to meet customers' demands for increased service innovation (Valtakoski, 2017). In the energy industry, managers seek strategies to sustain a competitive advantage in the global economy despite increasing the risk of economic shocks (Broadstock, Fan, Ji, & Zhang, 2016). Manufacturing managers seek innovative strategies to overcome barriers to sustain a competitive advantage by providing services to customers.

Since the 2008 financial crisis, managers of energy companies focusing on manufacturing production of fossil fuel products face economic challenges due to decreased demand and increasingly restrictive regulations throughout the global economy (Wang, Ma, Song, & Liu, 2017). Manufacturing managers at energy companies follow the strategy trends amongst manufacturers to change the focus of providing products to providing product service systems and other service offerings as means to sustain competitive advantage (Benedetti, Cesarotti, Holgado, Introna, & Macchi, 2015). Manufacturing managers of energy companies, traditionally dependent on energy commodities as a source of revenue, experience barriers when transitioning a product-focused strategy for providing services for energy solutions (Helms, 2016). Energy companies' manufacturing managers need effective strategies to overcome barriers to offer services to sustain business operations (Benedetti et al., 2015).

Problem Statement

In the United States, the majority of manufacturing managers respond to growing product market threats by offering services to sustain their business (Brax & Visintin, 2017). However, less than 50% of those manufacturing managers offering services reported successful service-based innovation initiatives (Benedettini, Neely, & Swink, 2015). The general business problem was that some manufacturing managers invest in services-based initiatives without effective strategies resulting in decreased longevity of business operations. The specific business problem was that some manufacturing managers offering business services lack effective service-based innovation strategies to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, multiple case study was to explore effective service-based innovation strategies that manufacturing managers used to offer business services to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years. The target population for this study was manufacturing managers who offer business services from three petroleum and coal manufacturing companies, and who have sustained their business in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States longer than 5 years. The implication for positive social change includes the potential to provide manufacturing managers with strategies to increase the longevity of business operations, thereby positively affecting the socioeconomic conditions of communities relying on manufacturing. Other manufacturing managers may be able to use the findings this study to achieve sustainable employment opportunities and positively affect the economic opportunities of the residents of the local communities.

Nature of the Study

I selected a qualitative research method for this study. Researchers use qualitative research methods to develop meaning from human experiences by focusing on answering *what*, *how*, or *why* questions about a social phenomenon (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). Using a qualitative method allowed for the exploration of effective service-based innovation strategies managers of manufacturing businesses use to succeed in business. Roy, Zvonkovic, Goldberg, Sharp, and LaRossa (2015) discussed that each qualitative research participant contributes his or her constructive unit of analysis.

A quantitative research method was not appropriate for this study because the purpose of this study was to construct meaning from human experiences, not to identify the cause-and-effect of variables. Quantitative researchers conduct studies to examine relationships and differences among variables by developing and testing hypotheses through statistical testing from samples (Gibson, 2017). A mixed method was not appropriate for this study because the purpose of this study was to identify what effective service-based innovation strategies manufacturing managers offering services use to sustain their business. Qualitative researchers study social phenomenon, such as strategies, instead of developing and testing hypothesis or combining qualitative and quantitative methods in a mixed method study (Palinkas et al., 2016).

For this study, I used a multiple case study design to describe effective service-based innovation strategies of manufacturing managers offering services to sustain their business beyond 5 years. Fusch, Fusch, and Ness (2017) defined case study as a research design some researchers use to describe strategies and processes in context bounded by environment and time. Researchers use case study research designs to describe complex social experiences, to understand *how* and *why* outcomes happen (Yin, 2018).

Researchers use a phenomenological design to explore human experiences of a shared event (Noon & Hallam, 2018). Therefore, phenomenological research was not appropriate for this study. Researchers conduct ethnography studies to capture a shared phenomenon of a cultural group through immersion in the cultural context (Lichterman, 2017). The purpose of this study was to explore service-based innovations strategies, which did not require immersion into a cultural group context.

Research Question

The primary research question for this study was: What effective service-based innovation strategies do manufacturing managers, offering business services, use to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years?

Interview Questions

- 1. What service-based innovation strategies did you use to create a competitive advantage over your competitors with your service offerings?
- 2. How did you use service-based innovation strategies to offer business services to customers?
- 3. What guidance did you provide stakeholders to implement and control service-based innovation strategies?
- 4. How did you use resources to implement service-based innovation strategies?
- 5. What market conditions challenges did you overcome to implement service-based innovation strategies?
- 6. How did you organize your business to generate service-based innovations you use to sustain your business?
- 7. How did you assess the effectiveness of the service-based innovation strategies you used?
- 8. What other experiences about service-based innovation strategies would you like to share?

Conceptual Framework

I used a conceptual framework consisting of strategic service innovation theory for this study. In 1997, Sundbo described the strategic service innovation theory, for characterizing the evolution of services in businesses by managers organizing and controlling the service innovation process through strategic considerations. Sundbo (1997) identified the following key tenets of strategic service innovation theory: (a) service innovation was a strategic process controlled by managers, (b) standardization provides competitive advantage, (c) manager's consideration for external market conditions and internal resources, and (d) dual organization consisting of a combination of employees and customers interactions with managers' strategic guidance to produce innovative ideas. Strategic service innovation theory was applicable and fit this study as a conceptual framework because strategic service innovation theory reflects managers' using a firm's strategy to guide the service innovation process with considerations towards standardization as a competitive advantage, market conditions, internal resources, and generating innovation ideas from employees and customers.

Operational Definitions

Mid-Atlantic region of the United States: This region consists of six states including Delaware, Maryland, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Virginia, and West Virginia (Wang, Lee, Agbemabiese, Zame, & Kang, 2015).

Petroleum and coal manufacturing companies: These companies consist of the manufacturing companies who transform petroleum or coal products into usable products, including petroleum refineries, asphalt paving, roofing, saturated materials,

lubricants, coal, and other manufactured products supporting petroleum or coal industry (U.S. Census Bureau, 2017).

Servitization: The process manufacturers use to replace product sales with valuecreating relationships by implementing innovative strategies to offer services to gain a competitive advantage (Baines, 2015).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Researchers used assumptions to communicate information accepted as common sense, but not established as facts (Noble & Smith, 2015). Researchers identify assumptions to avoid misconceptions about knowledge assumed as common sense (Cleland, 2017; Davidson, Thompson, & Harris, 2017). My first assumption was that participants and researchers were competent and spoke authentically based on their actual experiences. Researchers conducting qualitative studies assume participants competence and authenticity in describing their perspectives (Yanchar, 2015). My second assumption for this qualitative study was that interviewees provided responses to address the research question. Researchers assume participants questioned answer the research question (Smith & McGannon, 2018). My third assumption was that the data collected from organizational documents was true as presented. My fourth assumption was that qualitative research was the correct research method to answer the research topic. My fifth assumption was that at least three managers forming three cases would participate in this multiple case study. Based on the five assumptions, I assumed the analysis and findings of this study represented the data provided.

Limitations

Researchers identify limitations in studies to account for any weakness not within the researcher's control, which can affect the findings of the study (Price & Murnan, 2004). The first limitation of this study was that personal bias may have unintentionally occurred during data collection or data analysis. Qualitative researchers mitigate the influence of personal bias by bracketing personal experiences (Moustakas, 1994). Qualitative researchers member-check to avoid personal bias by sharing the interpretations of the analyzed data with participants to ensure the accuracy of the data analysis (Birt, Scott, Cavers, Campbell, & Walter, 2016). I reduced personal bias by bracketing my experiences and member checking. However, some bias may not have been controllable within the study. The second limitation was the availability of manufacturing managers to complete interviews, respond to follow-up questions, and member checking. The third limitation was the availability of company documents. Managers may have limited document sharing or a limited portion of the documents available for this study. The fourth limitation was that the data presented by participants was not generalizable to all manufacturing managers.

Delimitations

Qualitative researchers establish delimitations to show the boundaries of the study, including how findings can and cannot add to the field of knowledge (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Researchers identify limitations and boundaries within a study, so future researchers understand the constraints affecting the study findings, and to shape future research (Moore, McKee, & McLoughlin, 2015). Selected boundaries for this study

participant selection for interviews. The geographic area of this study was the mid-Atlantic region of the United States, which may reduce the generalizability of results. The population of the study was manufacturing managers offering business services, from three petroleum and coal manufacturing companies, who have sustained their business in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States more than 5 years. The selected conceptual framework for this study was strategic service innovation theory. Researchers use the conceptual framework as the theoretical lens to view the research question (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I selected the participants for this study from a small sample, whose experiences may not be generalizable to the larger population.

Significance of the Study

Value to Businesses

The findings from this study may be of value to business managers for developing strategies, policies, and processes to increase the success of manufacturing business service initiatives. Business managers sustain their business through the use of effective strategies (Ting, 2015). Business managers may gain value from effective service-based innovation strategies from the findings of this study.

The implications of this study describing service-based innovation strategies managers of petroleum and coal manufacturing businesses used to succeed may be significant to a broad and general business audience, including manufacturing managers from other industries facing economic decline. Business managers' ability to create effective strategies was valuable to the longevity of high-level organizational

performance (Popa & Miricescu, 2015). The findings of this study may affect the development of effective manufacturing business strategies for managers to develop and implement service-based innovations to create a competitive advantage.

Contribution to Business Practice

Business managers often evolve more successful business strategies to ensure the longevity of their business (Napolitano, Marino, & Ojala, 2015). Business managers could use the findings of this study to understand what effective strategies managers of manufacturing business offering services use to sustain their business successfully beyond 5 years and replicate those strategies to contribute to effective business practices to increase the longevity of manufacturing business. The broader business manager populations may be able to use the findings of the multiple case study to develop and deploy effective strategies within their markets to increase the longevity of the business success. Business managers can improve their business' value by benchmarking successful business strategies (Opresnik & Taisch, 2015). Business managers could use the results of this study to emulate effective strategies for long-term competitiveness within their industries and perhaps, the broader U.S. and global markets.

Implications for Social Change

Business managers may use the results of this study to contribute to positive social change by providing increased business longevity, socioeconomic sustainability, and employment opportunities for residents of communities with petroleum and coal manufacturing companies in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States. For example, leaders in mining communities ensure long-term socioeconomic sustainability by

planning for alternative economic opportunities to counter business declines in coal manufacturing (Fordham, Robinson, & Blackwell, 2017). Additionally, managers who succeed in sustaining their business beyond 5 years, can increase employment opportunities (Strydom, 2017). According to the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (2015), on average, managers whose business successfully remained in business for 5 years showed double the employment opportunities of their manufacturing businesses over the same 5-year period. Managers of manufacturing businesses offering services may adopt effective service-based innovation strategies to enable more businesses to be competitive in the broader United States and global markets with concomitant increases in employment opportunities in their communities, organizations, institutions, cultures, or societies.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The focus of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore effective service-based innovation strategies that manufacturing managers used to offer business services to sustain their business. I conducted a thorough review of the literature to establish the foundation of this study by exploring themes of service-based innovation strategies manufacturing managers use to sustain their business.

Researchers develop persuasive arguments through the review of the academic literature (Liao, Deschamps, Loures, & Ramos, 2017). Even though the focus of the study was effective service-based innovation strategies manufacturing managers used to sustain their business, reviewing literature involving competing frameworks, service-based

innovation, and service-based manufacturing strategies provided a holistic perspective for the foundation of the study.

I used several key terms, including strategic service innovation theory, services innovation strategy, manufacturer services innovation, servitization, and manufacturer services strategy, to research relevant scholarly literature to develop a holistic view needed to support the study. I used multiple academic databases available through Walden University, including ProQuest, EBSCO, and Business Source Complete. I used Google Scholar as the primary search engine to find scholarly articles to add context to the foundation of this study, including the Google Scholar site linked to Walden University online library. I verified peer-reviewed literature by searching for evidence of peer review through Ulrich's Web Global Serials Directory searches. Also, I visited the home page of the academic journals to ensure the literature was peer-reviewed and published between 2015 and 2019. I used some non-peer reviewed sources as well as some peer-reviewed articles published before 2015, such as government sources and seminal works, to show the history of a conceptual work or to add historical analysis to the context of the literature review. This literature review exceeded the required minimum of both 85% of peer-reviewed references with 99% peer-reviewed and 85% of references published between 2015 and 2019 with 93%.

Foundational Conceptual Framework

Qualitative researchers use a conceptual framework to provide clarity on key issues and describe the application of elements of the conceptual framework into practice (Hammad & Hallinger, 2017). To frame a research question for a study, researchers must

look at academic works previous scholars used to develop a full understanding of a similar topic (Dasgupta, 2015). Qualitative researchers develop themes from patterns to provide detailed descriptions of the phenomenon through a framework (Onwuegbuzie & Weinbaum, 2017). The conceptual framework that previous researchers used to study service-based innovation strategies used by manufacturing managers offering business services was strategic service innovation. The conceptual framework for this study was strategic service innovation theory.

In 1997, Sundbo developed strategic service innovation theory, which describes managers' strategic development of innovative services in business. Rapaccini and Visintin (2015) discussed how researchers considered the business value proposition as a product or service offerings as a function to satisfy the customers' needs, the source of competitive strategy. Sundbo (1997) sought to answer two research questions: (a) if services firms innovate, and (b) how service firms organize and manage the innovation process. Sundbo found that managers of service firms innovate and use strategy to manage the service innovation process. Sundbo's research led to the establishment of strategic service innovation as a conceptual framework that researchers use to understand how managers use strategy to manage service-based innovations offerings to customers. Manufacturing managers seeking effective means to provide service innovations to sustain their business may use this conceptual framework to understand the strategic service innovation process.

Competing Theories

Qualitative researchers explore a business problem through a specific conceptual lens chosen to view the phenomena. Strategic service innovation was an appropriate conceptual lens to explore the business problem for this study, which was that some manufacturing managers offering business services lack effective service-based innovation strategies to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years. Researchers exploring manufacturing managers' strategies to innovate to offer services used several competing conceptual frameworks, including (a) Barney's (1991) resource-based view (Story, Raddats, Burton, Zolkiewski, & Baines, 2017), (b) Miles's (1993) service innovation (Patricio, Gustafsson, & Fisk, 2018), and (c) Porter's (1991) strategy (Rabetino, Kohtamaki, & Gebauer, 2017). While some researchers used different theories to explore what strategies managers used to innovate services offerings, Sundbo's (1997) conceptual framework, strategic service innovation, incorporates elements of each of the competing theories. Sundbo recognized that researchers failed to address the full scope of effective service-based innovation strategies within each conceptual or theoretical framework.

Resource-based view as a conceptual framework. Researchers analyzed strategic innovations that manufacturers used to offer services through the lens of the manager's strategy for using resources (Benedettini et al., 2015; Lutjen, Tietze, & Schultz, 2017). Wernerfelt (1984) explored how managers strategically manage resources, instead of products, to improve profitability, using a theory known as resource-based view theory. Barney (1991) further expanded on resource-based view theory by describing how managers use strategy to sustain a competitive advantage by choosing a

business offering comprised of limited, unique, and non-substitutable resources.

Benedettini et al. (2015) used resource-based view theory to explore strategies that manufacturers used to offer services in addition to manufacturing products. Researchers using resource-based view theory on manufacturers' strategies focused on business managers' use of resources to compete. Therefore, the researchers failed to answer what effective service-based innovation strategies managers used to sustain their business.

In contrast to some researchers use of a resource-based view exploring manufacturers' use of resource strategies to offering services, not all researchers agreed on the use of a resource-based view to study manufacturers' strategies for providing services. Raddats, Burton, and Ashman (2015) eliminated the resource-based view as an appropriate theory to examine manufacturers' servitization because the researchers found that firms might not own all the resources supporting a competitive advantage. Lutjen et al.'s (2017) exploration of the stages of manufacturers' service innovations required external resources to innovate to offer business services. Barney's (1991) exploration of the resource-based view required managers to possess resources to sustain competitive advantage; however, Lutjen et al.'s (2017) and Raddats et al.'s (2015) findings suggest a manager may not possess all resources required to sustain a competitive advantage. While managers use resources to determine their organization's competitive advantage, researchers who used resource-based view neither explained how manufacturing managers implement services into their business offerings, nor addressed how manufacturing managers use service-based innovation strategies.

Service innovation as a conceptual framework. Researchers used service innovation to explain how business managers innovate service offering (Gebauer, Joncourt, & Saul, 2016; Hakanen, Helander, & Valkokari, 2017). Miles (1993) first described the modern view of service innovation through changes in technology that allowed managers to transcend services beyond the traditional compartmentalization of services versus products boundaries and international borders. However, Sundbo (1997) argued that managers developing service innovations used technology to provide service offerings, as service providers used technology to innovate services, not become a service. Miles (1993) suggested manufacturers and service providers move toward the center of the products versus services spectrum. Manufacturers increase flexibility similar to the services end of the spectrum and service providers standardizes services with technological innovations similar to product manufacturers' pole (Gebauer et al., 2016). Researchers' opinions differ on how manufacturing managers, who provide services, perform service innovation.

Researchers used service innovation as a conceptual framework to view manufacturers' innovations for offering services to focus on the employees' relationship with the customer (Hakanen et al., 2017). For example, Lutjen et al. (2017) explored innovations leading to the development of the four-step process, including: first, partnering with customers to identify service needs; second, determining if customers' jobs are part of a more extensive process; third, determining what opportunities are available to complete the jobs; and fourth, determining what resources need investment into the service innovation.

Similarly, Kuijken, Gemser, and Wijnberg's (2017) quantitative research results showed growth through a focused strategy on product service systems with product and service elements managers combined to provide synergetic value to satisfying customers. Kuijken et al.'s research supported Raddats et al.'s (2015) focus on service innovation through satisfying customers' needs with investment in resources. Manufacturing managers' intense focus on meeting customers' needs to provide service offerings was the focus of the service innovation conceptual framework.

Manufacturing managers must consider more than customers in developing effective strategies to offer services. While Kuijken et al. (2017) explored the opportunity, innovation, customers, and resources for service innovations, the researchers failed to explore how manufacturing managers used the processes. Managers' focus on technology (Miles, 1993) and customers (Sakyi-Gyinae & Holmlund, 2018) in the service innovation process are essential elements in exploring manufacturers' service-based strategies. In contrast, Sundbo (1997) considered technology and information about customers' preferences as strategic inputs manufacturing managers used to offer services. Therefore, manufacturing managers do not only consider technology or customers when providing services; instead, managers require more strategic elements to gain effective service-based innovation strategies to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years.

Strategy as a conceptual framework. Since the 1960s, many researchers contributed to differing perspectives to the academic field of business strategy (Beamish & Lupton, 2016). However, most researchers, including Porter (1991) and Mintzberg (1978), agreed on one common element: managers develop strategies to overcome

business challenges. Mintzberg defined strategy as an advance plan with the purpose to overcome challenges. Effective manufacturing managers develop strategies to overcome challenges to offer services; however, researchers disagree about which strategy was appropriate for manufacturing managers to overcome barriers to offer services.

Researchers established a spectrum of opposing perspectives on strategy, including a transcendent pole consisting of strategy based on analytical competencies, long-term vision, and deliberate intention, and the opposing immanent pole consisting of strategy based on speculation and emergence of unintended order (Barrett, Davidson, Prabhu, & Vargo, 2015). Sundbo's (1997) strategic service innovation concept incorporates elements from both spectrum poles, as researchers find analytical processes, unexpected opportunities, and threats to be sources of strategies to innovate from a solely manufacturing business to providing service offerings.

Other competing conceptual frameworks. Researchers developed competing concepts to explore strategies that show how manufacturers offer services. Vernon's (1979) life cycle theory stages, including introduction, growth, maturity, and decline stages allowed researchers to focus on product manufacturers transitioning to service offerings based on individual life cycle stages. Eloranta and Turunen (2015) opined that manufacturing managers take responsibility for developing the most effective and efficient value-creating service system for the business and customers by transitioning from products to services. Cusumano, Kahl, and Suarez (2015) argued that manufacturers providing services overcome the concept that manufacturers only provide services to complement products, by suggesting manufacturing managers who provide services

could build new markets or enter different markets in various product and services lifecycle phases.

Sundbo's (1997) research did not differ between product phases to determine strategies for when managers should enter into services markets. While providing an alternative conceptual framework to explore service innovations, lifecycle theory, Cusumano et al. (2015) focused only on products in a mature phase and did not provide an answer to the research question of this study. Examining product life cycles to determine strategies when managers enter into service offerings fails to answer the research question of this study.

Other researchers explored the topic of manufacturers entering service markets through the lens of several competing theories. Cusumano et al. (2015) expanded on the understanding of manufacturers providing services, known as servitization, by developing a competing conceptual framework to strategic service innovation to explain strategies manufacturing managers should implement when offering services. Kuijken et al. (2017) examined servitization from a value-based framework and found that transitioning from providing a product integrating offering services was a challenging process. Raddats et al. (2015) explored, through a single case study, how a manufacturer's innovation allowed integrated product service offerings through three means, including: (a) products and services as one sale, (b) products and services as separate sales, and (c) services as a separate individual sale. While other researchers explored the topic of manufacturers entering service markets through several competing theories, the researchers failed to answer the research question of this study.

However, researchers explored manufacturers entering service markets through servitization conceptual lens similar to strategic service innovation. For example, Rabetino et al. (2017) further refined a strategy map of servitization to four general elements, including (a) finances, (b) customers, (c) internal resources, and (d) training. Rabetino et al.'s explanation of servitization concepts displayed similar concepts to Sundbo's (1997) findings, with the inclusion of strategy and customer relationships in the process of manufacturers providing business services. However, Rabetino et al. (2017) described servitization concepts with limited perspectives, including productivity and growth as separate strategies, and internal perspectives showed operations management processes, while Sundbo generalized strategy concepts. Sundbo focused on strategic service innovation concepts, including the strategic process controlled by managers, standardization, external markets, internal resources, and dual organization with employee and customer interactions leading to innovation. Similar to Sundbo's dual organization concept, Sakyi-Gyinae & Holmlund (2018) opined manufacturing managers seek a competitive advantage by innovating the manufacturing organization to increase focus to understand which customers value. Researchers (Sakyi-Gyinae & Holmlund, 2018) closely aligned their conceptual view with Sundbo. However, some researchers (Rabetino et al., 2017) only expanded upon specific elements of strategic service innovation lacking the holistic view Sundbo provided.

Researchers who discuss servitization focus on strategies related to the delivery of service offerings to customers. While researchers differ on the types of strategies manufacturing managers used, most agree that effective manufacturing managers who

provide business services focus on strategies to provide services or a combination of integrated products and services to customers. The research question of this study does not specify product-service differentiation, product-service configurations, or customer value to explain strategic service innovations; therefore, servitization conceptual elements are too specific for use as a conceptual framework for this study.

Managers Control Innovation Based on Strategy

To develop strategic service innovations in manufacturing businesses, managers control innovation through strategy to create value from service offerings from a productbased business. Sundbo (1997) relied on Porter's (1991) explanation of a manager's responsibility to develop a strategy to drive service innovations. Managers develop an overarching business strategy to overcome the challenge that managers were unable to engage in every decision made within an organization (Porter, 1991). Similarly, Stock, Jong, and Zacharias (2017) concluded managers' strategic leadership influenced a creative environment enabling subordinates' proactive innovations. The effectiveness of managers' strategies depends on the managers' development of an organizational culture conducive to services innovation, which managers control to change product-based businesses to ensure successful service innovations (Rabetino et al., 2017). Manufacturing managers-controlled business service innovations through the overarching strategy (Sundbo, 1997), which managers communicate to strategic stakeholders to ensure implementation of innovation strategy into subordinate's business decisions without manager's direct participation (Birken et al., 2015). Manufacturing managers effectively control service innovations based on strategies to influence services

innovative organizational culture and communication of the strategy with stakeholders to influence business decisions.

Managers manage an organization's innovations through strategy development. Managers design a portfolio of innovation by considering the business environment, market trends, risk analysis, strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and the application of resources to forge a competitive advantage (Tamayo-Torres, Gutiérrez -Gutiérrez, Llorens-Montes, & Martinez-Lopez, 2016). Similarly, Frow, Nenonen, Payne, and Storbacka (2015) suggested managers identify opportunity and allocate resources to strategically innovative to new services or products with customers taking an active role in the co-creation design process. For example, manufacturing managers strategically design services offerings through the application of resources to provide services in niche markets complimenting complex manufacturing processes, such as post-processing services in low volume parts (Strong, Sirichakwal, Manoghran, & Wakefield, 2017). Effective managers utilize organizational strategic design capabilities to develop innovations (Gerlitz, 2015). Managers following strategic service innovation concepts control innovations with business strategy.

In contrast, some researchers disagree with Sundbo's (1997) description of the importance of managers' control in the innovation process. For example, some managers used a horizontal business structure to enable employees to focus on customer service (Venkatesh & Singhal, 2017). Sundbo suggests innovation take place between customers and employees at the lowest level, with managers' control in the form of strategy.

Venkatesh and Singhal (2017) concluded managers should empower employees to

contribute to servitization innovations based on customer interaction with employees. Sundbo's description of the manager's role in the innovation process was in between the two management approaches. Additionally, Prajogo's (2016) examination of the external business environment affects the success of managers' innovation strategies of Australian manufacturers found managers with innovation strategies fitting the external business environment generated a successful innovation strategy. Prajogo's findings show the importance of strategic fit with the external business environment, which Sundbo captures this concept with employees developing innovation based on relationships with customers.

However, Sundbo (1997) broadened service innovations beyond strategic fit with the external environment, which Prajogo (2016) limited to quantitative findings. Despite some researchers, dissenting opinion of Sundbo's description of the importance of managers' control of innovation through strategy, both the researchers recognized managers control strategies to innovate through either employee empowerment (Venkatesh & Singhal, 2017), or strategic fit to the external environment (Prajogo, 2016). Managers engaged in service innovations exercise control over innovation strategies. The purpose of this study was not to measure the degree of control managers displayed in service innovations, but instead to explore how managers used service-based innovation strategies to offer services to sustain business beyond five years.

Managers' Role in Strategy

Managers are responsible for developing business strategy, including strategies to implement services offerings to customers. Jia, Tian, Yang, Sun, and Malik (2016)

examined the relationship between servitization and business performance, through statistical analysis of an international large-scale survey database. Jia et al. found that managers must ensure strategies fit the business core, as service improvement actions require high-cost investments that decrease business performance when the service improvement actions do not strategically fit. To establish a strategic fit to satisfy changing customers' needs, effective managers leverage organizational learning required for innovations to meet demands (Tamayo-Torres et al., 2016). Managers need to ensure a strategic fit between the business core and strategies through organization-wide changes and strategic foresight to offer services to future customers.

For example, Ford and Despeisse (2016) suggested from a multiple case study described the need for manufacturing managers to make business-wide changes to business strategy, technology, organizational structure, operations, and supply chains to take advantage of additive manufacturing as a service offering. Managers ensure strategic fit of both strategy and organizational-wide changes needed to satisfy future customers' needs. However, Venkatesh and Singhal (2017) suggested horizontal business structure approach for manager deciding on strategic changes needed to offer services. Jia et al. (2016) found service orientation of competitive strategy and improvement actions must fit strategically with each other to improve business performance. Managers took on many roles in strategic service innovation in manufacturing; however, some researchers agreed that effective manager's role in strategy involves responsibility for the strategic fit of the service offering in the business (Prajogo, 2016). In this study, managers' role in

strategy includes foresight to ensure strategic fit of service offerings based on strategy and business-wide changes.

Managers provide strategic guidance. One of the most important roles and responsibilities for managers' business strategy was to provide strategic guidance to ensure a competitive advantage (Ambroise, Prim-Allaz, & Teyssier, 2018). Managers of manufacturing business provided strategic guidance on how to pursue strategic service innovation (Sayar & Er, 2018). Porter (1991) recognized managers move organizations to favorable environments; which helps to explain why manufacturing managers provide guidance on strategies for employees to provide service offerings. Manufacturing managers guided the business pursuit of services as a strategy to gain a transformative relationship with customers providing a competitive advantage over competitors (Szasz, Demeter, Boer, & Cheng, 2017). When providing customers service offerings to improve business performance, managers developed a competitive strategy to fit service orientation and organizational improvement actions with each other (Jia et al., 2016).

Manufacturing managers provide strategic guidance when pursuing service offerings because managers' strategies misaligned to the organization present risk to business sustainment. Manufacturing managers gain knowledge of the risks to business sustainability when efforts to provide service offerings fail to follow an effective competitive strategy (He, Ho, Zhang, & Dey, 2016). For example, Benedettini et al. (2015) suggested offering services exposed manufacturers to different risks associated with demand volatility based on different customer needs and uncertainty of various operational functions. Manufacturing managers pursuing conflicting standardization and

customization approaches to offering services face multiple challenges to satisfying customers' needs and fail to reach business objectives through service offerings (Lenka, Parida, Sjodin, & Wincent, 2018). Manufacturing managers providing services seek long-term relationships with customers required overcoming barriers to customers' commitment, including getting the customer involved and developing technical and business competencies to continue to provide services (Coreynen, Matthyssens, & Van Bockhaven, 2017). Manufacturing managers provide strategic guidance to avoid risks in offering services to customers.

In controlling business risks, manufacturing managers provided strategic guidance to determine the magnitude of service offerings as either a service dependent product or a substitution for conventional services with a manufacturer's service-based product (Lee, Yoo, & Kim, 2016). Managers considered several key elements when providing strategic guidance for offering services, including differentiation, competitive strategy, relationships with customers, customer's needs, and product service functional design (Ambroise et al., 2018). Manufacturing managers used business strategies to offer services to gain a sustainable competitive advantage with business strategies to control market segment inputs, value chain development, financial resources, and focus on business sustainability (Alghisi & Saccani, 2015). For example, Ford and Despeisse (2016) recommended managers take advantage of additive manufacturing advancements and positive impacts to drive business sustainment. Manufacturing managers are responsible for providing strategic guidance to overcome barriers to risk in service innovations.

Competitive advantage. Manufacturing managers offer business services to gain a competitive advantage to sustain business operations. Manufacturing managers developed service offerings to sustain competitive advantage (Bustinza, Bigdeli, Baines, & Elliot, 2015). Ha et al.'s (2016) study consisted of Small and Medium Enterprise, SME, manufacturers engaged in servitization gained a competitive advantage through greater efficiency in business management, product planning, and product production process, than SME manufacturers without servitization in processes. Through comparison of cases, Lee et al. (2016) revealed two possible strategic paths for manufacturers gaining a competitive advantage by offering services, including integrating a service provider, or integrating goods and services, servitization. In contrast, Rau, Zbiek, and Jonas (2017) concluded manufacturing managers offering services created a competitive advantage through differentiation by a strategic process of establishing a value proposition to meet customers' needs. Manufacturing managers establish services offerings to seek competitive advantage and benefit from service offerings as a competitive advantage in sustaining the longevity of the business.

Researchers agree manufacturing managers seek opportunities within market conditions to initiate effective service strategies. Alghisi and Saccani (2015) suggested managers utilize networks to seize competitive advantage through service offerings by sensing opportunities and threats. Saul and Gebauer (2018) suggested manufacturing managers gain a competitive advantage by engaging customers with specific service offerings, which free customers' resources through reduced costs. Also, Ha et al. (2016) examined Korean manufacturing small and medium enterprise managers engaged in

servitization finding the manufacturing managers possessed efficiencies in several business processes than nonservitized businesses, including business management, product planning, and product production. Manufacturing managers control strategy to gain competitive advantages through opportunities to increase engagements with customers to provide service offerings from organizational reconfigurations and efficient business processes improvements.

For example, Gebauer et al. (2016) described four service networks manufacturing managers used to take advantage of the opportunity to move from products to services, including vertical after-sales service networks, horizontal outsourcing service network, vertical life-cycle service network, and horizontal integration service network. Also, manufacturing managers in mature economies can take advantage of opportunities to satisfy customers by increasing understanding of customers' needs through the exploitation of Big Data to provide complimentary service offerings (Opresnik & Taisch, 2015). While researchers disagree on specific opportunities for manufacturing managers, use to gain a competitive advantage to offer services, in this study effective manufacturing managers identify and take advantage of opportunities when innovating to offer business services.

Barriers to strategy implementation. Some manufacturing managers experienced barriers to establishing successful service offerings. Some manufacturing managers experienced barriers to implementing services within the service market. For example, Kuijken et al. (2017) described manufacturing managers' lack of service skills as a barrier to develop effective service offerings. Benedettini et al. (2015) found

manufacturers providing service offerings, such as retail, distribution, and financial services experienced increased external risk. Some manufacturers experienced limitations in the form of inconsistent demand for services, such as maintenance contracts for repair services for manufacturer's products (Gebauer et al., 2016). Manufacturers offering services exposed the organization to the volatility of different customer needs and uncertainty of differences in product or service operational functions (Benedettini et al., 2015).

Researchers identified several challenges limiting strategic service innovation in businesses. For example, Zhang and Banerji (2017) found manufacturing managers faced barriers to service innovation, including, organizational structure factors, economic factors, and internal resources with external market factors. Coreynen, Matthyssens, Rijck, and Dewit (2018) found manufacturing managers possessed limited internal resources as capabilities in service practices, including training staff and maximizing efficiencies. Porter (1991) recognized managers move organizations to favorable environments. However, Benedettini et al. (2015) suggested offering services exposed manufacturers to different risks associated with demand volatility based on various customer needs and uncertainty of changing operation functions. Porter's suggestion helps to explain why manufacturing managers' move into service offerings to sustain their businesses despite challenges. The purpose of this study was not to identify specific challenges to manufacturing managers to innovate to provide service offerings.

Managers influence service innovations in businesses processes, products, or services to gain a competitive advantage. Managers benefit from service innovation

through business resilience, effective responses to changing requirements, securing customers limiting competition, taking advantage of continued growth opportunities, developing new service business lines, and revenue streams growth (Baines, 2015).

Managers developed competitive advantage, to gain benefits, through innovative services strategies by establishing entrepreneurial posture in strategic decision-making, create value for customers with new services, deciding on resource limitations for innovation initiatives, and ensuring innovation align to customers' needs (Hakanen et al., 2017).

Managers benefit from establishing a competitive advantage through service innovation by aligning their innovation efforts with customers' needs and controlling innovation through strategy. To benefit from competitive advantage through innovation, managers engage in various roles to enhance innovation in business processes and products/services.

Managers Role in Service Innovation

Managers' role in service innovation includes effecting innovations through creating conditions for employees to understand customers' challenges and developing solutions to those challenges. Managers effectively increase innovation through decisions to opening innovation processes to customers' feedback (Chakkol, Karatzas, Johnson, & Godsell, 2018). Windler, Juttner, Michel, Maklan, and Macdonald (2017) found through qualitative research managers serve suitable solution customers as consultants establishing a relationship for the customer shared business problems and expertise with the product service solution provider. Managers create conditions to increase service innovations through increasing employee understanding of customers' needs.

Also, managers effectively facilitate employee knowledge sharing needed to overcome barriers to providing innovative services to customers by aligning goals and promoting trust (Valtakoski & Jarvi, 2016). Managers affected employees' commitment to innovation by communicating support for employees' implementation of collaboration (Birken et al., 2015). Managers create conditions within an organization for employees to develop customers' trust to understand customers' needs to find innovative solutions to customers' problems (Ikeda & Marshall, 2016). Managers encouraged organizational learning as a key element to develop innovation to strategic fit to customers' demands (Tamayo-Torres et al., 2016). Research showed managers' role in innovation includes considering customers in the innovation process, which requires supportive communication and trust with both employees and customers to develop solutions to meet customers' requirements.

Managers influence the development of innovative service offerings by overcoming barriers to understanding services. For example, managers seeking to learn the value of the service realized the importance of interactivity for developing knowledge, which differed from manufacturer's product focus (Raddats et al., 2017). Kuijken et al. (2017) discussed to overcome barriers to offer services manufacturing managers took advantage of opportunities to sell products and services separately to increase understanding of effective service strategies. Similarly, manufacturing managers provided solutions to innovation barriers, including (a) facilitating development processes, (b) clarifying responsibilities, (c) providing knowledge, (d) compensating partners, (e) incentivizing value co-creation with customer engagement, and (f)

supporting continuous improvement (Benedetti et al., 2015). Rabetino, Harmsen, Kohtamaki, and Sihvonen (2018) found managers used a strategic innovation process for manufacturers to transition to providing services. Manufacturing managers need effective strategies to overcome barriers to service innovations, which require most managers to support employees' generation of innovative ideas and build an organization to promote and integrate service innovations through strategy.

Employees' Relationships

Similar to Sundbo (1997), researchers using resource-based view or service innovation sought employees' relationship with customers as a key strategic element to offer services. Li, Lin, Chen, and Ma's (2015) quantitative research demonstrated managers provided organizational empowerment positively influenced business performance, through service strategy. Employees empowered to innovate towards services at manufacturing provide an opportunity for manufacturers to gain a competitive advantage. Hakanen et al. (2017) suggested managers strategically study the dynamic interactions between employees and customers to benefit from employees' relationship with customers. He et al. (2016) further examined the relationship between organizational empowerment and business performance for manufacturers offering services, which demonstrated a positive correlation.

Similarly, Brax and Visintin's (2017) explored themes changing focus from product strategies to customer-focused service strategies. Manufacturing managers effectively offered services through a joint commitment between employees and

customers (Kreye, 2017). Manufacturing managers use employee relationships with customers strategically to capitalize on opportunities for service innovations.

Dual Organization

To understand how manufacturing managers, use effective strategies to provide service offerings, researchers need to understand how managers establish an organizational structure to overcome strategic service innovation challenges. Managers establish organizational structures; therefore, effective manufacturing managers must find the right fit for an organizational structure to support both products-based business, as well as strategic shifts towards providing service offerings (Bustinza et al., 2015).

Managers of innovative businesses with high performances in revenue growth and profitability created innovation by structuring the organization to encourage innovation through innovative culture and development of processes to enable innovation (Ikeda & Marshall, 2016). Effective manufacturing managers offering services organize the organizational structure to overcome barriers to competing with services.

Some researchers (Bustinza et al., 2015; Ikeda & Marshall, 2016) agreed, manufacturing managers needed to change organizational structure establish effective service initiatives. However, other researchers disagreed on the specific organizational structure required, for example, Weeks and Benade (2015) recommended consolidating services under a separate services business, to increase production employees' focus on product manufacturing operations. In contrast, Kuijken et al. (2017) discussed that managers who sought to offer services required an organizational structure to overcome changes in management focus from products to services. Sundbo (1997) described

effective manufacturing managers develop a dual organization strategy to innovate manufacturing the business to offer services.

Informal Interaction for Ideas

Manufacturing managers engaged in offering services establish direct relationships with customers, while managers of product-oriented businesses restrict engagement was an indirect connection with customers (Chakkol et al., 2018).

Manufacturing managers take advantage of customers' requests for customization of products, which often result in service offerings to train the customer on new functionalities (Cusumano et al., 2015). By engaging customers through product-service system feedback, manufacturers innovate to develop better quality products and services (Wan, Li, Gao, Roy, & Tong, 2017). Through establishing interactions, directly with the end-using customer, manufacturing managers sell new versions of products and services to existing customers over a longer timeframe through servitization (Cusumano et al., 2015). Manufacturing managers offering services direct communication with customers improved functional quality and customer satisfaction (Coreynen et al., 2018). Effective manufacturing managers providing service offerings need to establish direct communication between employees and customers.

Service Innovation as a Strategic Process

Manufacturing managers use service innovation as a strategic process to provide service offerings. Manufacturing managers approach to service innovation as a strategic process to gain a competitive advantage (Baines et al., 2017). Manufacturers sought service innovation strategies either through alignment of an external competitive

environment (Martin-Rios & Parga-Dans, 2016), or an internal development of resources (Vargo, Wieland, & Akaka, 2015). From an external perspective, Sundbo (1997) identified the following key tenets of strategic service innovation theory showed service innovation as a strategic process of determining customers' needs through employee relationships to identify service offerings aligned with managers' strategic guidance. Successful managers incorporate a strategic process to innovate services into their business offerings. Martin-Rios and Parga-Dans (2016) suggested manufacturing managers strategically innovate when faced with a severe economic decline by leaving traditional product offerings to change to new services offerings. Like Porter's (1991) five forces, managers seek information from the external competitive environment. Effective manufacturing managers use a strategy development process to decide how to use service innovation to take advantage of opportunities for customers' needs (Rabetino et al., 2018).

Managers seek to provide service innovations by aligning strategy to provide services needed by external customers. To innovate services managers, focus on satisfying future customers' needs presenting opportunity, instead of focusing on satisfying existing customer's needs (Coreynen et al., 2018). Lee et al. (2016) examined two strategic innovation paths for manufacturers to gain a competitive advantage by offering services, including (a) integrating third-party service provider, or (b) integrating goods and services. However, manufacturing managers seeking to satisfy customers' needs through service offerings innovate to provide solutions, through integrated product-related services (Chakkol et al., 2018). Kanninen, Penttinen, Tinnila, and Kaario (2017)

found manufacturing managers effectively offer services through a four-step process, including: (a) identification of current services and customers' needs, (b) definition of service strategy, (c) service development, business modeling, and marketing, and (d) improve capabilities. Manufacturing managers apply service innovation strategies including cost reductions and expansions to base markets to achieve a competitive advantage (Lee et al., 2016). Effective managers strategically align service innovations with the customers' demands.

Also, some manufacturing managers innovate through analysis of market conditions trends (Andreassen, Lervik-Olsen, & Calabretta, 2015). Some manufacturing managers seeking innovation opportunities use Big Data to increase competitive advantages through increasing the virtualization, organization, sharing, and analyzing data on customers' behaviors to innovate to provide new service offerings to customers (Opresnik & Taisch, 2015). Additionally, Bohm, Eggert, and Thiesbrummel (2017) concluded manufacturers focus strategy on innovation to design services to satisfy customer's needs when transitioning from a product focus to provide customers with service offerings. Managers use technological advances in the analysis of data allowing managers to make strategic decisions about which opportunities to pursue to offer services (Opresnik & Taisch, 2015).

In contrast, to the external perspective of service innovation as a strategic process with an external focus, Vargo et al. (2015) suggested managers innovate through a strategic process of combining institutional knowledge with the development of new technology. Similarly, Tamayo-Torres et al. (2016) examined managers' strategic

approach to organizational learning as an effective method for aligning innovation and strategic fit. Valtakoski (2017) found institutional knowledge as a key resource for both customers and manufacturers. Both authors (Tamayo-Torres et al., 2016; Vargo et al., 2015), view the innovation process as a strategic process focused on internal elements, including institutional knowledge or organizational learning.

Manufacturing managers achieve innovation in services by increasing focus on innovations in research and development of services (Tran & Park, 2016). Manufacturing managers investing in research and development for services require technological change (Wu & Wu, 2015). Managers offering services require different technology resources than managers providing products, including web services to engage service customers, to manage the complexities of planning for new service operations, new financial management structures, and realignment of the information technology systems to meet the demands of both product and services operations (Weeks & Benade, 2015). Technology design-driven processes allow managers to take advantage of industry flexible manufacturing and services, individual customized products and services, and innovative business models through smart technology (Gerlitz, 2015). Managers can integrate technology strategically into service offerings through new information systems services need to support product and service customization (Grubic, 2018). While some researchers disagree on the focus of the service innovation process, the researchers agree successful managers use a strategic process to innovate services.

Manufacturing managers provide service innovations through a strategic process (Sundbo, 1997). This process includes aligning external competitive environment factors,

customers' needs, with internal resources, services integrated with products (Frow et al., 2015). Senior managers influence innovation by resource allocation and directly communicating the strategic vision and prioritizing innovation initiatives to employees (Birken et al., 2015). Lutjen et al. (2017) provided a three-stage service innovation process to consider strategic service innovations, consisting of (a) service initiation, (b) service anchoring, and (c) service extension. Managers decide to provide service offerings based on aligning customers' needs with organizational resources leading to service innovation as a strategic process. Similarly, Spring and Araujo (2017) suggested manufacturing managers sought to leverage repair and maintenance services of manufacturers products as a development approach to strategical initiation of service offerings.

Customers. Customers actively participate in the development of effective service innovations. Researchers, who addressed customers strategies for service innovations, agreed to look for innovations from customers; however, researchers disagreed on the perspective, which to view customers' contribution to strategic service innovation. Sakyi-Gyinae and Holmlund (2018) described how researchers considered the source of competitive strategy consisted of satisfying the customers' needs. Similarly, Baines et al. (2017) suggested managers of product-based companies look to develop service solutions by targeting tasks loyal customers require assistance in accomplishing. Manufacturing managers effectively provide customers with service innovations aligned with customers' needs (Coreynen et al., 2017). Manufacturing managers effectively use service innovations through understanding and satisfying customers' needs.

Manufacturing managers must focus on customers' needs to develop effective service innovations. Jaaron and Backhouse (2017) found, through multiple case studies, successful managers approach innovation by focusing on customers' needs to develop improvements to existing services or new service offerings. Manufacturing managers gain a competitive advantage through optimization of services alignment with customers' processes (Trkman, Mertens, Viaene, & Gemmel, 2015). Similarly, Sakyi-Gyinae and Holmlund (2018) suggested effective managers of product-based businesses develop service innovations aligned to the customer's value perspective. Both Jaaron and Backhouse (2017) and Sakyi-Gyinae and Holmlund (2018) suggested effective managers offering services take responsibility to solve customers' needs to increase productivity through service offerings.

Managers focus on customers' needs through organizational change or customers' life cycle. For example, IBM managers pioneered manufacturing business transformation to offer services; which IBM managers amended the organizational culture to focus on customers' needs (Tunisini & Sebastiani, 2015). In contrast, Andreassen et al. (2015) viewed customers' needs for services based on three phases of life, including young and carefree, chaos in life, and getting life back. Although, researchers disagree on the type of role customers play in service innovation; researchers agree customers are critical to the effectiveness of service-based innovation strategies.

In contrast, manufacturing managers seeking to implement servitization strategies focus on improving customer relationships, understanding customer's internal business processes, and target solving customers' problems with efficient and effective service

solutions (Baines, 2015). Manufacturers, moving upstream in the value chain through service offerings, obtained high growth in profitability through differentiation and customer satisfaction (Bustinza et al., 2015). Raja, Chakkol, Johnson, and Beltagui (2018) case study described manufacturing managers' strategy to collaborate with customers integrate knowledge and resources with customers to deliver solutions. Integrators to establish a direct service relationship with end-user customers, which manufacturing managers used specific skills and capabilities to perform service tasks too complex for the integrators provide to end-user customers. As a function of successfully implementing a servitization, managers engaged in the strategic process to gain an understanding of the customer's experience with both the product and services, for low-level product and service integration design to the solution to satisfy the customer's needs (Kim, Lee, & Kim, 2015). Li et al. (2015) found managers of manufacturing companies enhance the competitiveness of their firm through focused attention to their customers while providing increased customized integrated solutions.

Manufacturers analyze the external risks to determine changes needed to compete in service markets (Zhang & Banerji, 2017). Managers improved communications with customers from product offerings to focus on areas where customers require assistance in completing service tasks (Sakyi-Gyinae & Holmlund, 2018). Understanding the external business environment requires establishing an active partnership with customers to identify customers' needs (Vaittinen, Martinsuo, & Ortt, 2018). Andreassen et al. (2015) recognized the value of analysis of the external business environment; proposing a systematic framework to distinguish trends from market research for service innovation

opportunities. Managers analyze relationships dynamics with customers to offer innovative services to increase the customer's capabilities to achieve goals (Sakyi-Gyinae & Holmlund, 2018). Effective manufacturing managers analyze the external environment to choose service innovation strategies.

However, managers make errors determining service offerings by assuming superior knowledge of how customers interact with the organization's processes or how the customer uses the products and service offerings (Trkman et al., 2015). Effective manufacturing managers applied strategic focus on how customers value the service offerings manufacturers provided to sustain business operations (He et al., 2016). Managers' analysis of market conditions influences managers' decisions to pursue strategic actions to offer services (Tunisini & Sebastiani, 2015). However, managers providing service offerings consider the value of service to the customer to make effective strategic decisions about which service offerings satisfy customers' needs (Peters, Blohm, & Leimeister, 2015). Manufacturing managers make mistakes in service offerings when managers fail to recognize the value of services provided to customers.

Similarly, Prajogo (2016) found effective managers achieved a competitive advantage through both product and process innovation strategies based on the context of the external business environment. Manufacturing managers offering services need to consider environmental risks and market conditions when pursuing demands for services (Benedettini et al., 2015). Managers received benefits from allowing the customer to provide input on various products and processes; through external customers' access to organizational processes, customers assist managers in making decisions regarding the

quality of products and services (Agrawal & Rahman, 2015). The source of competitive strategy consists of managers developing an understanding that the value proposition comes from a business offering to satisfy customers' needs through the functionality of the product or the service (Sakyi-Gyinae & Holmlund, 2018).

Knowledge of product and services processes. Manufacturers' transitioning from product-based business models to include service-based business offerings gained competitive advantages from increased collaboration between the product-oriented system and service-oriented system (Peillon, Pellegrin, & Burlat, 2015). Mahut, Daaboul, Bricogne, Eynard (2017) discussed managers effectively enable collaboration between product activities and service activities through employees gaining knowledge of the product and services processes.

Managers take advantage of the knowledge of products and services to develop strategic service innovations from a variety of sources. Managers effectively developed service innovations through inputs customers co-creation (Huikkola, Kohtamaki, & Rabetino, 2016). Manufacturers, such as Rolls Royce and IBM sought knowledge from digital innovations and analysis of information from the *Internet of Things*, which managers used to change product inputs to innovative services outputs (Barrett et al., 2015). Kuula, Putkiranta, and Tulokas (2016) found benefits from using public resources to develop innovations. Manufacturers focus on customer's knowledge resources to offer service innovations (Green, Davies, & Ng, 2017). Manufacturing managers effectively locate the knowledge of products and services to develop service innovations from a

variety of sources, including customers, public research organizations, and digital information, such as Big Data.

Some manufacturing managers leveraged digital information technologies to increase growth through service innovations (Prindible & Petrick, 2015). Ostrom Parasuraman, Bowen, Patricio, and Voss (2015) recognized information technological advances changed how customers serve themselves, including before, during, and after purchase. Manufacturing managers seek a competitive advantage through network connections of digital information known as the Internet of Things. Researchers defined the Internet of Things as the connection information, sensors, and communication technologies into manufactured products to provide information and services to customers (Sayar & Er, 2018). Manufacturing managers may strategically access Internet of Things to identify what services customers need and what resources need investment to innovate services to answer customers' needs.

Manufacturing knowledge. Most researchers disagree over the ability to use manufacturing knowledge to assist managers in making strategic service decisions in the servitization process. Mahut et al. (2017) suggested cooperative strategies improved value chain service quality, as manufacturers and customers connected sharing service needs through information systems. In contrast, Kuijken et al. (2017) discussed that managers experienced challenges using a product-based value to offer services, as both products and services require different management dynamics. Prajogo (2016) suggested manufacturing managers not completely abandon product innovation activities because manufacturing managers can still seek opportunities to gain product market share by

offering better products to customers. Some researchers disagree whether manufacturing managers effectively sustain businesses through servitization by relying on manufacturing knowledge in the servitization process.

Traditionally, manufacturing managers focused on product-based manufacturing strategies, which managers concentrated on engineering and designing a product to sell to customers. Traditional manufacturing strategy frameworks separated process innovation and product innovation, but service innovation required the commingling of both process and product innovations (Kowalkowski, Windahl, Kindstrom, & Gebauer, 2015). Raddats et al. (2015) found manufacturing managers' motivations to engage in servitization consisted of new revenue streams, cost savings, service quality improvements, and risk mitigation for complex products and systems. Additionally, Baines (2015) explained managers' servitization initiatives affected the organization beyond developing a new service offering for customers by the adoption of both new technology and organizational transformation during the servitization process.

Integrated Product and Service Offerings

Some manufacturing managers pursue strategies to offer services through the integration of services into their product offering strategy. Several examples of companies, which successfully pursued servitization through integration with product offerings, includes IBM (Wu et al., 2017), Rolls Royce, and General Electric (Gebauer et al., 2016). Researchers exploring product and service offerings must understand the rationale for product-based manufacturing managers to adjust business models. He et

al.'s (2016) quantitative study supported the need for manufacturers to offer productbased services to overcome barriers to product market entry in the current market.

Similarly, Sayar and Er's (2018) multiple case studies explored manufacturing managers providing services solutions by responding to customers' needs with innovative product and service combinations. Effective business managers continuously adjust business models to provide new products and services through a strategic change to gain a competitive advantage (Kowalkowski et al., 2015). Helms (2016) concluded the energy companies entering services shift from transactional commodity providers to a service business model consisting of a value proposition to reduce cost, emissions, complexity, or improvements to generation and consumption of energy to business-to-business customers and private households. Manufacturing managers may strategically change product business models to incorporate service offerings.

Manufacturing managers must align product and service strategies to gain a competitive advantage. Bustinza et al.'s (2015) found through quantitative analysis manufacturing managers sought to provide services by integrating products and services over performance-based contracts and value-added services. Similarly, Kim et al. (2015) discussed how a small to medium manufacturing business managers competed through innovative integration of services and product through a strategic process of high-level design process coupled with low-level product-service system design. However, some manufacturing managers pursued a strategy to provide services through product ownership retention, while offering the customer use of the product with support services incorporated into solutions contracts (Zhang, Ren, Liu, & Si, 2017). Some researchers

agree manufacturing managers used integration of products and services to achieve a competitive advantage through servitization.

Manufacturing managers may seek an opportunity to differentiate products to gain a competitive advantage, which managers may use this strategy to enter services markets. Cusumano et al. (2015) concluded most product-based business managers across a broad international spectrum of business offered more substitution services in the ferment phase, but as the managers' business progressed through the transition and mature phases, replacement services decreased as extending and smoothing services increased in service offerings. Bustinza et al. (2015) found the source of competitive advantage drove manufacturers to use customer satisfaction as the source of knowledge to develop services closely aligned with business functions; however, differentiation was appropriate for special service unit or external partnerships to drive innovation. Kim et al., (2015) explained the strategic servitization process through a double-deck servitization process, which demonstrated the managers of the small furniture manufacturing company successfully applied the servitization process through integrated product and services for the DIY furniture product, by providing education and customization to meet customer's needs. Researchers of this topic disagree on whether manufacturing managers should engage servitization through product and service integration or differentiation through substitution strategies to innovate services offerings.

Strategy Inspired Employees

Effective manufacturing managers provide a strategy to inspire employees to provide service offerings to customers. Employees motivated by organizational support

for innovating ideas are a key element to innovations needed to pursue energy business initiatives (Tantau, Chinie, & Carlea, 2015). Li et al. (2015) found in China investment in human resources was a requirement to promote servitization, and managers gain servitization profitability by the steady accumulation of capabilities. To overcome business operations challenges to servitization, manufacturing managers need to employ and train employees capable of establishing relationships with customers and developing innovations to provide solutions to customers (Chakkol et al., 2018). Employees effectively inspired by strategy provide innovation and establish relationships with customers to promote manufacturing managers' service offerings.

Manufacturing managers inspire employees with strategies to gain the knowledge needed to innovate to satisfy customers with service offerings. When performing job tasks, individual employees gain the knowledge needed to innovate products, procedures, processes, or services (Engen & Magnusson, 2015). Service provider employees establish a relationship and gain extensive knowledge of customers' preferences; employees' knowledge of customers' preferences was a critical element to innovating services to meet customers' expectations (Akesson, Skalen, Edvardsson, & Stalhammar, 2015). Employees' innovation was a fundamental factor in achieving a competitive advantage; however, employees' innovation was useless unless managers support the employee by implementing the innovation in the organization (Kafetzopoulos, Gotzamani, & Gkana, 2015). Employees' knowledge of customers become a critical element for manufacturing managers to effectively decide, which services to provide to meet customers' expectations.

Employees respond to the business environment to make ideas into possible innovations (Sinha & Srivastava, 2016). Managers inspire employees through empowerment to seek opportunities to improve work processes and procedures leading to increased employee innovations (Kafetzopoulos et al., 2015). Manufacturing managers effectively offer services through boundary spanning employees linking external customer requirements with internal processes and resources (Chakkol et al., 2018). Managers' strategic support for employees' innovations positively affects the achievement of organizational goals (Schuckert, Kim, Paek, & Lee, 2018). Employees inspired by manufacturing managers' strategies to provide services to gain knowledge of customers needed to innovate service offerings effectively.

Standardization

Effective manufacturing managers use standardization as a strategy as a competitive advantage to provide service offerings. Manufacturers facing steep price competition stemming from manufacturing standardization and modularization seek servitization as a strategy to remain competitive (Ha et al., 2016). Manufacturing managers seek standardization in product-oriented systems to control costs and provide certainty (Lenka et al., 2018). Managers who integrate product-service offerings may provide differentiation as a competitive advantage by structuring the product-service business model (Adrodgari & Saccani, 2017). Manufacturing managers pursuing servitization gain a competitive advantage through cost reductions from adjusting the scale of service configurations and standardization (Martin-Rios & Parga-Dans, 2016).

Manufacturing managers pursue standardization of service offerings to reduce costs, differentiate, and adjust the scale of service offerings to remain competitive.

However, manufacturing managers face barriers in standardizing services. For example, customers' sense of value differs between products and services (He et al., 2016). Service managers respond to customers' request for customized services as a competitive advantage, unlike in manufacturing products (Lenka et al., 2018). Additionally, customers measure product quality and services quality based on subjective standards, including (a) a product design, material, and manufacturing technology, and (b) the difference between the perceived levels of service expected at purchase compared to the actual level of service delivered (You & You, 2016). Additionally, Kowalkowski et al. (2015) discussed managers sought to standardize service offerings, however, were challenged to customize to meet customers' needs. Manufacturing managers seeking to standardize services face barriers from customers' requirements for flexibility in services, the customer's sense of the value of the service, customers' requests for services customization, and customers' perceived versus actual quality of service (Benedettini et al., 2015; You & You, 2016). Manufacturing managers need to change perspectives on standardization between providing products and offering services to customers.

In contrast, researchers show a strategic push to standardize the service provider process. For example, Curiazzi, Rondini, Pirola, Ouertani, and Pezzotta (2016) presented a standard process model for service delivery consisting of seven process segments, including (a) handling customer's requests, (b) assess the feasibility and create the offer, (c) manage order, (d) mobilize and plan, (e) prepare job, (f) perform service job for

customer, and (g) complete job. Additionally, Wu and Wu (2015) concluded service providers either apply structure to the service system to organize people and technologies when managing services design and execution, or work unilaterally towards internal objectives without understanding customers. However, Andreini, Salo, and Wendelin (2015) recommended product-service providers standardize by providing solutions to provide cost reductions, create improvements to customer relationships, and develop loyalty.

Manufacturing managers faced challenges to standardize services offerings when focusing on touchpoints with customers, who required increasing customization and flexibility to satisfy customers' needs (Benedetti et al., 2015). Managers focused on standardization of product design open organizations to feedback from external stakeholders, such as distributors and installers, which managers could apply to servitization strategies (Weeks & Benade, 2015). However, managers can achieve a competitive advantage through standardization as Sundbo (1997) suggested by focusing on standardizing macro service processes with managers' decisions influenced by feedback pulled from employees' understanding of customers' service requirements.

Manufacturing managers seek opportunities to sustain business operations through service offerings; yet, many manufacturers offering services need to overcome barriers to innovate service offerings. To overcome the obstacles to services innovation, Sundbo (1997) offered a conceptual framework, strategic service innovation, showing how managers effectively engage in service innovations as a strategic process.

Researchers support Sundbo's concepts by further refining the strategic process to

aligning customers' needs with internal resources to provide innovative service offerings. Manufacturing managers can apply Sundbo's concepts to overcome service innovation barriers through a strategic process to provide service offerings required to sustain the business beyond 5 years.

Transition

Section 1 consists of the basis of the study, including identification and alignment of the research problem in the form of a problem statement, research question, and purpose statement. I provide a conceptual framework using Sundbo's (1997) strategic service innovation theory as a conceptual lens to view the answer to the research question grounded in current and relevant academic literature. I made assumptions, as well as identified limitations and delimitations to assist in analyzing the data from the study. To highlight the importance of researching the topic, I provide information on the significance of the study.

In the final portion of Section 1, I review current and relevant academic literature. I provide an academic literature review discussing the conceptual framework and relevant research on the business problem. I gauge the relevancy of literature based on minimum criteria established to guide the use of peer-reviewed articles within five years of the expected completion of this study. The literature review consists of discussion on theories considered as the conceptual framework for this study, including similarities and conflicts on the research topic. Additionally, I discuss the relevance of Sundbo's (1997) strategic service innovation theory consisting of managers' control of service innovation strategy, managers' consideration of external market conditions and internal resources, managers'

establishment of dual organizations to provide service innovations, and strategy to pursue standardization of services.

In Section 2, I discuss key decisions on how I plan to conduct this multiple case study with supporting rationale based on peer-reviewed articles and seminal sources. I describe the roles of the researcher as well as decisions about participant recruitment. Additionally, I discuss the decisions to pursue a qualitative research method and multiple case study design for this study by ruling out other research methods and designs not appropriate to answer the research question. I identify the population of manufacturing managers capable of answering the researching question and sampling strategies to recruit participants to ensure data saturation to answer the research question for this study. Additionally, I ensure the application of ethical research principles for this study, by discussing the inclusion of ethical principles from the National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research (1979), known as the Belmont Report. I discuss data collection, organization, and analysis by identifying specific data collection instruments, data collection technique, data organization technique, and data analysis. Finally, I described how I ensure the reliability and validity of my findings by using data triangulation to ensure data saturation, and member checking techniques.

In Section 3, I present the findings of the study. Additionally, I discuss the application to professional practices, implications for social change, and make recommendations for action and further research. I conclude the study with reflections on

my experience in the Walden University DBA process followed by the concluding statement about this study.

Section 2: The Project

Manufacturers influenced by technological advances and increased global competition in product-based operations are motivated to enter service markets to sustain businesses (Aminoff & Hakanen, 2018). Manufacturing managers need effective service innovation strategies to overcome challenges to provide service offerings. In Section 2, I provide the purpose of the study, the research method, research design decisions, and supporting the rationale for the study's execution. In this section, I document the preparation and procedures of the study, including the role of the researcher, the participant selection process, data collection, data organization, data analysis, and the reliability and validity of the study.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, multiple case study was to explore effective service-based innovation strategies that manufacturing managers used to offer business services to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years. The target population for this study was manufacturing managers who offered business services from three petroleum and coal manufacturing companies, and who have sustained their business in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States longer than 5 years. The implication for positive social change includes the potential to provide manufacturing managers with strategies to increase the longevity of business operations, thereby positively affecting the socioeconomic conditions of communities relying on manufacturing. Other manufacturing managers may be able to use the findings this study to achieve sustainable employment opportunities

and positively affect the economic opportunities of the residents of the local communities.

Role of the Researcher

My role as a researcher in this qualitative, multiple case study was to serve as the primary data collection instrument. I prepared, organized, and reported findings by following an established interview protocol. I followed ethical guidelines for this study. In qualitative research, the researcher is the data collection instrument (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). Qualitative researchers serve as the data collection instrument when conducting interviews with research participates (Twining, Heller, Nussbaum, & Tsai, 2017). Qualitative researchers prepare data by collecting data for content analysis, selecting units of analysis, and developing meaning by interpreting data through their perspective lens (Bengtsson, 2016). In this multiple case study, I served as a primary data collection instrument conducting semistructured interviews and analyzing data from company documents to develop meaning about the social phenomenon.

My relationship with the research topic stemmed from my experience in the U.S. military serving in various organizations in the petroleum and logistics fields at tactical, operational, and strategic levels. Additionally, I formed my perspective on the research topic through professional experience in contract management consisting of business innovations, strategy development, and acquisitions for manufactured commodities and business services.

Qualitative researchers construct meaning through their personal views of a topic (Hannes, Heyvaert, Slegers, Vandenbrande, & Van Nuland, 2015). Qualitative

researchers often possessed a relationship with the research topic that sometimes preceded the data collection and further develops by executing the study (Tufford & Newman, 2012). Qualitative researchers preparing interview questions use their relationship with the research topic to understand how to phrase interview questions to extract thick and rich content from participates (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). I framed my relationship with the topic of this study through military and professional experiences, which may have influenced the interview questions and interpretation of the data.

I followed the ethical principles discussed in the National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research (1979) to respect people's autonomy, protect people from harm by minimizing risks, and ensure equal distribution of benefits and burdens of the research. I followed Walden University's (2016) ethical guidelines and gained Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval before gathering data. I followed these ethical principles throughout the study by informing potential participates about the study's benefits and risks through an interview protocol. Castillo-Montoya (2016) discussed that researchers prepared participants by providing an information sheet and briefing about the interview process, including all potential risks and benefits before gaining consent. Following ethical principles in this multiple case study was critical to ensure people's autonomy, protection from harm, and equal distribution of the benefits and burdens of the research.

Without effective strategies to mitigate biases, the researcher could negatively influence the results of this study. To mitigate bias in this study, I used bracketing.

Researchers used bracketing to avoid bias and refrain from providing feedback during the

interview process (Roulston & Shelton, 2015). Ethical researchers accounted for the interviewer's role in avoiding bias as an effective listener by respecting the interviewee's perspective over the interviewer's assumptions (Hoover, Strapp, Ito, Foster, & Roth, 2018). Qualitative researchers bracketed and set aside personal feelings about a topic to avoid bias in both data collection and data analysis: researchers failing to bracket unconsciously affect data (Sorsa, Kiikkala, & Astedt-Kurki, 2015). By bracketing my feelings on the topic during interviews, I mitigated my bias in the research process.

I followed an interview protocol and I identified potential risks and benefits of the study to the participates and sought informed consent before conducting interviews (see Appendix A). Cugini (2015) described the importance of the researcher identifying potential risks to study participants to seek informed consent. Researchers follow an interview protocol by contextualizing the interview process and procedures in their communication with potential study participates (Wilson, Onwuegbuzie, & Manning, 2016). Qualitative researchers document potential study participants' informed consent through the process identified in the interview protocol, which demonstrates researchers' exercise of ethical judgment (Hammersley, 2015). I followed an interview protocol with each participant to ensure I followed ethical guidelines throughout this study.

Participants

In this subsection, I establish the eligibility criteria for study participants, strategies for gaining access to participants, and strategies for establishing a working relationship with participants. Researchers set eligibility criteria to assess which potential participants can answer the research question. Weng (2015) suggested the quality of

participant eligibility criteria affects the quality of the study results. Elliott, Husbands, Hamdy, Holmberg, and Donovan (2017) suggested researchers define the criteria for participation in qualitative research based on the conceptual framework and design of the research. Participants consisted of managers from petroleum or coal manufacturing companies in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States, who effectively used service-based innovation strategies to offer business services to sustain their business beyond 5 years. To participate, participants needed direct knowledge of successful service-based innovation strategies used to offer business services to the manufacturing business.

I gained access to participants by reviewing public information in company documents and websites for managers of petroleum and coal manufacturing companies whose managers offer services. Researchers can identify potential participants through publicly available information found online (Weng, 2015). I contacted managers from selected companies through phone and email to invite participants to provide information related to the criteria of the study to determine eligibility. Researchers take advantage of distributing information about studies through emails to gain access to potential participants (Rocchi, Beaudry, Anderson, & Pelletier, 2016). Burton-Chase, Parker, Hennig, Sisson, and Bruzzone (2017) concluded researchers used online recruitment potential participants effectively when the researchers defined population and the population was accessible online. Additionally, I used social media such as LinkedIn and Twitter to post a general statement about my study and direct potential participants contact me to consider their eligibility for study participation. Participants did not publicly announce participation on any social media site.

I established a working relationship by briefing and offering an opportunity for questions and answers with potential participants about participation in the study. I emphasized the potential benefits of the study to potential participants, to motivate potential participants to enroll in the study. Parikh, Mason, and Williams (2016) found identifying the benefits of a study was a key strategy for overcoming barriers to motivating potential participants to volunteer for research studies. Additionally, I corresponded and provided updates to participants, so participants understood what steps were in the process and required time commitments necessary for participation in the study. Participants' perception of the burdens of participation may change throughout the participation of the study (Cutler, Doherty, & Carmichael, 2018). I provided an information sheet and consent form to document communication during this part of the discussion. My research question directly tied to participants; therefore, participants should have been interested in relationship building and reinforcing opportunity for altruism. Dotolo, Nielsen, Curtis, and Engelberg (2017) suggested researchers retain participants to continue in studies through relationships between researcher and participants, as well as emphasizing the chance to demonstrate altruism.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

Qualitative research involves researchers characterizing human experiences within the social context related to a phenomenon (Walther et al., 2017). Researchers conduct qualitative research to construct understanding from people's experiences in the world (Mandal, 2018). Researchers explore a human social phenomenon using qualitative

methods by allowing a participant's experience to stand as a unit of analysis (Daher, Carre, Jaramillo, Olivares, & Tomicic, 2017). The goal of using a qualitative method was to construct detailed meaning from a phenomenon, from the social experiences of people in their natural social context. For this study, I used a qualitative research method to explore what service-based innovation strategies manufacturing managers use to sustain their business by offering services. In contrast to quantitative methods, qualitative methods typically include analysis of textual data analysis from human experiences collected through interviews, focus groups, narratives, archives, or recordings of people and events (Goldberg & Allen, 2015).

Quantitative methods significantly differ from qualitative methods because researchers who use quantitative methods examine outcomes of changes to variables through statistical testing of the hypothesis (Gibson, 2017). Researchers use quantitative research methods to test theories using variables, which the researcher changed to test the theory (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). Quantitative method research includes examining theories or hypothesis using statistical analysis to explain relationships between predefined variables (Counsell & Harlow, 2017).

I selected a qualitative research method for this study. Researchers use qualitative research methods to develop meaning from social phenomenon by focusing on the details, meanings, and motivation of the situation through data collection and analysis from human experiences (Mandal, 2018). Using a qualitative method allows exploration of what service-based innovation strategies managers of manufacturing businesses use to

succeed in business, through each participant's experience stands as a unit of analysis (Martinez, Neely, Velu, Leinster-Evans, & Bisessar, 2017).

In contrast, researchers conducting quantitative studies seek to demonstrate the cause-and-effect of variables by developing a hypothesis to observe variables through statistical testing from large samples (Gibson, 2017). Researchers use quantitative research methods by using statistical analysis to measure the relationships between variables to explain universal laws (Counsell & Harlow, 2017; McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). A quantitative research method was not appropriate for this study; a statistical analysis did not answer the research question.

Mixed method was not appropriate for this study because the purpose of this study was to explore a social phenomenon. Researchers use mixed methods to address a phenomenon when a single research method is unable to answer the research question (Mayoh & Onwuegbuzie, 2015). Researchers conducting mixed methods studies combined qualitative and quantitative methods to explain a phenomenon through measuring participant's answers to survey questions while providing flexibility to explore the phenomenon with open-ended questions (Shannon-Baker, 2016). The quantitative portions of hypothesis development in a mixed method study fail to fit research to understand *how* or *why* (Yin, 2018). For this study, mixed methods were not an appropriate method to focus on exploring *how* and *what* manufacturing managers use to offer business services to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years.

Research Design

I used a multiple case study as the research design for this qualitative study. Using a multiple case study research design focused this study on the social phenomenon, including (a) the contextual social experiences of managers of manufacturing businesses, (b) who used service-based innovation strategies in manufacturing businesses to succeed, and (c) bound by a specific time beyond 5 years. Yin (2018) defined a case study as a research design used to explore a phenomenon in its context bounded by time and environment. Dasgupta (2015) discussed researchers used case study to explore strategies bound by context. Researchers use case study research design to explore complex social experiences to understand *how* and *why* outcomes happen (Morgan, Pullon, Macdonald, McKinlay, & Gray, 2017).

Researchers use a phenomenological design to explore human lived experiences of a shared event (Mayoh & Onwuegbuzie, 2015), which was not appropriate for this study. Researchers conduct ethnography studies to capture a shared phenomenon of a cultural group through immersion in the specific cultural context (Lichterman, 2017). However, the purpose of this study was to explore service-based innovations strategies, which did not require immersion into a cultural context. Researchers use narrative research design based on the retelling of experiences (Petty, Thomson, & Stew, 2012). Narrative research design misaligned with the purpose of this study because narrative experiences of manufacturing business managers in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States failed to describe service-based innovation strategies.

Qualitative researchers achieve data saturation when data analysis of participants' experiences offers no more new information to answer the research question (Morse, 2015a; Nelson, 2017). Fusch and Ness (2015) suggested data saturation occurred when the amount of data allowed the researchers to replicate the study, no new information was obtainable, and continuation of coding was impractical. For this multiple case study data saturation occurred when participants presented no additional themes to answer the research question.

Population and Sampling

Researchers define the research population to determine the appropriate sample and participants to answer the research question. Van Rijnsoever (2017) suggested researchers first define the sample population based on inclusion criteria. Researchers need to identify the specific population so that decision makers can make informed decisions regarding the social phenomenon (Korngiebel, Taualii, Forquera, Harris, & Buchwald, 2015). Yin (2018) recommended multiple case study consist of two to three cases to achieve literal replication and four to six cases to achieve theoretical replication. The target population for this study was managers offering business services, from three petroleum and coal manufacturing companies, who have sustained their business in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States beyond 5 years. I selected three cases for this study to achieve literal replication.

Sampling

Choosing a sample of participants who are knowledgeable about the research topic was critical in answering the research question (Levitt, Motulsky, Wertz, Morrow,

& Ponterotto, 2017). For example, Gentles, Charles, Ploeg, and McKibbon (2015) suggested qualitative researchers select participants based on their knowledge of the research topic. Researchers conducting qualitative studies using interviews decided the sample size and sampling strategy, such as purposeful sampling to acquire data from the target population needed to answer the research question (van Rijnsoever, 2017). The sample size for this study was three managers offering business services from three petroleum and coal manufacturing companies, who sustained their business in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States beyond 5 years.

I used purposeful sampling as the sampling method for this study. Gentles et al. (2015) defined sampling as selecting and collecting data from specific sources needed to answer the purpose of the research. Also, Fugard and Potts (2015) suggested researchers determine the sample size based on the study population and prevalence of themes the researcher plans to uncover. Qualitative researchers select an adequate sample to ensure sufficient data for credible analysis and reporting (Varpio, Ajjawi, Monrouxe, O'Brien, & Rees, 2017). Researchers use purposeful sampling techniques to explore outlier cases from unusual phenomenon (Palinkas et al., 2015). I used purposeful sampling to sample manufacturing managers from three different petroleum and coal manufacturing companies, who established business services strategies to sustain their business beyond 5 years in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States, or until data saturation.

Data Saturation

I ensured data saturation by analysis of theme-based data collection; data saturation occurred when data analysis of sampling participants offered no additional

themes to answer the research question. I continued to add data for the study through interviewing additional participants from one or more of the three organizations until data saturation. Researchers increase the quality of qualitative studies through continuing data collection and analysis processes until data saturation (Aldiabat & Navenec, 2018). However, researchers, who gather more data than data saturation, waste resources preventing deep and rich data analysis on the research topic (Varpio et al., 2017). Fusch and Ness (2015) suggested researchers achieve data saturation when new emerging concepts from participants stopped, and interviewees reiterate concepts of other participants. Researchers achieve data saturation when data from participants' interviews became redundant; yet, researchers achieve theoretical saturation when researchers satisfy a description of all the concepts from the conceptual framework (Roy et al., 2015).

Interview Setting

Identification of the appropriate interview setting was a critical step in accessing data from participants. Ivanova-Gongne, Koporcic, Dziubaniuk, and Mandjak (2018) recommended researchers conduct interviews in a social context in a safe and comfortable environment free of distractions for the participant. Choosing the appropriate interview setting required researchers to carefully plan for ensuring confidentiality and privacy yet allow the participant to feel comfortable in the social context (Coad et al., 2015). Researchers establish the safety of research participants by ensuring confidentiality (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979).

Oates (2015) suggested researchers may use either Skype-like video teleconference or person-to-person as a viable means of conducting semistructured interviews. Skype-like video teleconference enabled flexibility for participants in establishing the time and place for the interview as well as allowed for interviewers and interviewees to terminate participation with a click of a button (Weller, 2017).

Participants may relax when using Skype-like video teleconference as both the participant and the researcher control the interview medium (Adams-Hutcheson & Longhurst, 2017). I used face-to-face interviews with an option for interviews to take place on Skype or telephone if the interviewee preferred and it was mutually agreed. I conducted the face-to-face, Skype, and telephone interviews in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States at a location and time mutually agreed upon, which the interviewees felt comfortable and safe.

Dikko (2016) suggested a neutral setting was preferred to limit distractions, which an interviewee might experience at work or home. However, I prioritized a place where the interviewee felt most comfortable to speak about the research topic. Researchers may collect quality data through online mediums when interviewees prefer online interviews (Shapka, Domene, Khan, & Yang, 2016). However, researchers may miss nonverbal clues such as body language when conducting interviews through online chat, such as Skype or telephone (Adams-Hutcheson & Longhurst, 2017). I conducted mutually agreed to interviews in interviewees' preferred setting through either face-to-face, Skype, or telephone mediums, which ensured the comfort and safety of the interviewee and interviewer.

Ethical Research

Researchers ensure participants' protection through careful planning and risk mitigation, identify the plan to protect participants, mitigate risk, and gain IRB approval before conducting any research inquiry with participants (Walden University, 2016). Researchers possess responsibility for following ethical research practices, to include providing participants the opportunity to decide whether to participate in the research through informed consent (Wallace & Sheldon, 2015). I followed an interview protocol to identify the potential risks and benefits to participant candidates and sought informed consent before conducting interviews. Cugini (2015) described the importance of the researcher formally identifying potential risks to study participants to seek informed consent. Researchers followed interview protocols by contextualizing the interview process and procedures with potential study participants (Wilson et al., 2016). Qualitative researchers use the interview protocol to document that potential study participants were informed and consented to the interview, which demonstrated the researcher's exercise of ethical judgment (Hammersley, 2015).

Participation was voluntary; research participants possessed the capability to decline or withdraw from taking part in this study. Researchers provided information to participants on how the study may contribute to the body of knowledge, as well as the benefits to the volunteer participants and the broader population (Dotolo et al., 2017). Participants possessed the capability to stop participation at any time without retribution. Participants did not receive any financial compensation for participation. Instead of

financial compensation, participants receive the benefits of contributing to the field of knowledge (Resnik, 2015).

My research activities in this study followed the ethical principles discussed in the National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research (1979), to respect people's autonomy, protect people from harm by minimizing risks, and ensuring equal distribution of the benefits and burdens of the research. I followed Walden University's ethical guidelines (2016) and gained IRB approval before conducting interviews. I followed ethical principles throughout the study by informing potential participants about the study's benefits and risks, through an interview protocol. Dikko (2016) discussed researchers preparation of participants by providing an information sheet and briefing about the interview process, including all potential risks and benefits before gaining consent. I maintained participants' privacy and identity of any organization confidential by assigning a tracking code number, which did not include any participant's personal information nor easily identifiable information from the volunteers' participation in the study. I shall not disclose the volunteer participants' identity nor the identity of the organization by replacing any easily identifiable information with the tracking code number or completely removing the easily identifiable information from this study.

I keep data secure, backed up, and password protected electronically within my password-protected computer with commercially supplied computer security.

Additionally, I keep a copy of the data on an external removable storage device. I store the external removable storage device in a locked safe in a building monitored by a

security system. I am storing the data for five years in this manner, and then destroy the data after 5 years. The Walden University IRB approval number was 09-21-17-0533504.

Data Collection Instruments

In this qualitative study, I was the primary research instrument. The researcher served as the primary data collection instrument in case study research (Harvey, 2015). I collected data through a semistructured interview, which allows flexibility to ask probing questions throughout the interview process. In qualitative research, researchers use semistructured interviews to gain the flexibility to ask additional probing questions so that participants can discuss complex social experiences (Dixon, 2015). I used two primary sources of data including in-depth semistructured interviews and organization documents to collect data for this study. Researchers use predetermined questions in semistructured interviews, which allowed researchers flexibility to seek clarification (Dikko, 2016; Moustakas, 1994; Yin, 2018). May, Barletta, Stahl, and Taisch (2015) used semistructured interviews to explore manufacturing managers' decision-making strategies in the energy management field.

Each participant received a consent form, interview protocol (see Appendix A), and interview questions before conducting each interview. Palinkas et al. (2016) provided interview questions, consent forms, and protocol documents specific to the individual study. Participants reviewed the interview protocols containing an overview of the study, interview procedures, human participant protection information, data recording, member checking, and interview questions. Researchers develop a strong interview guide and protocol to allow researchers and participants to focus the discussion on experiences with

the phenomenon (Cridland, Jones, Caputi, & Magee, 2015). To conduct an effective qualitative research interview, researchers prepare participants by discussing data recording and procedures requiring participant's time commitment (Hoover et al., 2018). To collect data, I prepared participants by providing information about the study, including consent forms, interview protocol, interview questions, data recording, time commitment, and supporting documentation.

Researchers possess responsibility for identifying the scope in which data collection occurs (Grady, 2015). I conducted the semistructured interviews through either face-to-face, Skype-like video teleconference, or telephone mediums. Researchers conducting interviews often use a single interview method, such as a semistructured interview or structured, but the interviewing medium differed (Adams-Hutcheson & Longhurst, 2017). Either face-to-face interviews or Skype-like video teleconference, interviews yield quality data (Oates, 2015). For example, AlKhateeb (2018) successfully used Skype-like video teleconferencing as a medium for semistructured interviews. Similar to face-to-face interviews, researchers can develop a rapport with interviewees when using Skype-like video teleconferences to conduct qualitative research (Weller, 2017).

Additionally, Goldberg and Allen (2015) suggested using telephone interviews to enhance the ability to recruit participants from multiple locations. Qualitative researchers use telephone interviews to collect data from geographically dispersed participants with little difference than face-to-face or Skype interviews (Rosenthal, 2016). Parikh et al.

(2016) suggested telephone interviews as an option to accommodate participants through flexible participation requirements.

In addition to collecting data from semistructured interviews, I collected data from organizational documents as the second primary source of data. Researchers conducting case studies use multiple sources of data to explore a social phenomenon, including semistructured interviews and organizational documents (Dasgupta, 2015; Yin, 2018). Researchers use multiple sources of data to gain different perspectives to form a holistic picture of the social phenomenon (Fusch & Ness, 2015).

To enhance the reliability and validity of the data collection process, I requested participants to conduct member checking. Researchers use member checking to validate the researcher's interpretation of the participant's discussion meaning (Morse, 2015b). Researchers engage in member checking by sharing themes derived from data analysis to allow participants to reply to the interpretation of the meaning from data collected during the interview (Harvey, 2015). Ancker et al. (2015) conducted member checking during qualitative interviews to ensure the themes from interviews meant what the interviewees meant in their discussion in the interview. I did not conduct transcript checking, nor pilot testing. I conducted member checking to ensure reliability and validity of data collected.

Data Collection Technique

I used semistructured interviews in order of preference consisting of a face-toface, Skype-like video teleconference, or the telephone mediums as the primary data collection technique. Researchers use semistructured interviews to allow participants to answer open-ended questions, which facilitated participants' descriptions of experiences with the research topic (Moustakas, 1994; Yin, 2018). The benefits of semistructured interviews included the combination of an interviewer's flexibility to explore the topic indepth with open-ended questions, and the structure provides participants focus during the discussion (Bradshaw, Atkinson, & Doody, 2017). Semistructured interviews were an appropriate primary data collection technique for this multiple case study.

Researchers experience advantages and disadvantages in each interview medium. One advantage researchers gained in face-to-face interview settings was visual feedback (Weller, 2017). Also, Dixon (2015) suggested researchers conducting face-to-face interviews established rapport in the interview process by demonstrating techniques of listening and prompting participants in person. However, researchers, who conduct face-to-face interviews, experience some disadvantages, including geography, mobility, financial, and time constraints (Iacono, Symonds, & Brown, 2016). I overcame constraints by scheduling a mutually agreeable time and place to conduct the face-to-face interview, and when face-to-face interviews were not feasible, I used the Skype-like video teleconference or the telephone mediums as an interview option.

Researchers experience advantages and disadvantages when using Skype-like video teleconference or the telephone for interviews. Researchers experience advantages by using Skype-like video teleconference, including interviewees' and interviewers' rapport, convenience for the interviewee, flexibility in geography and time, and establishment of a visual connection between people similar to face-to-face interviews (Weller, 2017). Rosenthal (2016) suggested online chat or telephone interviews increased flexibility to accommodate participants' requirements in participation as an advantage.

Also, researchers experience increased interviewees' privacy (Oates, 2015). Some potential participants experience a disadvantage of using Skype-like video teleconference due to a lack of technical skills needed to conduct the interview using Skype-like video teleconference systems (Weller, 2017). Also, researchers experience disadvantages of using Skype-like video teleconference by only seeing portions of the interviewees' body language from the camera (Adams-Hutcheson & Longhurst, 2017).

Similarly, researchers using telephones experience disadvantages of not seeing body language during the interview (Goldberg & Allen, 2015). However, Ward, Gott, and Hoare (2015) concluded researchers recognized the value in verbal and nonverbal clues, such as paralinguistic clues, to capture participants' experiences during telephone interviews. I mitigated disadvantages by taking time before the interview began to review Skype-like video teleconference features with participants and requested the interviewee adjusted the view to allow the maximum view of body language. Similarly, I mitigated disadvantages of telephone interviews by listening for audio clues from the participant, such as verbal hesitation or noise from shifting body weight in a chair.

Before the interview, I researched the organization's publicly available documents, including capabilities statements, websites describing service offerings, and strategic planning data to gain a complete understanding of the participant's relationship with the phenomenon. Researchers use document analysis as a method to explore a research topic as a primary source of data (Morgan et al., 2017). Yin (2018) suggested documents as a primary source of data for case studies. Gebauer, Paiola, and Edvardsson

(2012) used organizational documents to conduct qualitative research on service providers to gain a complete perspective of management strategies.

I did not conduct a pilot study after IRB approval. A pilot study is a trial run of a future study to assess implementation challenges in recruitment, data collection instruments, and allow the researcher experience before starting the actual study (Doody & Doody, 2015). Dikko (2016) suggested researchers conduct a pilot study to identify challenges influencing the outcome of the future study. Similarly, Hoover et al. (2018) provided researchers a pilot of the interview protocol before conducting interviews. I ruled out pilot studies, because each interview was important, and not using data collected from the participant was not an appropriate use of the participant's time for this study.

I established validity through member checks, which entailed participants reviewing the draft themes to ensure the researcher's interpretation of data collected, was consistent with what the interviewee meant. Morse (2015b) suggested qualitative researchers used strategy for ensuring validity through member checks. Since most qualitative researchers serve as both the data collector and data analyst, researchers mitigate bias through member checking (Birt et al., 2016). Varpio et al. (2017) recommended researchers conduct member checking with interview participants after completing data analysis. See the interview protocol located in Appendix A, and the interview questions list outline is in Appendix B.

Data Organization Technique

I transcribed the digital recording files for each interview manually and uploaded each file into an Atlas.ti database. Also, I transcribed written notes from the reflective journal into a Microsoft Office Word document to organize observations before, during, and after the interview. I converted all documents other than audio files to pdf. I electronically scanned all signed consent forms to store each document in electronic format pdf. I named each file by Participant_number_ company type_data source type, for example, the interview transcription of the first participant was *P1P Interview.pdf*. Nordstrom (2015) highlighted the importance of understanding the role of recording devices and recordings to the data collection and organization for qualitative research. Also, Yin (2018) suggested researchers conducting a case study compile all data into a database. Similarly, Idri (2015) suggested researchers organize and store data within electronic databases.

Since the primary source of data collection was in-depth semistructured interviews, I used a standalone digital recording device, the Philips DVT 1300© recorder, as the primary recorder. I used a Samsung Galaxy S7 © voice recording software to record the audio for as a backup recording device. Weller (2017) suggested researchers using Skype-like video teleconference or face-to-face interviews could use electronic recording devices to record the interviews. Researchers' record interviews to enable accurate data transcription and data analysis (Bradshaw et al., 2017; Nordstrom, 2015). Oates (2015) used audio recordings to capture interviews through a variety of mediums. I

collected data by recording each interview to ensure accurate transcription and analysis of the interview data.

All files are stored electronically in a database on a removable storage device and stored in a home office locked safe monitored by a home security system. The removable storage device is password protected. Based on Walden University (2016) requirements, I am maintaining all data for 5 years. After 5 years, I will delete all data collected, and destroy the removable storage device by standard commercial electronic data destruction practices at the time of destruction. Opalka-Bentler (2016) prepared similar procedures to protect qualitative research participants to move all data to a USB drive for storage, and after 5 years erase all data from a USB drive and destroy the USB drive. Kaye et al. (2015) recommended researchers ensured the protection of research participant's data based on the most current practices. National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research (1979) recommended researchers minimize risk to participants; data stored electronically under safe and secure conditions minimizes risk to participants.

In addition to using electronic recording devices during the interview, I took notes by reflective journaling before, during, and after the interview to identify the context of the interview, including emotions, body reactions, and reactions as a secondary source of data collection. Morgan et al. (2017) suggested researchers take notes during interviews to collect data for analysis. Waldron and Ebbeck (2015) used reflective journaling during interviews to assist in data collection. Goodell, Stage, and Cooke (2016) recommended note taking to capture the emotions of participants and researchers during qualitative

interviews. I took notes before, during, and after the interview to record data as a secondary source of data collection.

Data Analysis

For this study, I analyzed the collected data through Yin's (2018) five-step process, including compiling, disassembling, reassembling, interpreting, and concluding. Durodola, Fusch, and Tippins (2017) suggested Yin's five-step process provides structure to case study data analysis. Bengtsson (2016) suggested doctoral researchers systematically analyze data through conceptual thinking. I followed Yin's five-step process to systematically analyze multiple sources of data until the achievement of data saturation.

Researchers conducting case study research design use triangulation, multiple sources of data suggesting one finding, such as methodological triangulation (Yin, 2018). Park, Chun, and Lee (2016) suggested qualitative researchers analyze data from multiple sources, including interviews, observations, surveys, and documents. Qualitative researchers use methodological triangulation by analyzing data from various sources, such as interviews, company documents, and researcher's notes (Morgan et al., 2017). I achieved methodological triangulation by comparing my two primary sources of data, including participant's semistructured interviews and company documents, including publicly available capabilities statements and websites as my two primary sources. I used reflective journaling as an additional source of data.

Frequently, qualitative researchers use qualitative data management software (QDMS) to analyze multiple sources of data (Estrada & Koolen, 2018). Similarly,

Woods, Macklin, and Lewis (2016) suggested analyzing data from primary sources, such as interview transcripts, and documents, with secondary sources, such as reflective journals enhanced the quality of data analysis by linking researchers' reflections with data collection. I transcribed each interview manually and reviewed the transcript for accuracy. Then I uploaded each interview transcript, publicly available capabilities statements and website documents, and reflective journal notes into QDMS, Atlas.ti to perform data analysis through coding the data to categorize and develop themes.

Qualitative researchers use QDMS, such as Atlas.ti to assist in theme development and drafting diagrams or visual aids to explain themes from multiple data sources (Paulus & Bennett, 2017). Bourque and Bourdon (2017) suggested researchers control data analysis through coding and theme development using QDMS. Similarly, Woods, Paulus, Atkins, and Macklin (2016) suggested qualitative researchers use QDMS, such as Atlas.ti to code, categorize, and develop themes from data. I used Atlas.ti because I was more familiar with the Atlas.ti software compared to other QDMS, such as NVivo.

I analyzed the data collected in Atlas.ti using Yin's (2018) five-step process to compile, disassemble, reassemble, interpret, and conclude themes until the achievement of data saturation. Paulus and Bennett (2017) suggested qualitative researchers use multiple sources of data in QDMS to explain a phenomenon. Similarly, Ahmad Tajuddin (2015) suggested researchers conduct qualitative research through strategical, flexible, and contextual analysis. Qualitative researchers follow an analysis process to break down data, code and categorize, and seek understanding of the meaning of the data collected (Bengtsson, 2016).

I gathered multiple sources of data collected through this study, disassembled data to individual units of analysis, reassembled data through coding and categorizing. I interpreted coded and categorized data to developed themes. I concluded findings with themes linked back to the key elements of the conceptual framework, and new academic literature. I used new academic literature to update the conceptual framework and explain themes, including competing themes between the data collected and the key elements from the literature review. Paulus and Bennett described how utilizing QDMS to analyze data from multiple sources and correlate themes to literature enhanced the rigor of qualitative researchers' findings.

Reliability and Validity

Both qualitative and quantitative researchers assess the quality of research through reliability and validity criteria as researchers and participants' biases are undesirable (Leung, 2015). Qualitative researchers assure reliability and validity of findings from a social construct, which differs from quantitative research requirements, as quantitative researchers ensure objective validity and repeatability (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). Qualitative researchers address dependability, such as member checking, to ensure reliability, as well as the validity of the research through establishing credibility, transferability, confirmability, and data saturation (Smith & McGannon, 2018).

Reliability

Qualitative researchers ensure reliability through dependability, which consists of the researcher accounting for whether the study achieves the same results if another researcher repeats the study (Morse, 2015c). Qualitative researchers provide a record of the methodology and logistics to maintain consistency in the process and results, which ensure the reliability of the study. Ensuring reliability means researchers consider the changing context throughout the study by establishing an audit trail to ensure consistency throughout the study including conducting the interview, qualitative data analysis, and thematic development (Chowdhury, 2015). Qualitative researchers establish an audit trail to ensure dependability and reliability by using computer-assisted qualitative data analysis to capture the context of decisions the researcher makes throughout the study (Paulus & Bennett, 2017). I used Atlas.ti qualitative data analysis software to code collected data, conduct data analysis, and develop the audit trail of decisions made during the data collection and data analysis activities throughout the study.

Also, I established reliability through dependability through member checking to ensure consistency of the data analysis and thematic interpretation of the participant's experiences within the social context. Member checking involves checking the interpretation of the data collected through qualitative interviews by sharing the interpretation of the data with participants to ensure the accuracy of the research findings (Bengtsson, 2016). Participants ensure the accuracy of the researcher's interpretation of the data collected by reviewing the documented interruption and providing corrections when the researcher's interpretation of the data collected becomes inaccurate (Harvey, 2015). Participants assist researchers in accurately interpreting data to provide context or alternatives to the researcher's interpretation of the data (Varpio et al., 2017). I provided each participant with the opportunity to check the interpretation of the data collected

from interviews, to allow participants the opportunity to provide additional context or alternative interpretations to the data analysis.

Validity

Qualitative researchers check for validity through questioning one's bias against observations and interpretations of data; without validation, researchers could allow biases to influence research conclusions (Dasgupta, 2015). Qualitative researchers ensure validity by selecting the appropriate tools, processes, and data throughout the study (Leung, 2015). Lincoln and Guba (1985) described validity as consisting of creditability, transferability, and confirmability.

Qualitative researchers establish creditability by addressing the research process for ensuring the observation and interpretation of the data collected during the study was valid (Morse, 2015c). Bradshaw et al. (2017) described the process of ensuring creditability as exploring if the researcher's findings make sense. Researchers ensure creditability by checking the interpretation of the data with the participant's view of the meaning of the data provided (Noble & Smith, 2015). I established credibility in this study by member checking after data analysis to ensure the interpretation makes sense and captures the meaning of the participants' experience.

In addition to establishing credibility through member checking, I used methodological triangulation to apply rigor to the study findings. Qualitative researchers use methodological triangulation as a strategy to apply rigor to ensure the credibility of research findings (Bengtsson, 2016; Denzin, 1978). Noble and Smith (2015) identified triangulation as a methodological strategy qualitative researcher use to collect different

sources of data to provide a holistic set of findings. Yin (2018) suggested researchers conducting case study research use several data sources, including interviews and documents. Similarly, Chowdhury (2015) suggested qualitative researchers collect data from participants through several methods including interviews and documentation to provide rigor in research of a social construct. Qualitative researchers use member checking and triangulation to apply rigor to the research and establish the credibility of the study findings (Morse, 2015c). I applied rigor through methodological triangulation by comparing two primary sources of data, including participant's semistructured interviews and company documents, such as managers' publicly available capability statements and websites as two primary sources.

I used reflective journaling as an additional source of data. Qualitative researchers recorded reflective experiences as a process to increase awareness of subjective influence on the research process (Noble & Smith, 2015). Qualitative researchers used reflective journaling as a strategy for a source of data to apply to methodological triangulation (Hadi & Closs, 2016). Bengtsson (2016) used researcher reflections as a strategy to evaluate and promote rigor in the study. I conducted reflective journaling to capture the context of each interview and perspectives on documents to provide rigor through methodological triangulation in the study.

Qualitative researchers conduct studies with the intent to establish social constructs to explain a phenomenon, which others apply to contexts know as transferability (Morse, 2015c). Qualitative researchers analyze the validity of qualitative

research by describing the transferability of the findings beyond the context of the participants to match the conceptual framework with the study results (Yin, 2018). Qualitative researchers support transferability, by providing information on the semistructured interview process and application of rigor to the process of data collection and analysis through the interview protocol (Fusch et al., 2017).

Qualitative researchers establish the degree of neutrality, known as confirmability, which the findings relate to the participant's experiences instead of researcher's bias (Carminati, 2018; Cypress, 2017). Researchers ensure confirmability, the consistency of findings should the study be repeated, through capturing detailed notes during the researcher's decision-making and analysis actions (Connelly, 2016). I ensured confirmability in the findings of this study by capturing detailed notes during the decision-making process by reflective journaling and using Atlas.ti to capture data analysis.

Qualitative researchers ensure data saturation when the researcher collects sufficient data to provide a rich and thick description of the phenomenon, which shows the depth data collected and analyzed to answer the research question (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Qualitative researchers rely on the saturation of the data and analysis from the perspectives of participants, instead of determining the number of participant responses to demonstrate validity in quantitative research (Hancock, Amankwaa, Revell, & Mueller, 2016). Qualitative researchers use open-ended questions to achieve data saturation when additional data collection and analysis did not change or add to the researcher's interpretation of data collected to answer the research question (Tran, Porcher, Falissard,

& Ravaud, 2016). In this study, I used open-ended questions in a semistructured interview to allow participants to share as much data as possible to ensure data saturation from participants.

In addition, qualitative researchers use member checking to gain data saturation to ensure completeness of the participant's experiences (Harvey, 2015). During member checking, participants took the opportunity to provide additional information about the topic to ensure complete data (Caretta, 2016; Hadi & Closs, 2016). I ensured data saturation by continuing to collect and analyze data until themes from participant's experiences answer the research question and no new information changes the answers to the research question.

Transition and Summary

Section 2 consists of a description of how I conducted the study and the rationale for choosing a multiple case study design. Based on the purpose of this study, I, as the researcher, served as the primary data collection instrument in this qualitative multiple case study. When conducting this study, I followed ethical principles as described in the National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research (1979) to respect autonomy, protect people from harm, and ensuring equal distribution of benefits and burdens of the research. I avoided bias in this study through bracketing. Additionally, I followed an interview protocol to conduct semistructured interviews either face-to-face or if the interview prefers through Skype, which I identify in the interview protocol potential risks and benefits of the study and seek informed consent from participants in the target population.

The target population for this study was manufacturing managers offering business services, from three petroleum or coal manufacturing companies, who sustained their business in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States more than 5 years. Selection of participants formed on specific eligibility criteria consisting of managers from petroleum or coal manufacturing companies in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States, who effectively used service-based innovation strategies to offer business services to sustain their business beyond 5 years. Access to participants came through reviewing publicly available information in company documents and websites to contact managers of petroleum or coal manufacturing companies whose managers offer services through telephone and email communications, potential participants contacted me with eligibility criteria for participation in this study in response to invitations.

Three managers offering business services from three petroleum or coal manufacturing companies, who sustained their business in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States more than 5 years was the sample size for this study. I used purposeful sampling to collect data from specific sources to answer the research question of this study. I collected enough data to ensure data saturation through analysis of themes until sampling participants offer no additional themes to answer the research question. I continued to collect and analyze data until obtainment of data saturation in this study.

To collect data appropriately, I followed ethical guidelines, using specific data collection instruments, and followed specific data collection, organization, and analysis processes. To ensure Walden University's ethical guidelines (2016) incorporation in this

study, I gained IRB approval before conducting interviews. Also, I used the interview protocol to discuss the benefits and risks of this study with potential participants. Serving as the primary data collection instrument, I used two primary sources of data including semistructured interviews and organization documents to collect data for this study. Additionally, I requested participants to conduct member checking to enhance the reliability and validity of the data collection. I conducted data analysis using triangulation through at least two primary sources of data including semistructured interviews and organizational documents. I analyzed the data through Atlas.ti to focus the study on the key themes, which captures the context of key decisions throughout the execution of data analysis. I established reliability through dependability by using member checking and validity through establishing creditability, transferability, and confirmability of the study findings.

In Section 3, I present the study findings, as well as supporting data analysis through comparison of key themes from the data collection to academic literature describing the conceptual framework. Also, I include recommendations for social change opportunities and implications for this study. I discuss reflections of the study and finalize a conclusion for this study in Section 3.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative, multiple case study was to explore effective service-based innovation strategies that manufacturing managers used to offer business services to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years. Section 3 includes the presentation of the findings of themes from the analysis of the data collected from the sample compared with the previous scholarly research findings. Three participants provided data collected through semistructured interviews and supporting documents, leading to the thematic findings for this study to apply to professional practices and implications for positive social change.

Participants provided two primary sources of data, which were analyzed to explore emerging themes through the perspective of the conceptual framework. The conceptual framework used to analyze data collected was strategic service innovation theory. Four main themes emerged as strategies in the findings of this qualitative multiple case study based on the data analysis through the perspective of the conceptual framework, including (a) service innovation strategies, (b) customer focus strategies, (c) resources strategies, and (d) external network strategies.

Presentation of the Findings

The research question for this study was: What effective service-based innovation strategies do manufacturing managers, offering business services, use to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years? Through qualitative research and data analysis, I identified

four major themes: (a) service innovation strategies, (b) customer-focus strategies, (c) resources consideration strategies, and (d) external network strategies.

Participants consisted of managers from petroleum or coal manufacturing companies in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States, who effectively used servicebased innovation strategies to offer business services to sustain their business beyond 5 years. Participants provided data analyzed for this study through semistructured interviews and supporting business documentation. The participants provided supporting business documentation, including strategy and planning documents and capabilities statements through publicly available organizational websites and at publicly available industry conferences. Both primary sources of data, semistructured interviews, and publicly available business documents were analyzed to explore themes of service-based innovation strategies manufacturing managers used to offer business services to sustain their business beyond 5 years. Themes emerged from data collected consistent with existing literature on service-based innovation strategies manufacturing managers used to provide services. Through qualitative data, participants provided the emerging themes explored through the perspective of the conceptual framework, strategic service innovation, and existing literature on the topic.

Theme 1: Service Innovation Strategies

Manufacturing managers approached strategic service innovation through processes of aligning the external competitive environment (Valtakoski, 2017), and the internal resources to offer business services (Raddats et al., 2017). Participants in this study described strategic service innovation as a process in both primary sources of data

consisting of five key elements, including (a) manager's control, (b) strategic innovation process, (c) competitive advantage, (d) dual organization, and (e) standardization.

Manufacturing managers in this study sustained their business by offering service innovations strategically through a process.

Table 1
Findings for Theme 1, Service Innovation Strategies

References	Frequencies
Manager's control	102
Strategic innovation	88
Competitive advantage	56
Dual organization	38
Standardization	34

Note. Table 1 displays the participants' references and their frequencies in interviews and documents for the first theme; service innovation strategies.

The participants in the study described managers controlling a process for service innovation involving strategic innovation, seeking a competitive advantage, establishing a dual organization, and implementing standardization to offer business services.

Participants followed a strategic process to offer service innovations by seeking a competitive advantage, establishing a dual organizational structure to separate management of manufacturing from services, and implemented standardization between manufacturer's product and service offerings. Sundbo (1997) described managers increasing focus on strategic service innovation organized through a systematic process.

Manufacturing managers followed a process to develop service innovations to provide solutions to customers (Chakkol et al., 2018).

Manager's control of strategy. Manufacturing managers control the service innovation process through strategy to offer services. Manager's control strategy to transition to from manufacturing products to establish organizational culture capable of nurturing services innovations (Rabetino et al., 2017). Manufacturing managers control strategy enabled the strategic service innovation process. All participants described the manager's control of strategy to offer business services to customers; their descriptions supported in the publicly available supporting documents.

Manufacturing managers control of strategy enabled crucial changes to offer services to customers. When asked what guidance the participant provided stakeholders to implement service-based innovation strategies, P3PC replied,

Ok, going from a manufacturing focus to a primarily serviced-based or at least trying to make a transition to more of a service consulting type of business requires quite some paradigm shift. After all, we have been in business for ten years in this market, and now you are trying to make that shift. So, it requires a lot of mentoring. It requires some restructuring of the department setting a new focus area, putting employees in charge of those focus areas to become subject matter experts, and those are some very different skill sets from manufacturing or even very specific skill sets within service offerings.

P3PC's supporting documentation described manager's pursuit of efficient means to improve the quality of services offerings to customers by communicating strategy to meet

the highest levels of performance and customer satisfaction. P3PC's description of manager's control of strategy aligned with Ambroise et al. (2018) discussion of manufacturing managers control of strategy through implementing guidance to ensure internal stakeholders take advantage of opportunities to meet external needs of customers.

Similarly, P1P described manager's control of strategy in the service innovation process by changing focus to meet external market needs through responding internally to adapt labor through training. P1P's establishment of a formal training program enables managers control of strategy to be communicated in service offerings. P1P's training program invites customers to participate, which enables manufacturing managers control of strategy through direct communication. P1P discussed the establishment of "a training program to invite people who work specifically in the Northeast region." P1P described in the publicly available supporting documentation how managers control of strategy to co-locate service operations with customer's operations. Both P1P and Chakkol et al. (2018) discussed manager's control of strategy to overcome business challenges to provide service offerings through employment and training of employees capable of establishing relationships with customers to provide services.

However, P2P discussed how manufacturing managers control strategy to provide service offerings by communicating strategy with external stakeholders. P2P expressed, "So, I sit down with my customer and try to say you do not have the manpower anymore to keep up maintaining these products, so here is what we need to do." Similarly, P2P provided publicly available capabilities statement document showing manager's control of strategy to set service offering prices strategically to attract customers.

The participants and supporting documents aligned with the conceptual framework strategic service innovation (Sundbo, 1997) through the common thread of manager's control of strategy through manager's communication of strategy to facilitate internal change to offer services to customers. Sayar and Er (2018) described how managers of manufacturing business provided strategic guidance on how to change to pursue strategic service innovations with customers. Manufacturing manager's control strategy through a decision process on how to transition from a product focus to service offerings to take advantage of opportunities to meet customers' needs (Rabetino et al., 2018). In this study, the manager's control of strategy emerged as a crucial element of service innovation strategies.

Strategic innovation. Managers followed a strategic process to innovate from manufacturing products to offering services. Baines et al. (2017) viewed manufacturers developing service innovation as a strategic process. Manufacturing managers strategically innovate to adapt to the difference between providing products and offering services. All participants described strategic processes managers used to innovate to offer business services to customers and documents described service innovation as a process.

Strategic innovation involved a process in changing the business focus from how a manufacturer produces products to a focus on providing services. When asked what guidance the participant provided stakeholders to implement service-based innovation strategies, P3PC stated, "Ok, going from a manufacturing focus even though it was service-supported to a primarily serviced-based or at least trying to make a transition to more of a service consulting type business requires quite some paradigm shift for the

employees." P1P and P2P discussed a strategic innovation process to change the focus from manufacturing products to offering services. For example, P2P stated, "So we had to adjust our abilities to meet the demands of the new customers that they wanted to grow into." All participants aligned with the conceptual framework in describing strategic innovation as a process. Sundbo (1997) described strategic service innovation as a complex process to focus on meeting customer's demands.

Similarly, P2P's supporting document described a strategic process to innovate to meet new customers' needs. All participants described how changing focus from manufacturing products to offering services required a strategic innovation process.

Bohm et al. (2017) found manufacturers focus through a strategic innovation process to design services to satisfy customer's needs when transitioning from a manufacturing production culture to provide customers with service offerings. Manufacturing managers follow a strategic innovation process to offer services to customers.

Managers following a strategic innovation process to offer services was consistent with the existing literature and aligned with the conceptual framework. Managers strategically innovated to offer services through realignment to meet the demands of different operating environments between products and services (Kanninen et al., 2017). Sundbo's (1997) strategic service innovation theory described how manufacturing managers used a strategic process to provide service innovations. When asked how they assessed the effectiveness of the service innovation strategies used, P3PC answered, "Well it is an ongoing process, as I said I have been in the role of the business leader

since 2006, it took some time to develop a strategy going forward and restructure the department and so on."

Similarly, P1P discussed in supporting documentation the managers' commitment to innovation strategically and profitably. Both P3PC's response and P1P's supporting document describe a strategic process for innovation. Manufacturing managers took advantage of a strategic innovation process to transition to providing business services to customers (Rabetino et al., 2018). In this study, managers used a strategic innovation process to focus on offering business services to customers.

Competitive advantage. Managers focused on the strategic process to gain a competitive advantage as a function of a strategic service innovation process to offer business services to customers. Manufacturing managers pursued service innovations through a process to gain a competitive advantage (Szasz et al., 2017). All participants in this study sought competitive advantages through the strategic service innovation process. For example, when asked what service-based innovation strategies managers used to create a competitive advantage over competitors with service offerings, P3PC responded:

So, we developed an approach or a product based on our service experiences. So that gave us quite a competitive advantage in providing services, because we became subject matter experts, but also provide a very competitive, rugged, and superior product versus our competitors.

Managers sought to gain a competitive advantage for the business through strategic service-based innovations.

Manufacturing managers sought a competitive advantage over competitors by satisfying customers' multiple needs for products and services through a continuous strategic innovation process. Manufacturing managers gain a competitive advantage through a strategic process to engage customers with service offerings freeing customers' resources from tasks (Saul & Gebauer, 2018). P3PC's supporting documentation stated that managers' goal was to support the growth, profitability, and sustainability goals of customers. Participants in this study sought to provide strategic service innovations, which developed a dependency for the customer, therefore, providing a competitive advantage. For example, P1P discussed training as a service was a competitive advantage because manufacturing managers differentiate from competitors by providing a service value proposition answering customers lack time to prepare employees for various tasks. Manufacturing managers gain a competitive advantage through a strategic service innovation process supporting customers' growth by taking on service tasks value proposition (Rau et al., 2017). Manufacturing managers gain a competitive advantage through a strategic innovation process to develop a value proposition freeing customer from tasks and resources.

The participant's supporting documentation showed manufacturers offering services focused on gaining a competitive advantage through exceeding performance and quality expectations. In alignment with Baines et al. (2017), P2P described the competitive advantage P2P's business achieved as an ongoing strategic innovation process when P2P stated:

So, when you have a manufacturer, supplier, and service provider, that calls you

back all the time asks you all the right questions, and has the product that actually works, then that is the one you keep going to all the time.

Manufacturing managers experience a competitive advantage through strategic alignment of service offerings with customers' processes (Sakyi-Gyinae & Holmlund, 2018). P2P's description of manufacturing managers gaining a competitive advantage by offering services enabled customers to depend on manufacturing managers on multiple fronts, including manufactured products and service offerings.

Participants viewed providing service offerings as a process to sustain a competitive advantage with product offerings with services. Participants stressed the importance of providing a manufactured product and service as a competitive advantage. The importance of providing a manufactured product and service as a competitive advantage strategy was consistent with Sundbo's (1997) framework, including managers' control service innovation through strategy to gain a competitive advantage. In this study, managers controlled the strategic service innovation process to gain a competitive advantage by providing manufactured products and service offerings.

Dual organization. All participants described the need for a dual organization structure, which managers separated the functions of manufacturing products and service offerings. Kuijken et al. (2017) recommended managers offering services establish an organizational structure allow changes in focus from products to services. Establishing a dual organization was a function of the strategic service innovation process for manufacturers as the focus of the businesses needed different organizational structures to manage the different business offerings.

Participants from this study described the change in organizational structure to a dual organization as a necessary function of the strategic service innovation process. P2P described the organizational structure as having two separate senior managers with equal authority in the business with one managing manufacturing products and the other managing service offerings. P1P showed in the organizational documents managerial separation of manufacturing and services by geography and organizational structure. In the organizational documents, P1P showed a centralized organizational structure for manufacturing with the manufacturing facility directly managed by and co-located with the central office, and the decentralized management and co-location with customers for the services organizational structure. When asked how the participant organized their business to generate service-based innovations used to sustain their business, P3PC responded, "Everybody in this department focused on building the product, installing the product, and servicing the product for this particular product. So, with that market breaking away you cannot sustain a structure like this or a focus like this."

Managers in this study showed consistency with existing literature on the research topic. Managers find the right fit for an organization to support both products and strategic changes to provide service offerings (Kanninen et al., 2017). Neither the participants nor the authors of existing literature agreed on a specific organizational structure beyond establishing a dual organizational structure with separate managers for products and services. All the participants in this study described different interactions between organizational structures with the common theme emerging as all participants business established a dual organizational structure one for products and one for services.

Standardization. Participants described a need for standardization both as a competitive advantage and as a function of the strategic service innovation process.

Managers engaged in the strategic service innovation process achieve a competitive advantage from focusing the scope of service configurations and standardization

(Valtakoski, 2017). Similarly, all the participants in this study discussed the importance of providing standardized services. The participants focused on mentoring and training as methods of providing standardized services.

P1P stressed the importance of training both employees within the organizational structure providing service offerings and with customers. When asked what service-based innovation strategies the participant used to create a competitive advantage over competitors with service offerings, P1P answered, "Today, the answer is as simple as training." Participants focused on training and mentoring employees to follow standard means to provide service innovations strategically. Manufacturing managers focused on employees providing service solutions through education and training (Chakkol et al., 2018).

For example, P3PC discussed the need for managers to mentor employees to adjust to providing services, which P3PC stated that employees require some pressure to get out of their comfort zone to standardize services in a strategic service innovation process through a focused scope that allows for successful delivery of the service to the customer. P2P described the need to have employees work with manufacturing to support the product as a service, this collaboration with manufacturing showed managers need for employees possess a common understanding of the standards operating the product as a

service offering for the customer. All participants' public documents showed standardization in services through certifications or commitment towards quality standards for service offerings.

The theme from participants that managers required standardization as a strategic service innovation process was consistent with the existing literature. Sayar and Er (2018) described the need for managers to standardize processes and align all functions of the business to the same standard despite the difference of organizational structures. Participants described specifying the scope of the service down to allow to sustain satisfying customers as a function of the strategic service innovation process to reach customers' satisfaction.

This finding from the data collected in this study conflicted with You and You's (2016) suggestion manufacturing managers face barriers to standardize services based on customer's requirements for flexibility in services, customization, and perception.

Instead, all the participants described experiences when managers providing service offering explained to the customer that the customer's requests for customization or flexibility were outside of the scope of the service offering. All the participants expressed the customers' reaction as positive in showing how the services standardized were not an appropriate fit for the business to provide to the customer.

Like the participants' data collected during this study, Sundbo (1997) recognized manufacturers offer business services through a strategic innovation process focused on changes tailored to each customer. Manufacturing managers offering business services in this multiple case study effectively offer business services by going through a strategic

innovation process. Participants, recent literature, and the conceptual framework, strategic service innovation, align with the theme strategic service innovation was a process.

Theme 2: Customer-Focus Strategies

Manufacturing managers' customer-focus developed as a main theme in this study. Manufacturers focus on customers to transform from product-oriented strategies to service innovation strategies (Brax & Visintin, 2017). Sundbo (1997) described the need for managers to focus on customers in strategic service innovations and teach employees how to manager customer-centric services. All participants and supporting documents displayed the importance of customer focus as a strategic service innovation strategy. The customer focus theme consists of five key elements, including (a) identifying customer's needs, (b) customer's knowledge resources, (c) providing solutions, (d) employee and customer relationship, and (e) customer feedback.

Table 2
Findings for Theme 2, Customer-Focus Strategies

References	Frequencies
Customer's Needs	104
Customer's Knowledge Resources	101
Providing Solutions	74
Employee and Customer Relationship	60
Customer Feedback	43

Note. Table 2 displays the participants' references and their frequencies in interviews and documents for the second theme; customer-focus strategies.

Participants' and supporting documentation collected as data for this study highlighted the importance of customer focus as a critical strategy for manufacturers offering business services.

Customer's needs. Manufacturers need to focus on understanding customer's needs to innovate to offer business services. Participants and supporting documentation collected as data during this study described the importance of the strategy to focus on customer's needs for manufacturers to offer business services. Similarly, Sakyi-Gyinae and Holmlund (2018) concluded manufacturers must focus on customers' needs to provide value through service offerings to meet customer's priorities and goals. Effective manufacturing managers offering business services fit customer's needs with services to add value to the customer (Coreynen et al., 2017). All participants in this study discussed finding the customer's needs as a key element to developing a customer focus strategy.

Sundbo (1997) identified determining customer's needs as a key element of the strategic service innovation theory. Each participant and their supporting documents described a focus on customer's needs. P2P stressed the importance of focusing on customer's needs as a competitive advantage. P2P stated, "So when you say competitive advantage: we try to understand what the customer's needs are and work towards that." Similarly, the supporting documentation showed focus on customer's needs. P3PC's supporting documentation stated the manufacturer's goal of providing services was to exceed the quality requirements set by customers.

Similarly, Sakyi-Gyinae and Holmlund (2018) concluded manufacturing managers need to include customer value perspective into service offerings. P1P's document described offering comprehensive services to deliver based on customer's needs of time and location and ensuring customer's success. Sundbo's (1997) focus on providing value to meet customers' needs aligns with P1P's document description and P2P's publicly available document statement that a variety of specific technical skills are at the customer's fingertips ready for customer's tasks.

Also, P2P focused the discussion on searching to find customer's needs. For example, P2P's said, "But, we are trying to be customer-centric, and I try to give folks guidance to be listening to the customer, to engage the customer and find their needs." Similarly, P1P described the importance of researching to understand the customer's needs. P1P discussed taking advantage of the data gained from the use of an outside firm to ask customers about their needs for the next 5 years as a crucial element to understanding customer's needs and developing a customer focus. Bohm et al. (2017) found manufacturers effectively transition to providing services through service innovations designed to fit customer's needs.

Also, P2P drew attention to the importance of understanding customer's needs to offer business services. P2P stated, "One advantage that we have is that we know and understand our customer's needs." Manufacturers showed the importance of satisfying the customer's needs as all the supporting documents pointed to the capability to satisfy customer's needs. Also, P3PC discussed the importance of talking to customers to find what keeps them up at night as a key element to using service-based innovation strategies

to offer business services to customers. Manufacturing managers effectively offer business services through strategic service innovations by focusing on customers' needs (Sundbo, 1997). P3PC's supporting document supported the focus on customer's needs through the claim, "First and foremost, we listen to gain a deep understanding of our client's needs and business objectives..." In this study, manufacturing managers effectively offer business services provided finding and fitting customer's needs as the most important element to a customer focus strategy.

Customer's knowledge resources. Another key element of the strategy managers developing a customer-centric focus was manufacturing managers offering services gaining an understanding of customer's knowledge resources. Manufacturers offering business services to customers need to understand the customer's knowledge resources, as customers decide to make-or-buy based on their internal knowledge of the service offering (Valtakoski, 2017). Bohm et al. (2017) concluded manufacturers focus on customer's knowledge resources to offer service innovations. All participants and supporting documentation referenced customer's knowledge resources in the data collected for this study.

P1P focused on the importance of understanding customer's knowledge resources as a functional element of customer focus. P1P described how customer's knowledge resources declined in the early 2000s due to large numbers of employees exiting the workforce. Therefore customers faced a deficit in internal knowledge resources hindering the customer's ability to innovate. P2P conveyed the customer's knowledge resource shortfall when P2P answered, "I will go see a customer, and he has an incident or an

issue where there is a real problem and a lot of people cannot answer." Manufacturers offering services coordinate the customer's knowledge resources to allow for the more effective use of resources (Green et al., 2017).

Participants' supporting documentation focused on customer's knowledge resources. For example, one supporting document invited customer to try to the manufacturer's service offerings in their statement, "Please give us a try, and we may all learn something." The manufacturer focus on learning by all parties shows the manufacturer offering services focus on both a gap in the customer's knowledge resources as well as highlights the customer's knowledge resources could benefit the manufacturer. Rabetino et al. (2017) found manufacturing managers offering services focused on customer's knowledge resources influence in adaptation decisions. P1P stressed the influence of customer's knowledge resources to change decisions, as P1P conveyed, risks, consequences, and potential concerns when customers considered the adaptation of new processes, configurations, and equipment.

P3PC and P1P further highlighted customers lacked knowledge resources to maintain capabilities within the industry. P3PC focused on customer's lack of knowledge resources on external factors, such as changes in regulation, to develop innovative service offerings. P1P described customer's lack of knowledge resources after the customers faced a rapid increase in demand when P1P stated,

And, the second element of that is that because I went out into the field and see this with my own eyes, I was able to see that not only service companies like myself but my competitors were affected by this kind of

reduction of general knowledge, but the customer base was as well.

Manufacturing managers innovated to offer services focused on strategies to understand customer's knowledge resources gaps and influence the customer's adaptation decisions.

Sundbo's (1997) strategic service innovation focused on knowledge and learning as an internal resource. The results of this qualitative research differ from Sundbo's strategic service innovation theory, as participants focused on customer's knowledge resources as a critical element to customer focus. Similarly, to Sundbo the participant's focus on the customer's knowledge resource. Also, Raddats et al. (2017) found manufacturers offering services need to understand customer's knowledge resources to influence the customer's decision to manage risk by controlling the closeness of the manufacturer. Sundbo focused on manufacturing manager's use of internal knowledge resources to meet customer's needs; however, the results my study showed customer's knowledge resources as a critical element to the customer focus theme. Sundbo considered customer's knowledge resources shortfall as a function of customer's needs. However, I found the participant's recognition of customer's knowledge resources gaps and influence on decision making to be an important element of customer focus.

Providing solutions. Manufacturing managers focused on customers by providing solutions was a critical element in this study for customer focus theme. All the participants and supporting documentation described the need for manufacturing managers to provide solutions to customers as a key strategy to innovate service offerings. Chakkol et al. (2018) found manufacturers offering services move from product-focused strategies to strategies to provide customers with solutions.

All the participants and supporting documentation described providing solutions as a critical element of manufacturers offering business services. P2P said, "When you find their pain, and you take care of it." P2P stressed how providing solution was an essential element of managers developing a customer-centric focus. Similarly, P1P described providing customers a solution in the form of a combination of manufactured products and training as a service to overcome barriers related to the customer's lack of knowledge of how products and processes functioned. Coreynen et al. (2017) discussed manufacturing managers effectively offered business services through value solutions incorporating product and service customization and integration in the customer's processes. P3PC's supporting documents discussed the business' objective was to deliver innovative solutions multiplying value to customers. P3PC responded that managers integrated products and services into value solutions to the point it was difficult to distinguish between services and manufacturing. Participants discussed the importance of providing solutions to customers throughout the data collection.

Additionally, P2P focused on providing solutions to customers through products and consulting focused on solving customers' problems. For example, P2P said,

Well I would do some investigation and find out well it looks all the same on the outside, it is different on the inside. So, I offer a backing of the situation again and engineering, information, guidance, and support to try and explain to people, "look this is what you had, but you changed your operation, so this is not going to work for you anymore, and we need to change gears a little bit, and I have something that will possibly help you."

Brax and Visintin (2017) found as product service systems increase in complexity customers rely on manufacturers to provide solutions in the form of technical assessments, which customers previously took responsibility for completing. Sundbo (1997) viewed manufacturing managers providing solutions as a function of satisfying customer's needs, however recent literature points to manufacturers providing solutions as an element to customer focus. For example, Rabetino et al. (2017) concluded manufacturing managers offering services structure their business model to provide solutions to customers. Alignment occurred between data collected, literature, and conceptual framework that manufacturing managers effectively offer strategic service innovations through providing value solutions to customers.

Employee and customer relationship. Manufacturing managers effectively offered business services through customer focus by leveraging the employee and customer relationship for feedback. Sundbo (1997) pointed to employees' and customers' interaction as a critical element for manufacturing managers offering business services. Coreynen et al. (2017) concluded manufacturing managers effectively offer business services through relationships between employees and customers that leverage data gathering and learning from the customer about the quality of service. All the participants responded with commitments to the importance of employee and customer relationships.

Participants expressed commitment to the employee and customer relations. For example, when asked how the participant used service-based innovation strategies to offer business services to customers, P2P responded,

And, I visit the production customers and try to solve their problems and say buy a product from my business, because I am here helping you. And, another thing I will do is support my product, so if you have any issues, if you need a startup, if you have any questions, I, from the manufacturing company will come directly and visit with you.

Similarly, Kreye (2017) found manufacturing managers effectively offered business services when employees and customers jointly commit to a close relationship. P2P's capability statement described how the manufacturer when offering services gave up a strong negotiation position to establish a strong relationship between employees and customers focused on solving customers' challenges. Additionally, P1P sought innovative means of building the employee and customer relationship, through developing training videos on YouTube to connect and build a relationship with customers through other than face-to-face interaction. P1P explained,

But, if we offered them these videos online with a general overview of how this works or that works, I think that would be a resource to our customer base. Not only to our existing customer base but new customers because I think those folks would reference these videos and our name would be in it so that we would be associated as an expert. So, when the customer needs to make a purchase or call vendors into view products or services, we would be at the top of the call list because again we have our name associated with these product service lines, because of these videos they just watched.

P1P's capability statement aligned with P1P's explanation managers commit to employees developing long-term relationships with customers to deliver a service innovation value proposition. Chakkol et al. (2018) concluded manufacturing managers established boundary-spanning relationships with customers to provide service innovations effectively. P1P's capability statement described the manager's commitment to providing product service value propositions by developing long-term partnerships with customers. Similarly, P3PC stressed the importance of customer engagement to build relationships between employees and customers to find the customers' needs. P3PC's supporting documentation discussed how manufacturing managers offering business services focus on listening to customers to "gain a deep understanding" of customers goals and objectives to provide product service solutions. Hakanen et al. (2017) concluded managers focus service innovation strategies on employee and customers interactions to gain a competitive advantage.

While Sundbo (1997) discussed interactions with customers, the researcher concluded strategy works to tell employees customers' needs. The employee and customer relationship element of customer focus them differs Sundbo's conclusion. However, the importance of employee and customer relationship aligns with recent research on the study topic, such as Chakkol et al.'s (2018) conclusion to effectively provide services manufacturing managers must develop boundary-spanning relationships and Kreye's (2017) findings of the importance of employee and customer joint commitment in service offerings. Employee and customer relationship as a key element

in the customer focus theme expands on the current body of knowledge of strategic service innovation as a conceptual framework.

Customer feedback. Another critical element to customer focus apparent in the data collected in this study was customer feedback. Kanninen et al. (2017) found manufacturing managers offering business services collect customer feedback and develop services aligned with customers' feedback. Sundbo (1997) described the role of customer feedback involvement in strategic service innovation as limited mostly to the development process. Participants stressed the importance of customer feedback as a critical element to customer focus in the data collected.

When asked the question about assessing the effectiveness of strategic service innovation strategies, P1P replied, "We received negative feedback in the past, because they said they wanted us to perform this offering 'Why are you not doing it?'. So, I had to sit down with the customer and lay it out for them." P1P's guiding principles document aligned with P1P's response, because the managers Similarly, P2P expressed that customers provided feedback through repeat business. P2P said, "And then have them continuously call you regarding more of the same product or new solutions to new problems." P2P capability statement described customer feedback as a learning process between the manufacturer and the customer, which furthered the relationship with customers.

P3PC described both the importance of repetitive business as the customer feedback discussed by P2P and incorporation of customer feedback in developing of products and services stated by P1P. P3PC described customer feedback measured in

metrics, such as an increase in same customer sales. Also, P3PC stated, "Using our own products to perform service processes and we were able to take our input from clients and keep developing the product to make the product as superior as it could be." P3PC's capability statement summarized the importance of customer feedback to satisfy customers with strategic service innovations. P3PC's capability statement described listening to the customer to gain a deep understanding of client's needs and objectives to leverage business resources to support customers' goals. Manufacturing managers offering business services approached customer feedback as a critical element to customer focus in this study.

The participants expanded the role of customer feedback beyond Sundbo's (1997) assertion customer feedback was limited to the development stage of manufacturing managers offering business services. Rau et al. (2017) described customer feedback as critical in several stages of designing and developing products and services manufacturing managers use to provide value to propositions to customers. P1P and P3PC's discussion on customer feedback aligns with Rau et al.'s (2017) findings and Sundbo's (1997) conceptual framework that manufacturing managers develop strategic service innovations with customers' feedback. However, Hakanen et al. (2017) concluded both taking customers' feedback to develop service offerings and measuring the customer's feedback in sales served as a critical element to manufacturing managers effectively offering business services. The findings from participants data expand the body knowledge in the conceptual framework. Manufacturing managers in this study

sought customer feedback to develop strategic service innovations and measured the effectiveness of service offerings through repetitive sales.

Theme 3: Resources Consideration Strategies

Manufacturing managers offering business services aligned with the conceptual framework as resources consideration strategies emerged as a theme in this study. Manufacturing managers effectively offer business services through consideration of resources (Sundbo, 1997). Hakanen et al. (2017) concluded manufacturing managers offering business services evolved to consider resources in both tangible and intangible formats. Participants' data collected in this study pointed to two critical elements of resources consideration as a theme in this study, including (a) internal resources, and (b) knowledge resources. All the participants and supporting documentation discussed resources consideration as a strategic service innovation strategy throughout the data collected.

Table 3
Findings for Theme 3, Resources Consideration Strategies

References	Frequencies
Internal Resources	70
Knowledge Resources	64

Note. Table 3 displays the participants' references and their frequencies in interviews and documents for the third theme; resources consideration strategies.

Internal resources. In this study, manufacturing managers offering business services considered internal resources when describing strategic service innovations. Sundbo's conceptual framework described how manufacturing managers analyzed

internal resources in strategic decisions about offering service innovations to customers. Kanninen et al. (2017) found manufacturing managers effectively offered business services through consideration of internal resources integration. Manufacturing managers need to make decisions based on internal resources to offer services value propositions to customers. Managers considering internal resources was a critical element of the resources theme and present in both data collected from participants, conceptual framework (Sundbo, 1997), and recent literature (Kanninen et al., 2017).

P1P provided examples of how manufacturing managers consider internal resources, such as balancing finances, training, staff, time, and service offerings. For example, when P1P was asked about overcoming market condition challenges to implement service innovation strategies, P1P replied,

Again, what I am seeing is just simple economics. It costs money to train people and when you have people in training versus out in the field earning revenue and finding the right time to do it, because right now we are so shorthanded. It is hard to pull people out of the rotation and send them for training for a few days.

P1P's supporting document discussed how the success of the business depended on the skill, professionalism, and dedication of employees. P1P's response and assertions in the supporting documentation show how managers consider internal resources in the forms of finance, trained staff, and time as both a limitation and a method to effectively offer business services.

P2P supported the concept of manufacturing managers consideration of internal resources in offering business services to customers. P2P recognized to grow into service

offerings the business requires growth in capabilities in service areas. For example, P2P stated, "I have gone to the company and said we need to grow our abilities in these certain areas if we want to grow in these certain markets." Similar, to P1P's statements P2P described manufacturing managers' strategic consideration of internal resources to grow into offering service innovations. P2P's capability statement showed managers relied on the experience of employees as an internal resource to offer service solutions to customers. P2P's and P1P's supporting documentation both asserted internal resources as experienced and skilled staff serve as offerings of service innovations to customers. P3PC stressed managers both consider internal resources as a balance of effective use of resources and an opportunity to provide service solutions to customers. For example, in response to the question of howP3PC used resources to implement service-based innovation strategies, P3PC expressed managers consider limitations of internal resources, but managers use internal resources to offer business services. P3PC replied,

First, we are a small group, so we are quite resource limited. I started to empower my employees to free up time, basically to free up resources or better yet not tie up resources unnecessarily. So, the idea is to use empowerment to become more efficient to free up resources to start to go out and be able to look at besides daily operational task, besides that, to be able to look at new challenges.

P3PC highlighted the use of internal resources to support innovative service offerings when P3PC stated, "So we were able to pick up a few projects that now use our existing expertise and apply it to this very custom niche market." Also, P3PC's capabilities statement discussed how knowledgeable and experienced people served as internal

resource manufacturing managers consider to offer business service innovations effectively.

Participants and supporting documentation aligned with Sundbo's (1997) strategic service innovation concepts and recent literature. For example, Zhang and Banerji (2017) found manufacturing managers faced barriers to strategic service innovation, including, internal resources to offer customers services. Manufacturing managers used strategy to align service innovations with customers' needs and limited internal resources to effectively offer business services to customers (Sundbo, 1997). Additionally, Coreynen et al. (2018) found manufacturing managers considered the limitation of internal resources as both an area to improve, such as retraining staff and seeking internal efficiencies to offer business services to customers. Findings of this study show internal resources was a critical element to strategic service innovation strategies for manufacturing managers to effectively offer business services.

Knowledge resources. A critical element of the resources theme was knowledge resources, which differs from internal resources. Experience of staff served as an internal resource in the findings of this study. However, knowledge resources expanded beyond internal resources of employees' experience to networking and technological resources used to obtain and provide knowledge for manufacturing managers to effectively offer business services. In this study, knowledge resources showed scarcity with participants considering how to obtain and retain knowledge resources and to strategically take advantage of knowledge resources to offer innovative services to customers. Hakanen et al. (2017) concluded manufacturing managers effectively offered services through

increased requirements for knowledge transactions to for the manufacturer to obtain and retain knowledge about the customer's needs and the customer to acquire knowledge through services from the manufacturer.

Participants in this study showed strategic service innovations through obtaining knowledge as a strategic internal resource and service innovation development to offer customers knowledge-based solutions. P1P expressed the importance of knowledge resources throughout the discussion about how during economic turbulence limited knowledge resources for both P1P's business and customers. P1P stated,

And because you had that big ramp up after such a sharp drop off, the industry is left with a lot of people who are in my opinion way under qualified... And if you do not understand why step 2 is step 2, then you have a hard time understanding the consequences of if we are going to do step 2a instead. So, what I see happening is a lot of things in the field taking a lot longer than they should, because people cannot improvise on the fly because they do not have that overall product knowledge.

P1P further discussed the opportunity to take advantage of the lack of customer knowledge resources. P1P described a competitive advantage with internal knowledge of products and processes to train customers as service innovation. Participants sought opportunities to leverage internal knowledge as a service to fulfill the needs of customers who lacked knowledge in specific areas. For example, P1P stated,

I was able to see that not only service companies like myself, but my competitors were affected by this kind of reduction of general knowledge, but the customer base as well.

P1P's supporting document stated that the success of the business relied on the knowledge of employees. P1P considered knowledge as a resource from two perspectives, including as an internal resource requirement for internal operations, and as an opportunity to provide existing knowledge externally as a service to customers.

Likewise, P2P described how manufacturing managers gained precious knowledge resources over time through changes in the industry cycle. P2P stated,

I have been in the business for over 35 years and have seen the business grow and fall and seen a couple of different things happen. So, I brought a lot of things with me including field-based knowledge and customer base, or potential customer base, because I have come to know a lot of people over the past 35 years.

Similar to P1P, P2P sought to take advantage of the opportunity to provide knowledge resources as a service to customers as a service. For example, P2P replied,

Well I would do some investigation and find out well it looks all the same on the outside, it is all different on the inside. So, I offer a backing of the situation, including engineering, information, guidance, and support to try and explain to people, 'Look this is what you had, but you changed your operation, so this is not going to work for you anymore. And we need to change gears a little bit, and I have something that will possibly help you.'

P2P's supporting documentation relied on offering a large amount to experience to successfully provide services aligned with knowledge resources stated in the interview. P2P's supporting document does not discuss taking advantage of a lack of customer knowledge resources, because business managers use the document to focus on capabilities of the business, not to discuss customers' weaknesses.

P3PC aligned with both P1P and P2P views of knowledge resources as both an internal resource need for manufacturing and service operations and as an external opportunity to fulfill customers' needs. P3PC recognized the need to grow internal knowledge resources by developing expertise in niche functional areas to produce products and provide services. Additionally, P3PC sought the opportunity where customers lacked the knowledge to provide expertise as a service in specific functional areas. P3PC's capabilities statement described how the company provides services through knowledgeable and experienced people with advanced technology to provide valuable products and services to meet customers' needs.

Recent literature and the conceptual framework align with the participants' assertions on knowledge resources as a success strategy. Manufacturing managers lack knowledge resources, including tacit knowledge and reputation to shift strategies from providing products to services (Kanninen et al., 2017). Valtakoski (2017) found manufacturing managers offering services consider knowledge as both an internal resource, where employees possess the tacit knowledge to make products and provide services, and external opportunity to fulfill customers' needs for complex solutions.

Sundbo (1997) described manufacturing managers strategically adapted to provide

service innovations in complex and knowledge-intensive functional areas. Similar, to both the participants' descriptions and the conceptual framework, Coreynen et al. (2017) discussed manufacturing managers offering service innovations strategies to take advantage of internal product knowledge to train and educate customers lacking knowledge resources.

The findings of this study demonstrated resources as a key theme aligned with the conceptual framework. Manufacturing managers in this study sought internal resources and knowledge resources as a critical element of strategic service innovation offerings. Participants recognized both the importance of the key elements in the resources theme through internal resources such as finances, and skilled employees, and knowledge resources needed to both continue internal operations and provide external service offerings to customers lacking functional knowledge.

Theme 4: External Networks Strategies

Manufacturing managers offering business services aligned with the conceptual framework as an external network emerged as a key theme in this study. Sundbo (1997) described manufacturing managers' strategy to consider external networks and customers in service innovation offerings to customers. Manufacturers considered external markets to innovate service offerings through strategically leveraging relationships with stakeholders for resources and opportunities (Raddats et al., 2017). Participants described two critical elements of the external network within the thematic analysis (a) external markets, and (b) relationships.

Table 4
Findings for Theme 4, External Networks Strategies

References	Frequencies
External Market	73
Relationships	25

Note. Table 4 displays the participants' references and their frequencies in interviews and documents for the fourth theme; external networks strategies.

External market. Manufacturing managers offering business services in this study showed the importance of external markets in managers' strategic decisions to innovate to offer services to sustain their business. Sundbo (1997) theorized services innovations as mostly market-driven and framed through managers' strategy.

Manufacturing managers considered external market conditions when developing value propositions to satisfy customers' service needs (Sakyi-Gyinae & Holmlund, 2018). All participants and their supporting documents described the external market as a critical element of the external network.

P1P surveyed the external market of both product and service customers to determine what manufacturing managers capabilities fit customers' service needs. For example, P1P said,

They did not feel the current service base is up to snuff and they were seeing a general labor shortage in their business for the next three years. It was their concern as to how they were going to be able to support their business for the next 3 to 5 years.

P1P's surveillance of the external market allowed P1P to find customers faced a labor shortage of skilled employees. P1P's consideration of external market developed multiple service solutions to satisfy customers' needs for training and experienced employees. In P1P's publicly available capabilities statement document supported a focus on the external market in the description of the business role in communities. The managers wrote that communities benefit from managers operating the business as a "good corporate citizen." P1P's supporting document demonstrates the managers consider external market through consideration for communities.

Similarly, P2P expressed how focusing on changes in the external market lead to opportunities to innovate services. For example, P2P stated, "But in the past 10 years the entire market has changed the volume of gas, the type of gas, the processes, the environmental concerns, and everything has changed." P2P explored external market trends, changes, and challenges in consideration of how to strategically innovate to offer services to customers. For example, P2P stated,

Also, I see the trend in the oil and gas business, and what I feel they need 3, 5, and 10 years down the road, I try to begin to look at our products and services to do what I think is a possible need for them down the road.

P2P's supporting document showed the managers focus on taking advantage of trends in the external market. P2P's capabilities statement recognized the opportunity of new markets for solutions as customers' processes changed to new innovative methods. P2P described a trend in the external market for customers to reduce labor by increasing the workload of skilled labors to monitor more business assets based on technological advances.

P3PC described an external market focus as the managers focused on changes and challenges in the market provide innovative service solutions. P3PC explored the business managers external market as a critical strategy in service innovations. P3PC stated,

In order to excel, we find markets that are very specialty-driven. And about two to three years ago there was some federal regulation that affected existing customers of ours or the entire company, industrial customers. And so, we became experts in this product, and we got in front of customers and tried to help them deal with this regulation.

P3PC's recognition of customers' challenges from changes in the external market aligns with the other participants expressed strategies to survey the external market to take advantage of opportunities in changes, which challenge customers to provide innovative services.

Manufacturing managers exploring external markets in consideration for strategic service innovations align with relevant literature and the conceptual framework for this study. Like P1P's surveillance of the external market to find trends in labor shortages and the need for training as a service. Kreye (2017) found manufacturing managers offering services explored external market trends to identify a risk of lack of qualified labor required to produce products and offer services and developed innovative approaches by partnering with external sources to train and educate future employees. Sundbo (1997)

described managers seeking opportunities to provide services based on changes in the external markets as a key element in the conceptual framework. Manufacturing managers offering business services must understand the external market to strategically innovate services to provide solutions to customers challenges (Kanninen et al., 2017). Also, participants described providing solutions to customers by leveraging technological changes in the market, which aligned with Sayar and Er (2018) integration of products and services through the Internet of Things to analyze external market requirements. All participants expressed the importance of the strategy of considering the external market to develop service innovations a critical element of this study.

Relationships. Manufacturing managers leveraged relationships to provide strategic service innovations in this study, which aligned with literature discussing the conceptual framework. Managers leveraged relationships as a critical element to offer service innovations to solve customers' problems in the market (Sakyi-Gyinae & Holmlund, 2018). Sundbo (1997) described how manufacturing managers providing services developed close relationships with customers to align service innovations strategically. Participants in this study described the importance of relationships to provide strategic service innovations aligned with literature and the conceptual framework.

P1P leveraged relationships to establish trust with customers as an expert through technology and listening to other experts on service innovation topics to engage customers. P1P focused on establishing a connection as a trusted expert through use of posting videos sharing functional process applications through social media video content

to develop relationships with customers lacking skills and experience. For example, P1P demonstrated how to establish a relationship with customers as P1P expressed,

So, when the customer actually needs to make a purchase or call vendors into view products, we would be at the top of the call list because again we have our name associated with these product lines, because of these videos they just watched.

P1P described the importance of a relationship based on trust between customers and manufacturing managers to allow strategic service innovation offerings. P1P established a link between manufacturers sharing knowledge resources and customers' trust when offering services. P1P's publicly available supporting document expressed the relevance of the relationship with stakeholders "built on a framework of mutual benefit and trust." P1P's strategy to establish a relationship with customers was consistent with other participants.

Similarly, P2P used relationships to offer innovative services through the establishment of trust. However, P2P focused on establishing a relationship through personal relationships to establish trust in contrast to P1P's use of social media to establish relationships. P2P described the importance of knowing customers by name and their individual preferences in a relationship. For example, P2P stated, "So, definitely try to gain a more personal relationship with them. We absolutely have to be on a first name basis." While P1P and P2P contrasted on the medium of establishing a trust-based relationship both participants agreed on the need for trust-based relationships to offer services to customers.

Also, P2P described the importance of establishing a network of industry experts through trust-based relationships to solve customers' problems. For example, P2P said, "So, if I have an issue and I cannot figure it out or understand it myself, I start to call these people, hundreds of them. All the numbers in the Rolodex are the most important thing you can have." P2P's statement aligned the capabilities statement, which managers described the ability to access multiple outside service providers to assist with solutions to customers' service challenges. P2P's statements aligned with P1P's strategy to leverage relationships through a social media network channel to be at the top of customers' list when a customer needs assistance.

Additionally, P3PC described leveraging relationships from other departments in the company to offer service innovations to customers. P3PC's capability statement showed a focus on relationships within the broader community based on the establishment of trust. P3PC described the need to take responsibility for the impact of their work on the surrounding community and being good stewards to establish relationships based on trust. All the participants focused on establishing relationships on trust to provide service innovations to customers and leveraged networks to provide solutions to customers' challenges. However, all participants showed different mediums in establishing trust-based relationships, including social media engagement, personal first name basis, and leveraging other departments coupled with dedicated responsibility to the broader community.

Manufacturing managers focused strategy on developing deep relationships with customers to innovate service offerings (Raddats et al., 2017). Like the participants in this

study, Coreynen et al. (2017) found manufacturing managers leveraged long-term relationships by offering customized service innovation solutions. Additionally, manufacturing managers leverage relationships within the broader market (Kanninen et al., 2017), through technology advancements, and community networks (Spring & Araujo, 2017). Similarly, Sundbo (1997) recognized manufacturing managers offering services strategically developed close relationships with customers to offer service innovations.

Participants described the importance of relationships as a critical element to external networks in this study. Also, participants explore external markets to align service innovations with customers' needs strategically. Both elements in the external network as a thematic finding in this study aligned with the conceptual framework. For example, Sundbo (1997) described managers' strategy to consider market conditions as the most crucial success factor for service innovations. Manufacturing managers offer service innovations through strategies to leverage external markets and relationships to sustain their business (Sakyi-Gyinae & Holmlund, 2018).

The findings of this study include four main themes, including service innovation, customer focus, resources, and external networks. The themes from this study aligned with manufacturing managers strategic service innovation strategies discussed in the conceptual framework. Technological advances change the mediums manufacturing managers used to strategically innovated services, such as the Internet of Things (Sayar & Er, 2018). However, the themes of this study aligned with assertions of Sundbo (1997) and relevant literature discussed in this study.

Applications to Professional Practice

Business managers may use the findings of this qualitative multiple case study to apply professional practices formed on strategic service innovation strategies from three successful manufacturing managers. Specifically, manufacturing managers may apply the findings of this study to develop strategies to increase the success of manufacturing business service offerings and increase business stability through reduced risk of product market economic instability. Manufacturing managers use effective service innovation strategies to leverage opportunities to sustain the business and reduce uncertainty (Kreye, 2017). Business managers may apply strategies described in the findings of this study to sustain their business beyond 5 years.

Manufacturing managers must understand how to use strategic service innovation strategies to sustain their business. Manufacturing managers from this study used service innovation strategies, including manager's control in developing strategic innovation services. Manufacturing managers offering services depend on the flexibilities of strategic innovations to take advantage of opportunities (Cheng & Krumwiede, 2017). Manufacturing managers strategically approach service innovation to gain a competitive advantage (Baines et al., 2017). Manufacturing managers offering services sustained their business effectively by establishing a dual organizational structure considering both products and services (Kuijken et al., 2017). Manufacturing managers standardize business processes to offer services within different functional organizational structures (Sayar & Er, 2018). Manufacturing managers effectively offer services through the

application of service innovation strategies considering strategic innovation, competitive advantage, dual organization, and standardization.

Manufacturing managers offerings services relied on customer focus strategies to effectively sustain their business beyond 5 years. Manufacturing managers focused on customers' needs to provide value propositions meeting customer's needs (Sakyi-Gyinae & Holmlund, 2018). Manufacturing managers developed an understanding of customer's knowledge resources to offer service innovations (Bohm et al., 2017). Manufacturing managers offering services focused on gaps in customer's knowledge resources to make adaptation decisions (Rabetino et al., 2017). Manufacturing managers offering services change focus from product-focused strategies to strategies to provide customers with solutions to problems (Chakkol et al., 2018). When employees and customers commit to developing a relationship to solve problems, manufacturing managers can effectively offer business services to customers (Kreye, 2017). Manufacturing managers leveraged relationships solving problems with the customer to gain feedback to effectively offer business services (Hakanen et al., 2017). Manufacturing managers offering services can sustain their business beyond 5 years through strategies focused on customers' needs, understanding customers' knowledge resources, solving customer's problems, committing to relationships with customers, and gaining customer's feedback.

Manufacturing managers offering services can apply resource strategies, including internal resources and knowledge resources to successfully sustain their business beyond 5 years. Manufacturing managers take inventory of limitations of internal resources to gain efficiencies in business processes to effectively offer customers

services (Coreynen et al., 2018). Manufacturing managers effectively offered business services through the integration of internal resources (Kanninen et al., 2017). Manufacturing managers utilized employees' tacit knowledge to improve products and provide services to fulfill customers' needs for solutions to complex problems (Valtakoski, 2017). Manufacturing managers effectively sustain their business by applying resource strategies to gain efficiencies through leveraging internal resources and improving services based on knowledge resources.

Manufacturing managers offering service innovations to sustain their business for 5 years effectively used external network strategies. External network strategies consist of manager's consideration of external markets and leveraging relationships to gain a competitive advantage. Manufacturing managers offering services reconnoitered external market trends to provide customers solutions, such as some managers recognized the lack of qualified labor and partnered with external sources to develop a qualified labor pool through industry training (Kreye, 2017). Manufacturing managers provided customized service innovations establishing long-term relationships to grow customer's dependency on the manufacturer's products and services (Coreynen et al., 2018). Manufacturing managers can apply strategic service innovation strategies to consider external networks through external market analysis and leverage relationships to successfully sustain their business beyond 5 years.

Manufacturing managers may use the findings of this study to apply strategic service innovation strategies to sustain their business beyond 5 years. Manufacturing managers can strategically develop service-based innovations through understanding the

need to resource strategic innovation processes adequately. Managers can apply strategies found in this study to understand providing service innovations to customers requires the process to evolve continuously, and the process does not end with one final solution to customers' problems. Manufacturing managers can apply the strategies in this study to understand the requirement of continuous adaptation to the external market through a strict focus on customers' needs and application of resources. Business managers may apply the findings of this study to understand what effective strategies managers of manufacturing business offering services use to sustain their business successfully beyond 5 years and replicate those strategies to contribute to effective business practices to increase the longevity of the business.

Implications for Social Change

Manufacturing managers may use the results of this study to contribute to positive social change through the strategies within the findings to increase business longevity, improve socioeconomic conditions of the community, and increase employment opportunities for residents of communities with petroleum and coal manufacturing companies in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States. For example, business managers in resource sectors increase the socioeconomic sustainability of surrounding communities by developing alternative economic opportunities to counter business declines in manufacturing (Fordham et al., 2017).

Participants in this study sustained their business beyond 5 years through economic turbulence using the strategies analyzed in this study to avoid substantial reductions in workforce employment opportunities. According to the U.S. Department of

Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (2015), on average, managers whose business successfully remained in business for 5 years showed double the employment opportunities of their manufacturing businesses over the same 5-year period. Managers, who succeed in sustaining their business beyond 5 years, can increase employment opportunities (Strydom, 2017). Managers of manufacturing businesses offering services may adopt effective service-based innovation strategies from this study to enable more businesses to be competitive in the broader U.S. and global markets and increases in employment opportunities in their communities.

Recommendations for Action

The four major themes from this study inspired several recommendations for action. Manufacturing managers, energy business consultants, energy business publications, and regional petroleum or coal professional networking associations possess the best opportunities to implement the recommendations to sustain manufacturing businesses in the petroleum and coal industry by offering service innovations.

Professional networking associations include Virginia Oil and Gas Association,

Pennsylvania Independent Oil and Gas Association, Virginia Coal & Energy Alliance,

Inc., West Virginia Manufacturers Association, and other industry networking associations. Recommendations for action suggested implementing management strategies to sustain business beyond 5 years, including service innovations, customer focus, resources, and external network.

The first recommendation is for manufacturing managers offering services to control a strategic innovation process in changing the business focus from how a

manufacturer produces products to multiple functions efforts to provide services, too.

Manufacturing managers pursued service innovations through a strategic process to gain a competitive advantage (Szasz et al., 2017). Manufacturing managers offering services should establish dual organizations to encourage the development of service innovations. Manufacturing managers offering services can take advantage of opportunities to standardize service processes to gain a competitive advantage through training staff on service innovations. Also, managers should develop joint customer manufacturer training on field processes to strategically innovate to offer services.

Manufacturing managers offering services can center strategies to focus on customers' needs through evaluating customer's knowledge resources and developing a line of communication for feedback. Managers leverage employees and customers' relationships, identify customers' knowledge resources to find gaps and provide solutions to fulfill customers' needs. Manufacturing managers offering services focused on customers' needs to strategically transition to service innovations (Brax & Visintin, 2017). Manufacturing managers offering services increase the depth of business relationships by solving customers' problems (Rabetino et al., 2017). A recommendation is manufacturing managers, energy business consultants, Chambers of Commerce, and regional petroleum or coal professional networking associations engage in joint problemsolving seminars or industry days to develop capabilities to provide solutions to customers problems.

Manufacturing managers and energy business consultants should develop mechanisms to take advantage of resources strategies, including internal resources and

knowledge resources. Manufacturing managers improve some internal resources by retraining staff and seeking efficient use of internal resources to effectively offer business services to customers (Coreynen et al., 2018). A recommendation is for manufacturing managers and consultants to develop inventories of internal resources, such as qualified labor pools, and tacit knowledge resources to offer services. Manufacturing managers and energy consultants should map internal resources to service innovation processes to improve efficient uses of internal resources. Manufacturing managers and energy business consultants should develop and publish process training, how-to job aids, and lessons learned to aid in development expanding knowledge resources.

Manufacturing managers offering services must develop external networks by surveying the external market and developing relationships. Manufacturing managers strategically survey the external market to innovate service offerings to customers (Kanninen et al., 2017). Manufacturing managers offering service innovations take advantage of internal product knowledge to train and educate customers lacking knowledge resources (Coreynen et al., 2017). A recommendation is manufacturing managers jointly with regional professional industry associations should develop both historical repositories of business managers' experiences from external market changes. Also, both the manufacturing manager and regional professional industry associations should strengthen manufacturers providing services and customers relationships through jointly publishing YouTube videos, how-to job aids, and lessons learned to advertise knowledge resources. Manufacturing managers offering services should develop relationships with customers as experts through publishing knowledge resources on

industry processes through YouTube videos, how-to job aids, and lessons learned to assist both up and downstream producers, service providers, and customers.

Business managers can use the findings of this study to improve business practices by following the strategies to offer services based on service innovation processes, developing customer focus, considering resources, and leveraging external resources. Manufacturing managers can use the strategies of this study to focus on building feedback mechanisms to focus on customers through joint problem solving, leveraging relationships, and offering knowledge resources to gain trust. Managers can build a focus on customers by instilling a key strategy for guiding employees to find a customer's problem and solve it. Manufacturing managers in this study applied the strategies described to increase their competitive advantage and take advantage of opportunities to sustain their business throughout product lifecycles and economic cycles.

There are several main arteries to disseminate the recommendations presented in this study to manufacturing managers offering services. Organizers of regional petroleum or coal professional networking associations, such as Virginia Oil and Gas Association, Pennsylvania Independent Oil and Gas Association, Virginia Coal & Energy Alliance, Inc., West Virginia Manufacturers Association, and other industry associations may disseminate relevant findings and recommendations for action from this study in discussions at meetings and seminars. Regional petroleum or coal professional networking associations provides an opportunity for researchers, service providers, and manufacturing managers engage in various industry forums. Also, some academic

publishers may publish my findings and recommendations in industry publications, such as *Northeast ONG* or other industry publications,

Additionally, the results of this study are available to academics, researchers, and manufacturing managers through ProQuest/UMI database. I will provide a copy of this study and a summary to participants and answer any relevant questions, such as *Energy Journal* or *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, academic conferences, such as the *International Conference on Business Servitization*, and regional professional conferences and training seminars.

Recommendations for Further Research

The purpose of this qualitative, multiple case study was to explore effective service-based innovation strategies that manufacturing managers use to offer business services to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years. The population for this study was three manufacturing managers offering business services, from petroleum and coal manufacturing companies, who sustained their business in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States beyond than 5 years. Four major themes related to strategic service innovations emerged from this study for managers to use as strategies to sustain their business operations. Recommendations for further research provides researchers opportunities to expand the body of knowledge strategic service innovation phenomenon.

The specific industry limitations for participation in this study may cause generalizability challenges to apply the findings and recommendations for action to all manufacturing managers offering services. While the selection of manufacturing managers offering business services, from petroleum and coal manufacturing companies

from the mid-Atlantic region of the United States was to fill voids in the body of knowledge. Further research replicating the study with a sample population of manufacturing managers offering services in different geographic regions or industries may provide rich and deep data leading to other strategies.

Participants of this study provided documentation limited to those documents publicly available. In this study, participant's documents served as a primary source of data collected. In future research, manufacturing managers offering services may expand on strategic service innovation strategies through participation in focus groups interviews or participant observations at customers' field sites. Analysis of data collected from this study with data collected in future research through focus groups or participant observations could facilitate triangulation.

Also, manufacturing managers offering services participated through semistructured interviews for this study. Future research may include customers of the manufacturing managers offer services. Customers could participate in a focus group to expand on strategic service innovation strategies. Understanding strategic service innovation strategies from customers' perspectives through a focus group and from the manufacturing managers offering services in this study establishes triangulation.

Limitations discussed in this study offer recommendations for future research in exploring strategic service innovation strategies manufacturing managers offering services use to sustain their business beyond 5 years. Further research may contribute through replicating the study with participants from other geographic locations or industries. Future research may explore the perspectives of manufacturing managers

offering services or their customers to expand on strategic service innovation strategies.

Additional research may involve other primary data sources, such as focus group interviews or participant observations at customers' field sites to explore strategic service innovation strategies.

Reflections

I framed my relationship with this research topic from my professional experience in the U.S. military serving in petroleum and logistics fields and contract management focused on innovations, strategy development, and acquisitions of products and business services. The innovative and resilient people Appalachia, who work through the business problem of this study and other socioeconomic challenges, influenced my interest in studying strategy in energy markets near my home in Virginia and choosing the sample population for this study. From the wake of the 2008 economic downturn, I desired to gain an understanding of successful strategic service innovation strategies and share the information with other manufacturers to develop resiliency in employment opportunities during turbulent commodity lifecycle crashes. Plans consist of incorporation of my experience and the findings of this study into several organizations, including my military unit, my civilian employer, and my courses as an adjunct at a public university to mentor future managers on strategy.

I learned recruiting participants was challenging. I struggled to find participants through social media. Initially, I believed recruiting through social media would yield the most participants. After multiple attempts, I realized recruiting participants through social media was not an effective recruitment strategy. Instead, I used social media to research

potential participants' backgrounds. However, I was able to gain participants by attending professional industry networking events, telephone calls, and face-to-face engagements directly with managers. If I conducted this study again, I would not attempt to recruit through social media and focus on attending industry professional networking events.

After completing this rigorous academic journey, I appreciate the learning experience and research skills I gained. I was motivated to complete this study to finish the requirements to earn a terminal degree. However, I wanted my research to contribute to the success of other managers and build resiliency into employment opportunities in the petroleum and coal industry. As the expansion of connectivity between products and services continues to grow through the Internet of Things and artificial intelligence, I believe the importance of effective strategic service innovation strategies will grow in relevance to managers. I seek to take advantage of my findings on effective strategic service innovation strategies and the academic research skills I learned from experiences enrolled in Doctor of Business Administration program at Walden University.

Conclusion

This study began with the discussion of manufacturing managers taking advantage of innovations to transition from a product focus to incorporate successful service innovation strategies. Manufacturing industry lost over 2 million jobs following the 2008 economic decline. However, most manufacturing managers' initiatives to transition from a product-focused strategy to offering services failed, expanding the challenges of sustaining employment for approximately 12 million manufacturing employees in the United States. Manufacturing managers of energy companies,

traditionally dependent on energy commodities as a source of revenue, experienced significant employment declines following the 2008 economic decline.

Manufacturing managers turned to offer services as a path to sustain their business. Manufacturing business failures affect business stakeholders, employees, and the surrounding community. Effective service-based innovation strategies were critical to establishing resiliency for manufacturing managers sustaining business operations beyond 5 years. Additionally, manufacturing managers offering business services served as a barrier to additional unemployment increases and more severe negative economic impacts to communities dependent on manufacturing industries, including the petroleum and coal industry in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States.

References

- Adams-Hutcheson, G., & Longhurst, R. (2017). 'At least in person there would have been a cup of tea': Interviewing via Skype. *Area*, *49*, 148-155. doi:10.1111/area.12306
- Adrodgari, F., & Saccani, N. (2017). Business models for the service transformation of industrial firms. Service Industries Journal, 37, 57-83. doi:10.1080/02642069.2017.1289514
- Agrawal, A. K., & Rahman, Z. (2015). Roles and resource contributions of customers in value co-creation. *International Strategic Management Review*, *3*, 144-160. doi:10.1016/j.ism.2015.03.001
- Ahmad Tajuddin, A. J. (2015). Defining professional communication skills for Malaysian graduates: Evidence analysis using ATLAS.ti. *International Journal of Multidisciplinary Approach & Studies*, 2(2), 1-21. Retrieved from http://ijmas.com/
- Akesson, M., Skalen, P., Edvardsson, B., & Stalhammar, A. (2015). Value proposition test-driving for service innovation: How frontline employees innovate value propositions. *Journal of Service Theory and Practice*, 26, 338-362. doi:10.1108/JSTP-10-2014-0242
- Aldiabat, K. M., & Navenec, C.-L. L. (2018). Data saturation: The mysterious step in grounded theory method. *Qualitative Report*, 23, 245-261. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/

- AlKhateeb, M. (2018). Using Skype as a qualitative interview medium within the context of Saudi Arabia: A research note. *Qualitative Report*, 23, 2253-2260. http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Alghisi, A., & Saccani, N. (2015). Internal and external alignment in the servitization journey overcoming the challenges. *Production Planning & Control*, 26, 1219-1232. doi:10.1080/09537287.2015.1033496
- Ambroise, L., Prim-Allaz, I., & Teyssier, C. (2018). Financial performance of servitized manufacturing firms: A configuration issue between servitization strategies and customer-oriented organizational design. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 71, 54-68. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.11.007
- Aminoff, A., & Hakanen, T. (2018). Implications of product centric servitization for global distribution channels of manufacturing companies. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, doi:10.1108/IJPDLM-06-2018-0231
- Ancker, J. S., Witteman, H. O., Hafeez, B., Provencher, T., Van de Graaf, M., & Wei, E. (2015). The invisible work of personal health information management among people with multiple chronic conditions: Qualitative interview study among patients and providers. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 17, 1-13. Retrieved from www.jmir.org
- Andreassen, T. W., Lervik-Olsen, L., & Calabretta, G. (2015). Trend spotting and service innovation. *Journal of Service Theory and Practice*, 25, 10-30. doi:10.1108/JSTP-09-2013-0178

- Andreini, D., Salo, J., & Wendelin, R. (2015). From a service-dominant logic to a good-dominant logic: Consequences for the buyer-seller relationships of a corporate bank. *Industrial Marketing and Purchasing Journal*, *9*, 250-266. doi:10.1108/IMP-07-2015-0034
- Baines, T. (2015). Exploring service innovation and the servitization of manufacturing firm. *Research-Technology Management*, *58*(5), 9-11. doi:10.5437/08956308X5805002
- Baines, T., Bigdeli, A. Z., Bustinza, O. F., Shi, V. G., Baldwin, J., & Ridgway, K. (2017).

 Servitization: Revisiting the state-of-the-art and research priorities. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, *37*, 256-278.

 doi:10.1108/IJOPM-06-2015-0312
- Barney, J. B. (1991). Firm resources and sustained competitive advantage. *Journal of Management*, 17, 99–120. doi:10.1177/014920639101700108.
- Barrett, M., Davidson, E., Prabhu, J., & Vargo, S. L. (2015). Service innovation in the digital age: Key contributions and future directions. *MIS Quarterly*, *39*, 135-154. Retrieved from http://www.misq.org/
- Beamish, P. W., & Lupton, N. C. (2016). Cooperative strategies in international business and management: Reflections on the past 50 years and future directions. *Journal of World Business*, *51*, 163-175. doi:10.1016/j.jwb.2015.08.013
- Benedetti, M., Cesarotti, V., Holgado, M., Introna, V., & Macchi, M. (2015). A proposal for energy services' classification including a product service systems perspective. *Procedia CIRP*, *30*, 251-256. doi:10.1016/j.procir.2015.02.121

- Benedettini, O., Neely, A., & Swink, M. (2015). Why do servitized firms fail? A risk-based explanation. *International Journal of Operations & Production*Management, 35, 946-979. doi:10.1108/IJOPM-02-2014-0052
- Bengtsson, M. (2016). How to plan and perform a qualitative study using a content analysis. *NursingPlus Open*, 2, 8-14. doi:10.1016/j.npls.2016.01.001
- Birken, S. A., Lee, S.-Y., Weiner, B. J., Chin, M. H., Chiu, M., & Schaefer, C. T. (2015).

 From strategy to action: How top managers' support increases middle managers' commitment to innovation implementation in healthcare organizations. *Health Care Management Review*, 40, 159-168. doi:10.1097/HMR.0000000000000018
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1802-1811. doi:10.1177/1049732316654870
- Bohm, E., Eggert, A., & Thiesbrummel, C. (2017). Service transition: A viable option for manufacturing companies with deteriorating financial performance? *Industrial Marketing Management*, 60, 101-111. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2016.04.007
- Bourque, C. J., & Bourdon, S. (2017). Multidisciplinary graduate training in social research methodology and computer-assisted qualitative data analysis: A hands-on/hands-off design. *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, 41, 475-491. doi:10.1080/0309877X.2015.1135882
- Bradshaw, C., Atkinson, S., & Doody, O. (2017). Employing a qualitative description approach in health care research. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, 4, 1-8. doi:10.1177/2333393617742282

- Brax, S. A., & Visintin, F. (2017). Meta-model of servitization: The integrative profiling approach. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 60, 17-32. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2016.04.014
- Broadstock, D. C., Fan, Y., Ji, Q., & Zhang, D. (2016). Shocks and stocks: A bottom-up assessment of the relationship between oil prices, gasoline prices and the returns of Chinese firms. *Energy Journal*, *37*, 55-86. doi:10.5547/01956574.37.SII.dbro
- Burton-Chase, A. M., Parker, W. M., Hennig, K., Sisson, F., & Bruzzone, L. L. (2017).

 The use of social media to recruit participants with rare conditions: Lynch syndrome as an example. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 6, 1-12. doi:10.2196/resprot.6066
- Bustinza, O. F., Bigdeli, A. Z., Baines, T., & Elliot, C. (2015). Servitization and competitive advantage: The importance of organizational structure and value chain position. *Research-Technology Management*, 58(5), 53-60. doi:10.5437/08956308X5805354
- Caretta, M. A. (2016). Member checking: A feminist participatory analysis of the use of preliminary results pamphlets in cross-cultural, cross-language research. *Qualitative Research*, 16, 305-318. doi:10.1177/1468794115606495
- Carminati, L. (2018). Generalizability in qualitative research: A tale of two traditions. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28, 2094-2101. doi:10.1177/1049732318788379
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *Qualitative Report*, 21, 811-830. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/

- Chakkol, M., Karatzas, A., Johnson, M., & Godsell, J. (2018). Building bridges:

 Boundary spanners in servitized supply chains. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 38, 579-604. doi:10.1108/IJPOM-01-2016-0052
- Cheng, C. C. J., & Krumwiede, D. (2017). What makes a manufacturing firm effective for service innovation? The role of intangible capital under strategic and environmental conditions. *International Journal of Product Economics*, 1, 112-122. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2017.07.007
- Chowdhury, M. F. (2015). Coding, sorting and sifting of qualitative data analysis:

 Debates and discussion. *Quality & Quantity*, 49, 1135-1143. doi:10.1007/s11135-014-0039-2
- Cleland, J. A. (2017). The qualitative orientation in medical education research. *Korean Journal of Medical Education*, 29(2), 61-71. doi:10.3946/kjme.2017.53
- Coad, J., Gibson, F., Horstman, M., Milnes, L., Randall, D., & Carter, B. (2015). Be my guest! Challenges and practical solutions of undertaking interviews with children in the home setting. *Journal of Child Health Care*, *19*, 432-443. doi:10.1177/1367493514527653
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Medsurg Nursing*, 25, 435-436. Retrieved from http://www.medsurgnursing.net/cgi-bin/WebObjects/MSNJournal.woa
- Coreynen, W., Matthyssens, P., Rijck, R., & Dewit, I. (2018). Internal levers for servitization: How product-oriented manufacturers can upscale product-service

- systems. *International Journal of Production Research*, *56*, 2184-2198. doi:10.1080/00207543.2017.134504
- Coreynen, W., Matthyssens, P., & Van Bockhaven, W. (2017). Boosting servitization through digitization: Pathways and dynamic resource configurations for manufacturers. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 60, 42-53. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2016.04.012
- Counsell, A., & Harlow, L. L. (2017). Reporting practices and use of quantitative methods in Canadian journal articles in psychology. *Canadian**Psychology/Psychologie Canadienne, 58, 140-147. doi:10.1037/cap0000074
- Cridland, E. K., Jones, S. C., Caputi, P., & Magee, C. A. (2015). Qualitative research with families living with autism spectrum disorder: Recommendations for conducting semistructured interviews. *Journal of Intellectual & Developmental Disability*, 40, 78-91. doi:10.3109/13668250.2014.964191
- Cugini, M. (2015). Successfully navigating the human subjects approval process. *Journal of Dental Hygiene*, 89, 54-56. Retrieved from http://jdh.adha.org/
- Curiazzi, R., Rondini, A., Pirola, F., Ouertani, M.-Z., & Pezzotta, G. (2016). Process standardization to support service process assessment and re-engineering.

 *Procedia CIRP, 47, 347-352. doi:10.1016/j.procir.2016.03.104
- Cusumano, M. A., Kahl, S. J., & Suarez, F. F. (2015). Services, industry evolution, and the competitive strategies of product firms. *Strategic Management Journal*, *36*, 559-575. doi:10.10002/smj.2235

- Cutler, S. Q., Doherty, S., & Carmichael, B. (2018). The experience sampling method:

 Examining its use and potential in tourist experience research. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 21, 1052-1074. doi:10.1080/13683500.2015.1131670
- Daher, M., Carre, D., Jaramillo, A., Olivares, H., & Tomicic, A. (2017). Experience and meaning in qualitative research: A conceptual review and a methodological device proposal. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 18(3), 62-85. doi:10.17169/fqs-18.3.2696
- Dasgupta, M. (2015). Exploring the relevance of case study research. *Vision*, *19*, 147-160. doi:10.1177/0972262915575661
- Davidson, J., Thompson, S., & Harris, A. (2017). Qualitative data analysis software practices in complex research: Teams troubling the assumptions about transparency and portability. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 23, 779-798. doi:10.1177/1077800417731082
- Denzin, N. K. (1978). The research act: A theoretical introduction to sociological methods (2nd ed.). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Dikko, M. (2016). Establishing construct validity and reliability: Pilot testing of a qualitative interview for research in Takaful (Islamic Insurance). *Qualitative Report*, 21, 521-528. Retrieved from www.nova.edu/tqr

- Dixon, C. S. (2015). Interviewing adolescent females in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 2067-2077. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Doody, O., & Doody, C. M. (2015). Conducting a pilot study: Case study of a novice researcher. *British Journal of Nursing*, 24, 1074-1078. doi:10.12968/bjon.2015.24.21.1074
- Dotolo, D., Nielsen, E. L., Curtis, J. R., & Engelberg, R. A. (2017). Strategies for enhancing family participation in research in the ICU: Findings from a qualitative study. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, *54*, 226-230. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2017.03.004
- Durodola, O., Fusch, P., & Tippins, S. (2017). A case-study of financial literacy and wellbeing of immigrants in Lloydminster, Canada. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 12, 37-49. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v12n8p37
- Eloranta, V., & Turunen, T. (2015). Seeking competitive advantage with service infusion:

 A systematic literature review. 26, 394-425. doi:10.1108/JOSM-12-2013-0359
- Engen, M., & Magnusson, P. (2015). Exploring the role of front-line employees as innovators. *Service Industries Journal*, *35*, 303-324. doi:10.1080/02642069.2015.1003370
- Elliott, D., Husbands, S., Hamdy, F. C., Holmberg, L., & Donovan, J. L. (2017).

 Understanding and improving recruitment to randomized controlled trials:

 Qualitative research approaches. *European Urology*, 72, 789-798.

 doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2017.04.036

- Estrada, L. M., & Koolen, M. (2018). Audiovisual media annotation using qualitative data analysis software: A comparative analysis. *Qualitative Report*, 23, 40-60. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Ford, S., & Despeisse, M. (2016). Additive manufacturing and sustainability: An exploratory study of the advantages and challenges. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *137*, 1573-1587. doi:10.1016/j.clepro.2016.04.150
- Fordham, A. E., Robinson, G. M., & Blackwell, B. D. (2017). Corporate social responsibility in resources companies: Opportunities for developing positive benefits and lasting legacies. *Resources Policy*, *52*, 366-376. doi:10.1016/j.resourpol.2017.04.009
- Frow, P., Nenonen, S., Payne, A., & Storbacka, K. (2015). Managing co-creation design:

 A strategic approach to innovation. *British Journal of Management*, 26, 463-483.

 doi:10.1111/1467-8551.12087
- Fugard, A., & Potts, H. (2015). Supporting thinking on sample sizes for thematic analysis: A quantitative tool. *International Journal of Social Research*Methodology, 18, 669-684. doi:10.1080/13645579.2015.1005453
- Fusch, P. I., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2017). How to conduct a mini-ethnographic case study: A guide for novice researchers. *Qualitative Report*, 22, 923-941.

 Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research.

 *Qualitative Report, 20, 1408-1416. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/

- Gebauer, H., Joncourt, S., & Saul, C. (2016). Services in product-oriented companies: past, present, and future. *Universia Business Review*, 49, 32-52. Retrieved from https://ubr.universia.net/
- Gebauer, H., Paiola, M., & Edvardsson, B. (2012). A capability perspective on service business development in small and medium-sized suppliers. *Scandinavian Journal of Management*, 28, 321-339. doi:10.1016/j.scaman.2012.07.001
- Gentles, S. J., Charles, C., Ploeg, J., & McKibbon, K. A. (2015). Sampling in qualitative research: Insights from an overview of the methods literature. *Qualitative Report*, 20, 1772-1789. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Gerlitz, L. (2015). Design for product and service innovation in industry 4.0 and emerging smart society. *Journal of Security & Sustainability Issues*, 5, 181-198. doi:10.9770/jssi.2015.5.2(5)
- Gibson, C. B. (2017). Elaboration, generalization, triangulation, and interpretation: On enhancing the value of mixed method research. *Organizational Research Methods*, 20, 193-223. doi:10.1177/1094428116639133
- Goldberg, A. E., & Allen, K. R. (2015). Communicating qualitative research: Some practical guideposts for scholars. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 77, 3-22. doi:10.1111/jomf.12153
- Goodell, L. S., Stage, V. C., & Cooke, N. K. (2016). Practical qualitative research strategies: Training interviewers and coders. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, 48, 578-585. doi:10.1016/j.neb.2016.06.001

- Grady, C. (2015). Enduring and emerging challenges of informed consent. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 372, 855-862. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1411250
- Green, M. H., Davies, P., & Ng, I. C. L. (2017). Two strands of servitization: A thematic analysis of traditional and customer co-created servitization and future research directions. *International Journal of Production Economies*, 192, 40-53. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2017.01.009
- Grubic, T. (2018). Remote monitoring technology and servitization: Exploring the relationship. *Computers in Industry*, *100*, 148-158.

 doi:10.1016/j.compind.2018.05.002
- Ha, S. Y., Lee, G. H., & Kim, B. S. (2016). Strategies for manufacturing servitization of Korean smes: By using data envelopment analysis. *Journal of Applied Business Research*, 32, 635-646. doi:10.19030/jabr.v32i2.9600
- Hadi, M. A., & Closs, S. J. (2016). Ensuring rigour and trustworthiness of qualitative research in clinical pharmacy. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 38, 641-646. doi:10.1007/s11096-015-0237-6
- Hakanen, T., Helander, N., & Valkokari, K. (2017). Servitization in global business-to-business distribution: The central activities of manufacturers. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 63, 167-178. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2016.10.011
- Hammad, W., & Hallinger, P. (2017). A systematic review of conceptual models and methods used in research on education leadership and management in Arab societies. *School Leadership & Management*, 37, 434-456. doi:10.1080/13632434.2017.1366441

- Hammersley, M. (2015). On ethical principles for social research. *International Journal* of Social Research Methodology, 18, 433-449. doi:10.1080/
- Hancock, M. E., Amankwaa, L., Revell, M. A., & Mueller, D. (2016). Focus group data saturation: A new approach to data analysis. *Qualitative Report*, 21, 2124-2130. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Hannes, K., Heyvaert, M., Slegers, K., Vandenbrande, S., & Van Nuland, M. (2015).

 Exploring the potential for a consolidated standard for reporting guidelines for qualitative research: An argument delphi approach. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 14, 1-16. doi:10.1177/1609406915611528
- Harvey, L. (2015) Beyond member-checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 38, 23-38. doi:10.1080/1743727X.2014.914487
- He, T., Ho, W., Zhang, Y., & Dey, P. K. (2016). Organising the business processes of a product servitised supply chain: A value perspective. *Production Planning & Control*, 27, 378-393. doi:10.1080/09537287.2015.1128571
- Helms, T. (2016). Asset transformation and the challenges to servitize a utility business. *Energy Policy*, 91, 98-112. doi:10.1016/j.enpol.2015.12.046
- Hoover, S. M., Strapp, C. M., Ito, A., Foster, K., & Roth, K. (2018). Teaching qualitative research interviewer skills: A developmental framework for social justice psychological research teams. *Qualitative Psychology*, *5*, 300-318. doi:10.1037/qup0000101

- Huikkola, T., Kohtamaki, M., & Rabetino, R. (2016). Resource realignment in servitization. *Research Technology Management*, *59*(4), 30-39. doi:10.1080/08956308.2016.1185341
- Iacono, V. L., Symonds, P., & Brown, D. H. K. (2016). Skype as a tool for qualitative research interviews. *Sociological Research Online*, 21(2), 1-15. doi:10.5153/sro.3952
- Idri, N. (2015). Zotero software: A means of bibliographic research and data organisation; Teaching bibliographic research [Special issue]. *Arab World English Journal*, 124-133. Retrieved from www.awej.org
- Ikeda, K., & Marshall, A. (2016). How successful organizations drive innovation. Strategy & Leadership, 44(3), 9-19. doi:10.1108/SL-04-2016-0029
- Ivanova-Gongne, M., Koporcic, N., Dziubaniuk, O., & Mandjak, T. (2018). Collecting rich qualitative data on business relationships and networks in CEE countries:

 Challenges and plausible solutions. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 70, 193-204. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.07.007
- Jaaron, A. A. M., & Backhouse, C. J. (2017). Operationalisation of service innovation: A systems thinking approach. *Service Industries Journal*, *38*, 561-583. doi:10.1080/02642069.2017.1411480
- Jia, Y., Tian, Y., Yang, Y., Sun, H., & Malik, S. A. (2016). The relationship between servitization improvements and business performance of manufacturing companies: A strategic fit perspective. *International Journal of u- and e-Service, Science and Technology*, *9*, 117-134. doi:10.14257/ijunesst.2016.9.5.11

- Kafetzopoulos, D., Gotzamani, K., & Gkana, V. (2015). Relationship between quality management, innovation and competitiveness: Evidence from Greek companies.

 Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 26, 1177-1200.

 doi:10.1108/JMTM=02=2015-0007
- Kanninen, T., Penttinen, E., Tinnila, M., & Kaario, K. (2017). Exploring the dynamic capabilities required for servitization: The case process industry. *Business Process Management Journal*, 23, 226-247. doi:10.1108/BPMJ-03-2015-0036
- Kaye, J., Whitley, E. A., Lund, D., Morrison, M., Teare, H., & Melham, K. (2015).
 Dynamic consent: A patient interface for twenty-first century research networks.
 European Journal of Human Genetics, 23, 141-146. doi:10.1038/ejhg.2014.71
- Kim, Y., Lee, H., & Kim, J. (2015). A servitization process for small and medium-sized manufacturers. *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, 3, 180-186. doi:10.4236/jss.2015.37029
- Kowalkowski, C., Windahl, C., Kindstrom, D., & Gebauer, H. (2015). What service transition? Rethinking established assumptions about manufacturers' service-led growth strategies. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 45, 59-69. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.016
- Korngiebel, D. M., Taualii, M., Forquera, R., Harris, R., & Buchwald, D. (2015).

 Addressing the challenges of research with small populations. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105, 1744-1747. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302783

- Kreye, M. E. (2017). Can you put too much on your plate? Uncertainty exposure in servitized triads. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 37, 1722-1740. doi:10.1108/IJOPM-06-2016-0357
- Kuijken, B., Gemser, G., & Wijnberg, N. M. (2017). Effective product-service systems: A value-based framework. *International Marketing Management*, 60, 33-41. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2016.04.013
- Kuula, M., Putkiranta, A., & Tulokas, P. (2016). Opportunities in role specialization through location in public sector services. *International Journal of Public Administration*, 39, 505-514. doi:10.1080/01900692.2015.1028635
- Lee, S., Yoo, S., & Kim, D. (2016). When is servitization a profitable competitive strategy? *International Journal of Production Economics*, *173*, 43-53. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2015.12.003
- Lenka, S., Parida, V., Sjodin, D. R., & Wincent, J. (2018). Towards a multi-level servitization framework: Conceptualizing ambivalence in manufacturing firms.

 International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 38, 810-827.

 doi:10.1108/IJOPM-09-2016-0542
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research. *Journal of Family Medicine & Primary Care*, 4, 324-327. doi:10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Levitt, H. M., Motulsky, S. L., Wertz, F. J., Morrow, S. L., & Ponterotto, J. G. (2017).

 Recommendations for designing and reviewing qualitative research in psychology: Promoting methodological integrity. *Qualitative Psychology*, 4, 2-22.

- doi:10.1037/qup0000082
- Li, J. H., Lin, L., Chen, D. P., & Ma, L. Y. (2015). An empirical study of servitization paradox in China. *Journal of High Technology Management Research*, 26, 66-76. doi:10.1016/j.hitech.2015.04.007
- Liao, Y., Deschamps, F., Loures, E. F. R., & Ramos, L. F. P. (2017). Past, present and future of industry 4.0: A systematic literature review and research agenda proposal. *International Journal of Production Research*, 55, 3609-3629. doi:10.1080/00207543.2017.1208576
- Lichterman, P. (2017). Interpretive reflexivity in ethnography. *Ethnography*, *18*, 35-45. doi:10.1177/1466138115592418
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry* (Vol. 75). London, England: Sage Publications.
- Lutjen, H., Tietze, F., & Schultz, C. (2017). Service transitions of product-centric firms:

 An explorative study of service transition stages and barriers in Germany's energy market. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 19, 106-119.

 doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2017.03.021
- Mahut, F., Daaboul, J., Bricogne, M., & Eynard, B. (2017). Product-service systems for servitization of the automotive industry: A literature review. *International Journal of Production Research*, 55, 2102-2120. doi:10.1080/00207543.2016.1252864
- Mandal, P. C. (2018). Qualitative research: Criteria of evaluation. *International Journal* of Academic Research and Development, 3(2), 591-596. doi:10.22271/academic

- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Martinez, V., Neely, A., Velu, C., Leinster-Evans, S., & Bisessar, D. (2017). Exploring the journey to services. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 192, 66-80. doi:10.1016/j.ipe.2016.12.030
- Martin-Rios, C., & Parga-Dans, E. (2016). Service response to economic decline:

 Innovation actions for achieving strategic renewal. *Journal of Business Research*,

 69, 2890-2900. doi:10.1016/j.busres.2015.12.058
- May, G., Barletta, I., Stahl, B., & Taisch, M. (2015). Energy management in production:

 A novel method to develop key performance indicators for improving energy efficiency. *Applied Energy*, *149*, 46-61. doi:10.1016/j.apenergy.2015.03.065
- Mayoh, J., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2015). Toward a conceptualization of mixed methods phenomenological research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, *9*, 91-107. doi:10.1177/1558689813505358
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, *30*, 537-542. doi:10.1177/0267659114559116
- Miles, I. (1993). Services in the new industrial economy. *Futures*, *25*, 653-672. doi:10.1016/0016-3287(93)90106-4

- Mintzberg, H. (1978). The strategy concept I: Five Ps for strategy. *California Management Review*, 30, 11-24. doi:10.2307/41165263
- Moore, T., McKee, K., & McLoughlin, P. (2015). Online focus groups and qualitative research in the social sciences: Their merits and limitations in a study of housing and youth. *People, Place, and Policy*, *9*, 17-28. doi:10.3351/ppp.0009.0001.0002
- Morgan, S. J., Pullon, S. R. H., Macdonald, L. M., McKinlay, E. M., & Gray, B. V.
 (2017). Case study observational research: A framework for conducting case study research where observation data are the focus. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27, 1060-1068. doi:10.1177/1049732316649160
- Morse, J. (2015a). "Data were saturated..." *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 587-588. doi:10.1177/1049732315576699
- Morse, J. (2015b). Qualitative health research: One quarter of a century. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 3-4. doi:10.1177/1049732314561207
- Morse, J. M. (2015c). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 1212-1222.

 doi:10.1177/1049732315588501
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Napolitano, M. R., Marino, V., & Ojala, J. (2015). In search of an integrated framework of business longevity. *Business History*, *57*, 955-969. doi:10.1080/00076791.2014.993613

- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and
 Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and*guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research. Washington, DC:
 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from
 hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/Belmont.html
- Nelson, J. (2017). Using conceptual depth criteria: Addressing the challenge of reaching saturation in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, *17*, 554-570. doi:10.1177/1468794116679873
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 18(2). 34-35. doi:10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Noon, E. J., & Hallam, S. (2018). Interpretive phenomenological analysis: An appropriate methodology for education research. *Journal of Perspectives in Applied Academic Practice*, 6, 75-83. doi:10.14297/jpaap.v6i1.304
- Nordstrom, S. N. (2015). Not so innocent anymore: Making recording devices matter in qualitative interviews. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 21, 388-401. doi:10.1177/1077800414563804
- Oates, J. (2015). Use of Skype in interviews: The impact of the medium in a study of mental health nurses. *Nurse Researcher*, 22(4), 13-17. doi:10.7748/nr.22.4.13.e1318

- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Weinbaum, R. K. (2017). A framework for using qualitative comparative analysis for the review of literature. *Qualitative Report*, 22, 359-372. Retrieved from www.nova.edu/tqr
- Opalka-Bentler, M. (2016). Retention of Direct Care Professionals Supporting

 Intellectually Disabled Individuals (Doctoral dissertation). Available from

 ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UNI No. 10134098)
- Opresnik, D., & Taisch, M. (2015). The value of big data in servitization. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 165, 174-184. doi:10.1016/j.ipe.2014.12.036
- Ostrom, A. L., Parasuraman, A., Bowen, D. E., Patricio, L., & Voss, C. A. (2015).

 Service research priorities in a rapidly changing context. *Journal of Service Research*, *18*, 127-159. doi:10.1177/1094670515576315
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 533-544. doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Paulus, T. M., & Bennett, A. M. (2017). 'I have a love-hate relationship with ATLAS.it':

 Integrating qualitative data analysis software into a graduate research methods

 course. *International Journal of Research and Method in Education*, 40, 19-35.

 doi:10.1080/1743727X.2015.1056137
- Palinkas, L. A., Bazzi, A. R., Syvertsen, J. L., Ulibarn, M. D., Hernandez, D., Rangel, M. G., ... Strathdee, S. A. (2016). Measuring current drug use in female sex workers

- and their noncommercial male partners in Mexico: Concordance between data collection from surveys versus semi-structured interviews. *Substance Use & Misuse*, *51*, 1-11. doi:10.3109/10826084.2015.1073326
- Park, N. K., Chun, M. Y., & Lee, J. (2016). Revisiting individual creativity assessment:

 Triangulation in subjective and objective assessment methods. *Creativity*Research Journal, 28, 1-10. doi:10.1080/10400419.2016.1125259
- Parikh, Y., Mason, M., & Williams, K. (2016). Researchers' perspectives on pediatric obesity research participant recruitment. *Clinical and Translational Medicine*, 5(20), 1-9. doi:10.1186/s40169-016-0099-0
- Patricio, L., Gustafsson, A., & Fisk, R. (2018). Upframing service design and innovation for research impact. *Journal of Service Research*, 21, 3-16. doi:10.1177/1094670517746780
- Peillon, S., Pellegrin, C., & Burlat, P. (2015). Exploring the servitization path: A conceptual framework and a cases study from the capital goods industry. *Product Planning & Control*, 26, 1264-1277. doi:10.1080/095372287.2015.1033492
- Peters, C., Blohm, I., & Leimeister, J. M. (2015). Anatomy of successful business models for complex services: Insights from the telemedicine field. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 32(3), 75-104. doi:10.1080/07421222.2015.1095034

- Petty, N. J., Thomson, O. P., & Stew, G. (2012). Ready for a paradigm? Part 2:

 Introducing qualitative research methodologies and methods. *Manual Therapy*,

 17, 378-384. doi:10.1016/j.math.2012.03.004
- Popa, D., & Miricescu, D. (2015). Identification of strategic actions and types of strategies adopted in SMEs from SIBIU County. *Review of Management & Economic Engineering*, 14, 279-296. Retrieved from http://www.rmee.org/
- Porter, M. E. (1991). Towards a dynamic theory of strategy. *Strategic Management Journal*, 1295-117. doi:10.1002/smj.4250121008
- Prajogo, D. I. (2016). The strategic fit between innovation strategies and business environment in delivering business performance. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 171, 241-249. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2015.07.037
- Price, J. H., & Murnan, J. (2004). Research limitations and the necessity of reporting them. *American Journal of Health Education*, *35*, 66-67. doi:10.1080/19325037.2004.10603611
- Prindible, M., & Petrick, I. (2015). Learning the building blocks of service innovation from SMEs. *Research Technology Management*, *58*(5), 61-63. doi:10.5437/08956308X5805008
- Rabetino, R., Harmsen, W., Kohtamaki, M., & Sihvonen, J. (2018). Structuring servitization-related research. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 38, 350-371. doi:10.1108/IJOPM
- Rabetino, R., Kohtamaki, M., & Gebauer, H. (2017). Strategy map of servitization.

 International Journal of Productions Economics, 192, 144-156.

- doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2016.11.004
- Raddats, C., Burton, J., & Ashman, R. (2015). Resource configurations for services success in manufacturing companies. *Journal of Service Management*, 26, 97-116. doi:10.1108/JOSM-122-2012-0278
- Raddats, C., Zolkiewshi, J., Story, V. M., Burton, J., Baines, T., & Bigdeli, A. Z. (2017).
 Interactively developed capabilities: Evidence from dyadic servitization
 relationships. *International Journal of Operations and Production Management*,
 37, 382-400. doi:10.1108/IJOPM-08-2015-0512
- Raja, J. Z., Chakkol, M., Johnson, M., & Beltagui, A. (2018). Organizing for servitization: Examining front-and back-end design configurations. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 38, 249-271. doi:10.1108/IJOPM-03-2016-0139
- Rapaccini, M., & Visintin, F. (2015). Devising hybrid solutions: An exploratory framework. *Production Planning & Control the Management of Operations*, 26, 654-672. doi:10.1080/09537287.2014.961106
- Rau, C., Zbiek, A., & Jonas, J. M. (2017). Creating competitive advantage from services:
 A design thinking case study from the commodities industry. *Research Technology Management*, 60, 48-56. doi:10.1080/08956308.2017.1301003
- Resnik, D. B. (2015). Bioethical issues in providing financial incentives to research participants. *Medicolegal and Bioethical*, *5*, 35-41. doi:10.2147/MB.S70416
- van Rijnsoever, F. J. (2017). (I can't get no) saturation: A simulation and guidelines for sample sizes in qualitative research. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(7), 1-17.

- doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0181689
- Rocchi, M., Beaudry, S. G., Anderson, C., & Pelletier, L. G. (2016). The perspective of undergraduate research participant pool nonparticipants. *Teaching of Psychology*, 43, 285-293. doi:10.1177/0098628316662756
- Rosenthal, M. (2016). Qualitative research methods: Why, when, and how to conduct interviews and focus groups in pharmacy research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching & Learning*, 8, 509-516. doi:10.1016/j.cptl.2016.03.021
- Roulston, K., & Shelton, S. A. (2015). Reconceptualizing bias in teaching qualitative research methods. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *21*, 332-342. doi:10.1177/1077800414563803
- Roy, K., Zvonkovic, A., Goldberg, A., Sharp, E., & LaRossa, R. (2015). Sampling richness and qualitative integrity: Challenges for research with families. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 77(1), 243-260. doi:10.1111/jomf.12147
- Sakyi-Gyinae, K., & Holmlund, M. (2018). What do business customers value? An empirical study of value propositions in a servitization context. *Technology Innovation Management Review*, 8(5), 36-43. Retrieved from www.timreview.ca
- Saul, C. J., & Gebauer, H. (2018). Born solution providers: Dynamic capabilities for providing solutions. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 73, 31-46. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2018.01.007
- Sayar, D., & Er, O. (2018). The antecedents of successful IoT service and system design:

 Cases from the manufacturing industry. *International Journal of Design*, 12, 6778. Retrieved from www.ijdesign.org

- Schuckert, M., Kim, T. T., Paek, S., & Lee, G. (2018). Motivate to innovate: How authentic and transformational leaders influence employees' psychological capital and service innovation behavior. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 30, 776-796. doi:10.1108/IJCHM-05-2016-0282
- Shannon-Baker, P. (2016). Making paradigms meaningful in mixed methods research.

 Journal of Mixed Methods Research, 10, 319-334.

 doi:10.1177/1558689815575861
- Shapka, J. D., Domene, J. F., Khan, S., & Yang, L. M. (2016). Online versus in-person interviews with adolescents: An exploration of data equivalence. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 58, 361-367. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2016.01.016
- Sinha, N., & Srivastava, K. B. L. (2016). Perceived innovation championing strategies in intrapreneurial orientation: The role of social cultural context. *Journal of Management Research*, *16*, 77-86. Retrieved from http://www.fms.edu
- Smith, B., & McGannon, K. R. (2018). Developing rigor in qualitative research:
 Problems and opportunities within sport and exercise psychology. *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 11, 101-121.
 doi:10.1080/1750984X.2017.1317357
- Spring, M., & Araujo, L. (2017). Product biographies in servitization and the circular economy. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 60, 126-137. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2016.07.001
- Sorsa, M., Kiikkala, I., & Astedt-Kurki, P. (2015). Bracketing as a skill in conducting unstructured qualitative interviews. *Nurse Researcher*, 22(4), 8-12.

- doi:10.7748/nr.22.4.8.e1317
- Stock, R. M., Jong, A., & Zacharias, N. A. (2017). Frontline employees' innovative service behavior as key to customer loyalty: Insights into FLE's resource gain spiral. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, *34*, 223-245. doi:10.1111/jpim.12338
- Story, V. M., Raddats, C., Burton, J., Zolkiewski, J., & Baines, T. (2017). Capabilities for advanced services: A multi-actor perspective. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 60, 54-68. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2016.04.015
- Strong, D., Sirichakwal, I., Manoghran, G. P., & Wakefield, T. (2017). Current state and potential of additive hybrid manufacturing for metal parts. *Rapid Prototyping Journal*, 23, Advance online publication. doi:10.1108/RPJ-04-2016-0065
- Strydom, J. W. (2017). Longevity of SMMEs in Soweto: Does marketing play a role?

 African Journal of Science, Technology, Innovation and Development, 9, 685-695. doi:10.1080/20421338.2017.1355603
- Sundbo, J. (1997). Management of innovation in service. *Service Industries Journal*, *17*, 432-455. doi:10.1080/02642069700000028
- Szasz, L., Demeter, K., Boer, H., & Cheng, Y. (2017). Servitization of manufacturing:

 The effect of economic context. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 28, 1011-1034. doi:10.1108/JMTM-11-2016-0166
- Tamayo-Torres, I., Gutiérrez -Gutiérrez, L. J., Llorens-Montes, F. J., & Martinez-Lopez,
 F. J. (2016). Organizational learning and innovation as sources of strategic fit.
 Industrial Management & Data Systems, 116, 1445-1467. doi:10.1108/IMDS-12-

- Tantau, A., Chinie, A., & Carlea, F. (2015). Corporate entrepreneurship and innovation in the renewable energy field. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 22, 353-362. doi:10.1016/S2212-5671(15)00302-0
- Ting, C. (2015). Business contingency, strategy formation, and firm performance: An empirical study of Chinese apparel SMEs. Administrative Sciences, 5, 27-45. doi:10.3390/admsci5020027
- Tran, T., & Park, J. Y. (2016). Development of a novel set of criteria to select methodology for designing product service systems. *Journal of Computational Design and Engineering*, *3*, 112-120. doi:10.1016/j.jcde.2015.10.001
- Tran, V. T., Porcher, R., Falissard, B., & Ravaud, P. (2016). Point of data saturation was assessed using resampling methods in a survey with open-ended questions.

 **Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 80, 88-96. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.07.014*
- Trkman, P., Mertens, W., Viaene, S., & Gemmel, P. (2015). From business process management to customer process management. *Business Process Management Journal*, 21, 250-266. doi:10.1108/BPMJ-02-2014-0010
- Tufford, L., & Newman, P. (2012). Bracketing in qualitative research. *Qualitative Social Work, 11(1),* 80-96. doi:10.1177/1473325010368316
- Tunisini, A., & Sebastiani, R. (2015). Innovative and networked business functions:

 Customer-driven procurement. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 30, 302-311. doi:10.1108/JBIM-06-2014-0118
- Twining, P., Heller, R. S., Nussbaum, M., & Tsai, C.-C. (2017). Some guidance on

- conducting and reporting qualitative studies. *Computers & Education*, 106, A1-A9. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2016.12.002
- U.S. Census Bureau (2017). North American Industry Classification System. Washington,DC. Retrieved from website www.census.gov
- U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (2015). Business employment dynamics: Research data on business employment dynamics by age and size.

 Washington, DC. Retrieved from www.bls.gov
- Vaittinen, E., Martinsuo, M., & Ortt, R. (2018). Business customers' readiness to adopt manufacturer's new services. *Journal of Service Theory and Practice*, 28, 52-78. doi:10.1108/JSTP-03-2017-0053
- Valtakoski, A. (2017). Explaining servitization failure and deservitization: A knowledge-based perspective. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 60, 128-150. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2016.04.009
- Valtakoski, A., & Jarvi, K. (2016). Productization of knowledge-intensive services:

 Enabling knowledge sharing and cross-unit collaboration. *Journal of Service Management*, 27, 360-390. doi:10.1108/JOSM-01-2015-0004
- Vargo, S. L., Wieland, H., & Akaka, M. A. (2015). Innovation through institutionalization: A service ecosystems perspective. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 44(1), 63-72. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2014.10.008
- Varpio, L., Ajjawi, R., Monrouxe, L. V., O'Brien, B. C., & Rees, C. E. (2017). Shedding the cobra effect: Problematising thematic emergence, triangulation, saturation and member checking. *Medical Education*, *51*, 40-50. doi:10.1111/medu.13124

- Venkatesh, R., & Singhal, T. K. (2017). Business model innovation approaches for managed business services: A research perspective. *Indian Journal of Science and Technology*, 10(8), 1-9. doi:10.17485/ijst/2017/v10i8/109851
- Vernon, R. (1979). The product cycle hypothesis in a new international environment. *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics*, 41, 255-267. doi:10.1111/j.1468-0084.1979.mp41004002.x
- Waldron, A. L., & Ebbeck, V. (2015). Developing wildland firefighters' performance capacity through awareness-based processes: A qualitative investigation. *Journal* of Human Performance in Extreme Environments, 12, 1-13. doi:10.7771/2327-2937.1059
- Walden University. (2016). Research Ethics & Compliance: Guides and FAQs. Retrieved from http://academicguides.waldenu.edu/researchcenter/orec/guides
- Wallace, M., & Sheldon, N. (2015). Business research ethics: Participant observer perspectives. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 128, 267-277. doi:10.1007/s10551-014-2102-2
- Walther, J., Sochacka, N. W., Benson, L. C., Bumbaco, A. E., Kellam, N., Pawley, A. L., & Phillips, L. C. (2017). Qualitative research quality: A collaborative inquiry across multiple methodological perspectives. *Journal of Engineering Education*, 106, 398-430. doi:10.1002/jee.20170
- Wan, S., Li, D., Gao, J., Roy, R., & Tong, Y. (2017). Process and knowledge management in collaborative maintenance planning system for high value machine tools. *Computers in Industry*, 84, 14-24.

- doi:10.1016/j.compind.2016.11.002
- Wang, D., Ma, G., Song, X., & Liu, Y. (2017). Energy price slump and policy response in the coal-chemical industry district: A case study of Ordos with a system dynamics model. *Energy Policy*, *104*, 325-339. doi:10.1016/j.enpol.2017.02.014
- Wang, Y., Lee, J. S., Agbemabiese, L., Zame, K., & Kang, S. (2015). Virtual water management and the water–energy nexus: A case study of three mid-Atlantic states. *Resources, Conservation & Recycling*, 98, 76-84. doi:10.1016/j.resconrec.2015.01.005
- Ward, K., Gott, M., & Hoare, K. (2015). Participants' views of telephone interviews within a grounded theory study. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 71, 2775-2785. doi:10.1111/jan.12748
- Weeks, R., & Benade, S. (2015). The development of a generic servitization systems framework. *Technology in Society*, *43*, 97-104. doi:10.1016/j.techsoc.2015.09.003
- Weller, S. (2017). Using internet video calls in qualitative (longitudinal) interviews:

 Some implications for rapport. *International Journal of Social Research*Methodology, 20, 613-615. doi:10.1080/13645579.2016.1269505
- Weng, C. (2015). Optimizing clinical research participant selection with informatics.

 *Trends Pharmacological Sciences, 36, 706-709. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2015.08.007
- Wernerfelt, B. (1984). A resource-based view of the firm. *Strategic Management Journal*, 5, 171-180. doi:10.1002/smj.4250050207
- Wilson, A. D., Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Manning, L. (2016). Using paired depth interviews to collect qualitative data. *Qualitative Report*, 1549-1573. Retrieved from

- http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Windler, K., Juttner, U., Michel, S., Maklan, S., & Macdonald, E. K. (2017). Identifying the right solution customers: A managerial methodology. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 60, 173-186. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2016.03.004
- Woods, M., Macklin, R., & Lewis, G. K. (2016). Researcher reflexivity: Exploring the impacts of CAQDAS use. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 19, 385-403. doi:10.1080/13645579.2015.1023964
- Woods, M., Paulus, T., Atkins, D. P., & Macklin, R. (2016). Advancing qualitative research using qualitative data analysis software (QDAS)? Reviewing potential versus practice in published studies using Atlas.ti and NVivo, 1994-2013. *Social Science Computer Review*, 34, 597-617. doi:10.1177/10894439315596311
- Wu, Y., Lee, J.-H., Kim, Y. S., Lee, S. W., Kim, S.-J., & Yuan, X. (2017). A similarity measurement framework of product-service system design cases based on context activity model. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 104, 68-79. doi:10.1016/j.cie.2016.12.015
- Wu, L.-C., & Wu, L.-H. (2015). Improving the global supply chain through service engineering: A services science, management, and engineering-based framework. *Asia Pacific Management Review*, 20, 24-31. doi:10.1016/j.apmrv.2014.12.002
- Yanchar, S. C. (2015). Truth and disclosure in qualitative research: Implications of hermeneutic realism. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 12, 107-124. doi:10.1080/14780887.2014.933460

- Yang, L., & Hou, J. W. (2015). Have imported producer services improved manufacturing in Shanghai? *Proceedings of the Faculty of Economics in East Sarajevo*, 11, 11-26. doi:10.7251/ZREFIS1511011Y
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research: Design and methods* (6th ed.). London, England: Sage Publications.
- You, S.-Y., & You, Y.-Y. (2016). Effects of perceived quality individuality on brand image and customer buying behavior- Focus on servitization of manufacturing industry. *Indian Journal of Science and Technology*, 9(41), 1-7. doi:10.17485/ijst/2016/v9i41/103838
- Zhang, W., & Banerji, S. (2017). Challenges of servitization: A systematic literature review. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 65, 217-227. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.06.003
- Zhang, Y., Ren, S., Liu, Y., & Si, S. (2017). A big data analytics architecture for cleaner manufacturing and maintenance processes of complex products. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *142*, 626-641. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.07.123.

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

				ata	

Location:	
Participant: _	
Date/Time: _	

Name of Study:

Effective Manufacturers' Strategies for Service Innovations

Conduct the Interview

The interview will be 90 minutes maximum and recorded:

- 1. Introduction (5 minutes)
 - Thank the manufacturing manager for allowing the interview today.
 - Introductions
 - Main Research Question: What effective service-based innovation strategies do manufacturing managers, offering business services, use to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years?
- 2. Informed Consent (Provide consent form to potential participant (15 minutes))
 - Key points (brief to the potential participant):

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study is to explore effective service-based innovation strategies manufacturing managers offering business services, use to sustain their businesses beyond 5 years. The target population for this study is manufacturing managers offering business services, from three petroleum and coal manufacturing companies, who have sustained their business in the mid-Atlantic region

of the United States longer than 5 years. The implication for positive social change includes the potential to provide manufacturing managers with effective strategies to increase the longevity of business operations, and thereby positively affecting the socioeconomic conditions of communities relying on manufacturing. Other manufacturing managers may be able to use the findings this study to achieve sustainable employment opportunities and affect the overall economic benefits of residents of local communities.

- I will share how manufacturing managers use service-based innovation to create a competitive advantage. Sharing these experiences may lead to an increase sustainment rate of businesses and positively contribute to increasing economic success of residents of the mid-Atlantic region of the United States, such as through sustainment employment security.
- This study is voluntary. Any participant may stop at any time without any retribution.
 - All information provided by participants is confidential.
- I will not use your personal information for any purposes outside of this research project.
- You must make an informed and conscious decision to consent to participate or decline participation in this study.
- I will maintain your privacy and identity of the organization confidential by assigning a tracking code number, which will not include any personal information nor easily identifiable information from your participation in the study. I will not disclose

your identity nor the identity of the organization by replacing any easily identifiable information with the tracking code number or completely removing the easily identifiable information from this study.

- I will maintain participant's data secure, backed up, and password protected electronically within my computer and external removable storage device. I will lock the external removable storage device in a safe in a building monitored by a security system.
 - I will keep participant's data for 5 years, and then destroy it.
 - Do you have any questions regarding the informed consent form?
- Please, sign the consent form, if you do not have any further questions and wish to continue to participate.
 - Interview Rules:
 - o You may defer any question to answer later.
 - o Your honest answers are important in defining your business experiences.
 - Your responses are important and respected.
 - o Please remember everything said during the interview is confidential.
 - o May I have your permission to record the session at this time?
 - Any questions, before we begin?
 - I will start the recording now. <u>Start the recording!</u>
 - 3. Interview Questions: (45 Minutes)
 - Opening interview questions
 - Key study questions
 - Probing questions

- Concluding questions
- 4. Interview Wrap-Up (5 Minutes)
- Remember the information shared today may create positive social change,
 through responsible strategy to sustain, which others can use to promote values and
 positive social change.
 - Your identity and interview responses will remain confidential.
- Please, contact Walden University IRB, IRB email listed on the consent form, for any questions or concerns.

Thank you for allowing me the opportunity to conduct this interview, I will provide you analysis of the data for you to check to ensure I understand the meaning of the data collected.

Appendix B: Interview Questions

Opening Questions (to ask on the website):

- 1. What is the name of your business?
- 2. In what type of industry is your business?
- 3. How long has your business you are considering discussing in this study?
- 4. Do you offer services, as well as manufacture products?
- 5. How would you describe the performance of your business?

Opening Questions (in person)

- 1. How did you start your business?
- 2. How did you develop the name of your business?

Key Study Questions

- 1. What service-based innovation strategies did you use to create a competitive advantage over your competitors with your service offerings?
- 2. How did you use service-based innovation strategies to offer business services to customers?
- 3. What guidance did you provide stakeholders to implement and control service-based innovation strategies?
- 4. How did you use resources to implement service-based innovation strategies?
- 5. What market conditions challenges did you overcome to implement service-based innovation strategies?
- 6. How did you organize your business to generate service-based innovations you use to sustain your business?

- 7. How did you assess the effectiveness of the service-based innovation strategies you used?
- 8. What other experiences about service-based innovation strategies would you like to share?

Concluding Questions

- 1. Can you provide a copy of your strategic business plans, financial data, or publicly available capabilities statements or websites?
- 2. Is there anything you would like to add?
- 3. Should I ask any other questions?

Probing Questions

- 1. Can you give an example of what you mean?
- 2. Could you tell more about it?
- 3. Could you explain your answer?
- 4. How did you determine it to be successful or unsuccessful?
- 5. How did you find out about it?